DESIGNANDCHARACTERIZATIONOFPOLYSACCHARIDE-BASEDNON-VIRALCARRIERSAIMINGATGENETRANSFECTIONANDGENERING FOR CELL THERAPYCC

JUN-ICHIRO JO

CONTENTS

	Page
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
REFERENCES	9

PART 1 EFFECT OF PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF CATIONIZED POLYSACCHARIDES AND TRANSFECTION CULTURE METHOD ON THE LEVEL OF GENE EXPRESSION

Chapter 1. Effect of polysaccharides type on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION 2
EXPERIMENTAL 22
Materials
Preparation of cationized polysaccharide derivatives
Preparation of plasmid DNA
Preparation of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes
Electrophoresis measurement spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes
DLS and ELS measurements
Lectin-induced aggregation of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes
Cell culture
In vitro gene transfection experiment
Evaluation of plasmid DNA internalization
Microscopic observation of intracellular localization
Statistical Analysis
RESULTS 28
Characterization of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes
In vitro gene transfection of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes
DISCUSSION 35
REFERENCES 37

Chapter 2. Effect of amine compounds introduced to dextran on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION	41
EXPERIMENTAL	41
Materials	
Preparation of cationized dextran derivatives	

Preparation of plasmid DNA Acid-base titration of cationized dextran Preparation of polyion complexes Electrophoresis of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes DLS and ELS measurements of PIC Ethidium bromide intercalation assay In vitro gene transfection experiment Evaluation of plasmid DNA internalization Cell viability Statistical Analysis

RESULTS	46
Characterization of cationized dextrans	
Characterization of cationized dextran -plasmid DNA complexes	
In vitro gene transfection of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes	
DISCUSSION	51
REFERENCES	54

Chapter 3. Effect of pullulan molecular weight on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION	55
EXPERIMENTAL	56
Materials	
Preparation of cationized pullulan derivatives	
Preparation of plasmid DNA	
Preparation of polyion complexes	
Electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
Characterization of PIC by DLS and ELS	
Ethidium bromide intercalation assay	
Lectin-induced aggregation of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
In vitro gene transfection experiment	
Cell viability	
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS	60
Cationization of pullulan	
Characterization of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
In vitro gene transfection of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
Cytotoxicity of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
DISCUSSION	66

REFERENCES

Chapter 4. Effect of the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION	73
EXPERIMENTAL	73
Materials	
Preparation of cationized pullulan derivatives	
Preparation of plasmid DNA	
Preparation of polyion complexes	
Turbidity measurement for spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
Electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
Characterization of PIC by DLS and ELS	
Ethidium bromide intercalation assay	
Lectin-induced aggregation of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
In vitro gene transfection experiment	
Cell viability	
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS	78
Cationization of pullulan	
Characterization of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
In vitro gene transfection of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
Cytotoxicity of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes	
DISCUSSION	87
REFERENCES	92
Chapter 5. Effect of transfection culture methods on the level of gene expression	
INTRODUCTION	95
EXPERIMENTAL	96
Materials	
Preparation of cationized pullulan derivative	
Preparation of plasmid DNA	
Preparation of polyion complexes	
Preparation and culture of MSC	
Conventional transfection of two dimension in the static method	

Reverse transfection of two dimension in the static method

Reverse transfection of three dimension by different culture methods

iii

PART 2 ENHANCED IN VIVO THERAPEUTIC EFFICACY OF CELLS GENETICALLY ENGINEERED BY CATIONIZED POLYSACCHARIDE-PLASMID DNA COMPLEXES

Chapter 6. Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells genetically engineered by cationized dextran-adrenomedullin plasmid DNA complexes for acute myocardial infarction

INTRODUCTION	113
EXPERIMENTAL	114
MSC Culture	
Preparation of Cationized Dextran and Plasmid DNA	
RT-PCR Analysis	
Ex Vivo Gene Transfection of MSC	
Animal Model	
Therapeutic Transplantation of Genetically Engineered MSC	
Echocardiographic Studies	
Hemodynamic Studies	
Histological Examination	
TUNEL Staining	
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS	120
Gene Expression of MSC by the Spermine-dextran of Non-Vi	ral Carrier
Antiapoptotic Effect of MSC Transfected with the Spermine-	Dextran-AM Plasmid
DNA Complex	
Angiogenesis and Myogenesis Induced by AM-MSC	
Therapeutic Effects of AM-MSC on Myocardial Infarction	
DISCUSSION	126
REFERENCES	129

Chapter 7. Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of macrophages genetically engineered by cationized dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes for tumor

INTRODUCTION 133
EXPERIMENTAL 134
Materials
Preparation of cationized dextran derivative
Preparation of plasmid DNA
Preparation of polyion complexes
Preparation and culture of $M\phi$
Conventional gene transfection
Reverse gene transfection
Assay of gene expression
Microscopic observation of intracellular localization
In vitro anti-tumor activity of $M\phi$ genetically engineered
In vivo therapeutic assay of M genetically engineered
Statistical Analysis
RESULTS 13
Gene expression by spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes
In vitro anti-tumor properties of Mø genetically engineered b spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes
In vivo anti-tumor activities of $M\phi$ genetically engineered by the revers transfection method with spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes
DISCUSSION 144
REFERENCES 146
Chapter 8. Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of dendritic cells genetically engineered b

cationized dextran-interleukin 12 plasmid DNA complexes for tumor

EXPERIMENTAL 15
Materials
Preparation of cationized dextran derivatives
Preparation of plasmid DNA
Preparation of polyion complexes
Preparation and culture of DC
Conventional gene transfection
Reverse gene transfection

Assay of gene expression	
Evaluation of plasmid DNA internalization into cells	
Microscopic observation of intracellular localization	
Cell Viability	
Evaluation of anti-tumor effect	
In vitro cytokine release assays	
Measurement of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) activity	
Evaluation of in vivo tumor immunity	
Statistical analysis	
RESULTS	159
Gene expression by spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes	
Viability of DC transfected by the conventional and reverse methods	
IL-12 expression of DC trasfected by spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid I complex	ONA
In vivo anti-tumor effect of DC genetically engineered spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA by the reverse transfection method	with 1
IFN production and CTL activity of DC genetically engineered spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA by the reverse transfection method	with 1
Evaluation of in vivo tumor immunity	
DISCUSSION	167
REFERENCES	171
SUMMARY	175
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	181

LIST OF TUDLICATIONS	101
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	185

ABBREVIATIONS

αΜΕΜ	α -Minimum essential medium
AM	Adrenomedullin
ASGPR	Asialoglycoprotein receptor
BCA	Bicinchonic acid
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BMC	Bone marrow cells
CDI	N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DC	Dendritic cells
DLS	Dynamic light scattering
DDW	Double-distilled water
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
ELS	Electrophoretic light scattering
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
IFN	Interferon
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma

IL-12	Interleukin-12
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
MEM	Minimal Essential Medium
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells
Μφ	Macrophages
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
PIC	Polyion complexes
RLU	Relative light unit
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
rmGM-CSF	Recombinant mouse-derived granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
TBE	Tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid buffer solution
TUNEL	TdT-mediated dUTP nick-endlabeling
vWF	von Willebrand factor
WST-8	2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H- tetrazolium

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Cell transplantation has been applicable not only to tumor therapy, but also tissue regeneration therapy. For example, natural killer cells, lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells have been clinically applied to the tumor therapy based on the natural immune responses for tumor regression. On the other hand, with recent rapid development of cell biology and medicine regarding tissue regeneration, it has been possible to make use of various progenitor and stem cells with high potentials of proliferation and differentiation ^{1,2} for cell-based tissue regeneration therapy. As one of the most practical and available stem cells, bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) have been noted because they are multipotent adult stem cells readily isolatable from the bone marrow of patients themselves ^{3,4}.

It has been demonstrated that cells themselves have good therapeutic potentials in terms of their inherent targetability to the site injured or biological properties ⁵⁻⁷. However, the therapeutic efficacy of cells transplanted is not always as high as expected, which is one of the largest problems in cell therapy. This is because the grafting rate of cells transplanted is low and consequently the biological functions of cells become low in the body. To tackle the problems, it is indispensable to develop materials, technologies, and methodologies to provide the cells a local environment where the survival and biological functions of cells transplanted can be maintained or enhanced. The therapeutic function of cells in the body cannot always be expected without any environments suitable for cells surviving and functioning. Various approaches have been reported to provide the cell environment ⁸⁻¹³. For example, induction of angiogenesis in advance around the site transplanted permits sufficient supply of nutrients and oxygen to cells transplanted, resulting in the enhanced grafting rate of cells and the improved biological functions ¹⁴⁻¹⁸. Another approach is to genetically engineer cells. Technology and methodology to genetically engineer cells for the functional activation have been developed by using gene materials, such as plasmid DNA, antisence oligonucleotide or small interfering RNA¹⁹⁻²¹. Genetic engineering is effective in not only artificially modifying the biological functions of cells, such as proliferation, differentiation, and therapeutic abilities applicable for

General introduction

cell therapy ²²⁻²⁸, but also developing the basic research of cell biology and medicine which is important to identify and investigate genes regulating the biological function of cells. It is highly expected that the biological functions of cells genetically engineered are therapeutically superior to those of the original ones.

Genetic engineering of cells is fundamentally achieved by the transfection procedure of a gene for the cells. Therefore, it is necessary for successful genetic engineering to develop a material, technology, and methodology for safe and efficient gene transfection. The gene transfection system is generally divided into two categories in terms of gene transfection carrier materials: viral ²⁹⁻³² and non-viral ³³⁻³⁷ systems. For the viral system, the carrier of retrovirus, lentivirus, adenovirus, and adeno-associated virus, has been used to be potentially efficient, although there are several issues to be resolved for the clinical applications, such as the antigenicity and toxicity of virus itself or the possibility of disease transfection. Therefore, efficient technology and methodology of gene transfection without using virus are highly expected.

The non-viral system has several advantages in terms of its safety and no limitation in the molecular size of DNA applied. However, the low transfection efficiency is one major drawback for the research and therapeutic applications. In this circumstance, various experimental trials have been performed to develop the physicochemical and biological properties of non-viral carriers ³⁸⁻⁴¹. Gene in the naked form is a polyanion of phosphate group-repeated chain and has an expanded molecular structure due to the intermolecular repulsion force of negative charge at the physiological pH. Therefore, it is well recognized that the gene cannot interact with the cell membrane negatively charged due to the electrostatic repulsion and consequently hardly be internalized and subsequently transfected. On the basis of these findings, the non-viral carriers of cationized polymers ³⁸ and cationized liposomes ⁴²⁻⁴⁴ have been developed to allow gene to effectively internalize into cells for gene transfection. The cationized materials enable the gene to form a complex with a molecular size and surface charge suitable for the cellular internalization and consequently enhance the complex internalization ³⁷. However, this method is only to increase the non-specific cellular internalization of gene through the simple electrostatic interaction between the complex and cell surface. To enhance the specific cellular internalization of complex by making use of biological interactions, there have been several research trials with ligands specific for cell surface receptors, such as folate ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸, transferrin ⁴⁹⁻⁵¹, mono- or oligosaccharides ⁵²⁻⁵⁷, peptides ⁵⁸⁻⁶², and proteins ⁶³⁻⁶⁶. Incorporation of the ligand will enable gene to internalize into cells in a cell-specific manner. It is also important for effective gene expression to consider the intracellular trafficking of gene-carrier complexes or their stability in the cell. In the case of normal intracellular trafficking, the gene-carrier complex internalized via the endocytosis pathway is carried into the endosomal compartment, followed by lysosomal degradation. Therefore, the carrier should be molecularly designed to allow to effectively escape the gene-carrier complex internalized from the endosomal compartment into the cytoplasm one. For example, when covalently linked with a peptide capable to disrupt the lysosomal membrane under an acidic condition where lysosomal enzymes biologically function, a carrier effectively enhanced the level of gene expression ⁶⁷. It is reported that the carrier covalently linked with functional groups having a buffering capacity to accelerate the endosomal escape, so-called "proton sponge effect", enhanced the gene expression ⁶⁸. Furthermore, the carrier covalently linked with a peptide of nuclear localization signal (NLS) enabled a gene to positively deliver to the cellular nucleus ⁶⁹. There have been several researches to combine gene-carrier complexes with physical stimuli, such as pressure ^{70,71}, electricity ^{72,73}, ultrasound ⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶, magnetism ⁷⁷, and light ⁷⁸, to enhance or regulate the level and pattern of gene expression.

Among the non-viral materials applicable for gene transfection carrier, polysaccharide has some advantages over other carrier materials. Most of them are water-soluble and have a long history of the medical, pharmaceutical, and food applications. The biosafety and bioavailability have been proven from the practical usages. The sample with different physicochemical properties, such as the molecular weight, electric charge, and water solubility, is practically available. Since polysaccharide has reactive groups, the chemical modification can be readily made to change the chemical, physical, and biological properties. Recently, polysaccharides and their derivatives have been paid great attention for drug delivery approaches because of their availability to improve the pharmacokinetical and

General introduction

pharmacodynamical characteristics of therapeutic agents, such as low molecular weight drugs, bioactive peptides or proteins, enzymes, and plasmid DNA ⁷⁹. Chemical or physical conjugation of therapeutic agents with the polysaccharide derivatives increased their biological stability in the blood circulation and consequently prolong the time period of activity ⁸⁰⁻⁸³. On the other hand, polysaccharides have been used to target the agents to the tumor (passive targeting)⁸⁴⁻⁸⁷ or the liver (active targeting)⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. In addition, paramagnetic substance-loaded or radiolabeled polysacchrides have been applied for diagnostic imaging ⁹¹⁻⁹⁹. Another noticable feature of polysaccharide is to compose of different sugars which can be recognized by the corresponding cell receptors of sugar specificity. This biological recognition not only permits the receptor-specific targeting of agents to the cell, but also accelerates their cell internalization via the receptor-mediated endocytosis. Several researches for efficient gene transfection have been carried out with cationized polysaccharides, such as cationized dextran ¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰², schizophyllan ¹⁰³, and chitosan ¹⁰⁴. However, few researches have been done to systematically investigate and evaluate the effect of physicochemical and biological properties of cationized polysaccharides on the feasibility as a non-viral carrier for gene transfection.

When cells are genetically engineered and used for transplantation therapy, in addition to the enhancement of gene transfection and expression, it is undoubtedly important to consider the physiological and functional conditions of cells transfected from the viewpoint of the practical usage. In the conventional procedure of gene transfection, normally the non-viral carrier is complexed with a plasmid DNA, and then added to the culture medium of cells for transfection. In this case, although the presence of serum is essential to maintain the conditions of cell culture biologically good, the transfection culture is being done generally being carried out without the serum. This is because the plasmid DNA-carrier complex often interacts with serum components. This interaction often reduces the extent of complex internalized into cells, leading to the suppressed level of gene transfection. Taken together, we cannot always say that the culture condition for the conventional transfection is good in terms of cells viability. Basically, there are two approaches to improve the culture conditions of gene transfection. One is the technical modification to perform gene transfection even in the

presence of serum. The other is to improve the methodology of cell culture which enables cells to physiologically proliferate under good conditions in the culture of gene transfection. Since a three-dimensional culture substrate has a large surface area available for cell attachment and the subsequent proliferation compared with a two-dimensional tissue culture plate, cells can be generally proliferated in the three-dimensional substrate at higher rates and for longer time periods than those in the two-dimensional one ¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷. Moreover, combination with a perfusion culture method can supply nutrients and oxygen to the cells proliferated in the three-dimensional substrate efficiently compared with a static culture method, while harmful metabolic products and wastes generated from cells can be excluded rapidly. It has been previously demonstrated that the proliferation of MSC was greatly influenced by the culture method and significantly enhanced by the perfusion culture method compared with the static method ¹⁰⁸. Therefore, it is highly expected that combination of cationized polysaccharide-based gene transfection with the culture method enhances the level of gene expression to a great extent compared with the conventional method of gene transfection.

The objective of this thesis is to design and prepare various types of non-viral carriers for gene expression from polysaccharides and evaluate the level of gene expression by the plasmid DNA-carrier complexes in terms of their physicochemical and biological properties. The cells are genetically engineered with the carrier complex with a gene coding a therapeutic peptide or protein to assess the therapeutic efficacy of cells genetically engineered with some disease animal models. In Part 1, cationized polysaccharides of non-viral carrier were prepared from different polysaccharides and amine compounds, while the physicochemical and biological characterizations were performed to evaluate the effect of physicochemical properties of cationized polysaccharides on the level of gene expression. In addition, different transfection culture methods combined with the plasmid DNA-cationized polysaccharide complexes were performed to evaluate effect of the transfection method on the level of gene expression and the cells viability.

Chapter 1 describes the effect of polysaccharides type on the level of gene expression. Spermine was chemically introduced to pullulan, dextran, and mannan to prepare respective cationized polysaccharides. The apparent molecular size and zeta potential of cationized

 $\mathbf{5}$

General introduction

polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes were similar, irrespective of the polysaccharide type, but the interaction strength of the complex with a sugar-recognizable lectin depended on the polysaccharide type. The level of gene expression for MSC and HeLa cells by the cationized polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes depended on the type of polysaccharide used for cationization as well as cells.

Chapter 2 describes the effect of type of amine compounds introduced to dextran on the level of gene expression. Different amine compounds were chemically introduced to dextran to prepare various cationized dextrans. The buffering capacity of cationized dextran depended on the type of amine compounds, while the highest buffering capacity was observed for the spemine-introduced dextran. The level of gene expression for HeLa cells by the cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complex depended on the type of amine compounds used for cationization. The highest level was observed for the spermine-introduced dextran-plasmid DNA complex.

Chapter 3 describes the effect of molecular weight of pullulan used for cationization on the level of gene expression. Spermine was chemically introduced to pullulan with molecular weights of 5,900, 11,800, 22,800, 47,300, 112,000, and 212,000 to prepare various cationized pullulans. The apparent molecular size, the zeta potential, and the interaction strength of cationized pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes with the lectin depended on the molecular weight of pullulan used for cationization. The level of gene expression for HepG2 cells by the cationized pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes also depended on the pullulan molecular weight and the highest level was observed for the cationized pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300.

Chapter 4 describes the effect of the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan on the level of gene expression. Various amounts of spermine were chemically introduced to pullulan with molecular weights of 22,800, 47,300, and 112,000 to prepare various cationized pullulans. The apparent molecular size, the zeta potential, and the interaction strength of cationized pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes with the lectin depended on the extent of spemine introduced to pullulan. The level of gene expression for HepG2 cells by the cationized pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes depended on the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan.

to pullulan.

Chapter 5 describes the effect of transfection culture method on the level of gene expression. Pullulan was cationized by the chemical introduction of spermine to prepare cationized pullulan. The spermine-pullulan was complexed with a plasmid DNA and coated on the surface of culture substrate together with Pronectin[®] of an artificial cell adhesion protein. MSC were cultured and transfected on the complex-coated substrate (reverse transfection method) and the level and duration of gene expression were compared with those MSC transfected of by culturing in the medium containing the plasmid DNA-spermine-pullulan complex (conventional method). The gene expression was significantly enhanced and prolonged by the reverse transfection method compared with that of the conventional method. In addition, the reverse transfection was carried out for a non-woven fabic of polyethylene terephthalate (PET) coated with the complex and Pronectin® by an agitated and stirring culture methods. The level and duration of gene expression for MSC was significantly enhanced by the two methods compared with that of the static method.

In Part 2, cells were genetically engineered by the cationized polysaccharide-gene complexes prepared in Part 1 and applied to several animal disease models to evaluate their therapeutic effects. Chapter 6 describes the genetically engineering of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells by the cationized dextran-adrenomedullin (AM) plasmid DNA complexes and the enhanced therapeutic efficacy for acute myocardial infarction. Spermine was chemically introduced to dextran to prepare a cationized dextran MSC were transfected by the conventional method with the complex of cationized dextran and a plasmid DNA coding AM of an anti-apoptotic and angiogenic peptide, to prepare MSC genetically engineered. The MSC genetically engineered secreted a large amount of AM and survived even under the hypoxia condition. Transplantation of MSC genetically engineered significantly improved cardiac function after the myocardial inoculation compared with that of the original MSC.

Chapter 7 describes the enhanced therapeutic efficacy of macrophages $(M\phi)$ genetically engineered by the cationized dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complex for tumor.

General introduction

Spermine was chemically introduced to dextran to prepare a cationized dextran. M¢ were transfected by the reverse transfection method with the complex of cationized dextran and a plasmid DNA coding NK4 of an anti-tumor activity, to prepare M¢ genetically engineered. The M¢ genetically engineered secreted a large amount of NK4 and significantly suppressed the in vitro proliferation of tumor cells. When injected intravenously, the M¢ genetically engineered accumulated to the tumor tissue and enhanced the in vivo anti-tumor activity to a significantly great extent compared with that of the original M¢.

Chapter 8 describes the enhanced therapeutic efficacy of dendritic cells (DC) genetically engineered by the cationized dextran-interleukin 12 plasmid DNA complex for tumor. Spermine was chemically introduced to dextran to prepare a cationized dextran. DC were transfected by the reverse transfection method with the complex of cationized dextran and a plasmid DNA coding IL-12 of an immuno-responsive anti-tumor activity, to prepare DC genetically engineered. The DC genetically engineered secreted a large amount of IL-12. When injected intratumorally, the DC genetically engineered enhanced the in vivo anti-tumor activity to a significantly great extent compared with that of the original DC.

In summary, this thesis describes the feasibility of polysaccharides as a non-viral carrier of plasmid DNA and the enhanced therapeutic efficacy of cells genetically engineered. It is concluded that the cationized polysaccharide is a promising carrier to genetically engineer cells not only to develop the basic research of cell biology and medicine, but also to positively modify and enhance the therapeutic efficacy.

REFERENCES

- Toma JG, Akhavan M, Fernandes KJ, Barnabe-Heider F, Sadikot A, Kaplan DR *et al.* Isolation of multipotent adult stem cells from the dermis of mammalian skin. *Nat Cell Biol* 2001; **3:** 778-784.
- 2 Lee JY, Qu-Petersen Z, Cao B, Kimura S, Jankowski R, Cummins J *et al.* Clonal isolation of muscle-derived cells capable of enhancing muscle regeneration and bone healing. *J Cell Biol* 2000; **150**: 1085-1100.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD *et al.* Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 1999; 284: 143-147.
- 4 Makino S, Fukuda K, Miyoshi S, Konishi F, Kodama H, Pan J *et al.* Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells in vitro. *J Clin Invest* 1999; **103**: 697-705.
- 5 Laird DJ, von Andrian UH, Wagers AJ. Stem cell trafficking in tissue development, growth, and disease. *Cell* 2008; **132:** 612-630.
- Roth JC, Curiel DT, Pereboeva L. Cell vehicle targeting strategies. *Gene Ther* 2008;
 15: 716-729.
- 7 Prieto J, Fernandez-Ruiz V, Kawa MP, Sarobe P, Qian C. Cells as vehicles for therapeutic genes to treat liver diseases. *Gene Ther* 2008; **15**: 765-771.
- 8 Andersson H, van den Berg A. Microfabrication and microfluidics for tissue engineering: state of the art and future opportunities. *Lab Chip* 2004; **4**: 98-103.
- 9 Khademhosseini A, Langer R, Borenstein J, Vacanti JP. Microscale technologies for tissue engineering and biology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006; **103**: 2480-2487.
- Korin N, Levenberg S. Engineering human embryonic stem cell differentiation.
 Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev 2007; 24: 243-261.
- 11 Rehfeldt F, Engler AJ, Eckhardt A, Ahmed F, Discher DE. Cell responses to the mechanochemical microenvironment--implications for regenerative medicine and drug delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2007; **59:** 1329-1339.
- Mooney DJ, Vandenburgh H. Cell delivery mechanisms for tissue repair. *Cell Stem Cell* 2008; 2: 205-213.

- 13 Xu Y, Shi Y, Ding S. A chemical approach to stem-cell biology and regenerative medicine. *Nature* 2008; **453**: 338-344.
- 14 Balamurugan AN, Gu Y, Tabata Y, Miyamoto M, Cui W, Hori H *et al.* Bioartificial pancreas transplantation at prevascularized intermuscular space: effect of angiogenesis induction on islet survival. *Pancreas* 2003; 26: 279-285.
- 15 Ogawa K, Asonuma K, Inomata Y, Kim I, Ikada Y, Tabata Y *et al.* The efficacy of prevascularization by basic FGF for hepatocyte transplantation using polymer devices in rats. *Cell Transplant* 2001; **10**: 723-729.
- 16 Sakakibara Y, Nishimura K, Tambara K, Yamamoto M, Lu F, Tabata Y *et al.* Prevascularization with gelatin microspheres containing basic fibroblast growth factor enhances the benefits of cardiomyocyte transplantation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2002; **124**: 50-56.
- 17 Saito A, Kazama JJ, Iino N, Cho K, Sato N, Yamazaki H *et al.* Bioengineered implantation of megalin-expressing cells: a potential intracorporeal therapeutic model for uremic toxin protein clearance in renal failure. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2003; 14: 2025-2032.
- 18 Tsuji-Saso Y, Kawazoe T, Morimoto N, Tabata Y, Taira T, Tomihata K *et al.* Incorporation of basic fibroblast growth factor into preconfluent cultured skin substitute to accelerate neovascularisation and skin reconstruction after transplantation. *Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg* 2007; **41:** 228 - 235.
- 19 Penn MS, Mangi AA. Genetic enhancement of stem cell engraftment, survival, and efficacy. *Circ Res* 2008; **102:** 1471-1482.
- 20 Conrad C, Gupta R, Mohan H, Niess H, Bruns CJ, Kopp R *et al.* Genetically engineered stem cells for therapeutic gene delivery. *Curr Gene Ther* 2007; **7:** 249-260.
- 21 Mendez-Pertuz M, Hughes C, Annenkov A, Daly G, Chernajovsky Y. Engineering stem cells for therapy. *Regen Med* 2006; **1:** 575-587.
- 22 Nakamura K, Ito Y, Kawano Y, Kurozumi K, Kobune M, Tsuda H *et al.* Antitumor effect of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells in a rat glioma model. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 1155-1164.

- 23 Bubenik J. Genetically engineered dendritic cell-based cancer vaccines (review). *Int J Oncol* 2001; **18**: 475-478.
- 24 Ribas A. Genetically modified dendritic cells for cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Gene Ther* 2005; **5:** 619-628.
- 25 Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. *Nat Med* 2003; **9:** 1195-1201.
- Kimelman N, Pelled G, Helm GA, Huard J, Schwarz EM, Gazit D. Review: gene- and stem cell-based therapeutics for bone regeneration and repair. *Tissue Eng* 2007; 13: 1135-1150.
- Kuroda R, Usas A, Kubo S, Corsi K, Peng H, Rose T *et al.* Cartilage repair using bone morphogenetic protein 4 and muscle-derived stem cells. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006; 54: 433-442.
- 28 Ruitenberg MJ, Plant GW, Hamers FP, Wortel J, Blits B, Dijkhuizen PA *et al.* Ex vivo adenoviral vector-mediated neurotrophin gene transfer to olfactory ensheathing glia: effects on rubrospinal tract regeneration, lesion size, and functional recovery after implantation in the injured rat spinal cord. *J Neurosci* 2003; 23: 7045-7058.
- Robbins PD, Ghivizzani SC. Viral vectors for gene therapy. *Pharmacol Ther* 1998; 80:
 35-47.
- 30 Duisit G, Salvetti A, Moullier P, Cosset FL. Functional characterization of adenoviral/retroviral chimeric vectors and their use for efficient screening of retroviral producer cell lines. *Hum Gene Ther* 1999; **10**: 189-200.
- 31 Kim YS, Lim HK, Kim KJ. Production of high-titer retroviral vectors and detection of replication-competent retroviruses. *Mol Cells* 1998; **8:** 36-42.
- 32 Peng KW, Russell SJ. Viral vector targeting. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 1999; **10:** 454-457.
- Felgner PL, Ringold GM. Cationic liposome-mediated transfection. *Nature* 1989; 337:
 387-388.
- 34 Nishi T, Yoshizato K, Yamashiro S, Takeshima H, Sato K, Hamada K *et al.* High-efficiency in vivo gene transfer using intraarterial plasmid DNA injection

following in vivo electroporation. Cancer Res 1996; 56: 1050-1055.

- 35 Toncheva V, Wolfert MA, Dash PR, Oupicky D, Ulbrich K, Seymour LW *et al.* Novel vectors for gene delivery formed by self-assembly of DNA with poly(L-lysine) grafted with hydrophilic polymers. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1998; **1380**: 354-368.
- 36 Oupicky D, Konak C, Ulbrich K, Wolfert MA, Seymour LW. DNA delivery systems based on complexes of DNA with synthetic polycations and their copolymers. J Control Release 2000; 65: 149-171.
- 37 Nishikawa M, Huang L. Nonviral vectors in the new millennium: delivery barriers in gene transfer. *Hum Gene Ther* 2001; **12:** 861-870.
- 38 De Smedt SC, Demeester J, Hennink WE. Cationic polymer based gene delivery systems. *Pharm Res* 2000; **17:** 113-126.
- 39 Dubruel P, Christiaens B, Vanloo B, Bracke K, Rosseneu M, Vandekerckhove J *et al.* Physicochemical and biological evaluation of cationic polymethacrylates as vectors for gene delivery. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 2003; **18**: 211-220.
- 40 Greenland JR, Liu H, Berry D, Anderson DG, Kim WK, Irvine DJ *et al.* Beta-amino ester polymers facilitate in vivo DNA transfection and adjuvant plasmid DNA immunization. *Mol Ther* 2005; **12:** 164-170.
- 41 Fayazpour F, Lucas B, Alvarez-Lorenzo C, Sanders NN, Demeester J, De Smedt SC. Physicochemical and transfection properties of cationic Hydroxyethylcellulose/DNA nanoparticles. *Biomacromolecules* 2006; 7: 2856-2862.
- 42 Ewert K, Slack NL, Ahmad A, Evans HM, Lin AJ, Samuel CE *et al.* Cationic lipid-DNA complexes for gene therapy: understanding the relationship between complex structure and gene delivery pathways at the molecular level. *Curr Med Chem* 2004; **11**: 133-149.
- 43 Pedroso de Lima MC, Neves S, Filipe A, Duzgunes N, Simoes S. Cationic liposomes for gene delivery: from biophysics to biological applications. *Curr Med Chem* 2003; 10: 1221-1231.
- 44 Hirko A, Tang F, Hughes JA. Cationic lipid vectors for plasmid DNA delivery. *Curr Med Chem* 2003; **10:** 1185-1193.

- 45 Sudimack J, Lee RJ. Targeted drug delivery via the folate receptor. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2000; **41:** 147-162.
- 46 Lu Y, Low PS. Folate-mediated delivery of macromolecular anticancer therapeutic agents. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2002; **54:** 675-693.
- Zhao XB, Lee RJ. Tumor-selective targeted delivery of genes and antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotides via the folate receptor. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2004; 56: 1193-1204.
- 48 Mislick KA, Baldeschwieler JD, Kayyem JF, Meade TJ. Transfection of folate-polylysine DNA complexes: evidence for lysosomal delivery. *Bioconjug Chem* 1995; 6: 512-515.
- 49 Wagner E, Cotten M, Foisner R, Birnstiel ML. Transferrin-polycation-DNA complexes: the effect of polycations on the structure of the complex and DNA delivery to cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991; 88: 4255-4259.
- 50 Qian ZM, Li H, Sun H, Ho K. Targeted drug delivery via the transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway. *Pharmacol Rev* 2002; **54:** 561-587.
- 51 Kircheis R, Wightman L, Schreiber A, Robitza B, Rossler V, Kursa M et al. Polyethylenimine/DNA complexes shielded by transferrin target gene expression to tumors after systemic application. *Gene Ther* 2001; 8: 28-40.
- 52 Hashida M, Nishikawa M, Yamashita F, Takakura Y. Cell-specific delivery of genes with glycosylated carriers. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2001; **52:** 187-196.
- 53 Bies C, Lehr CM, Woodley JF. Lectin-mediated drug targeting: history and applications. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2004; **56**: 425-435.
- 54 Choi YH, Liu F, Choi JS, Kim SW, Park JS. Characterization of a targeted gene carrier, lactose-polyethylene glycol-grafted poly-L-lysine and its complex with plasmid DNA. *Hum Gene Ther* 1999; 10: 2657-2665.
- 55 Mahato RI, Takemura S, Akamatsu K, Nishikawa M, Takakura Y, Hashida M. Physicochemical and disposition characteristics of antisense oligonucleotides complexed with glycosylated poly(L-lysine). *Biochem Pharmacol* 1997; **53**: 887-895.
- 56 Ferkol T, Perales JC, Mularo F, Hanson RW. Receptor-mediated gene transfer into

macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93: 101-105.

- 57 Chowdhury NR, Wu CH, Wu GY, Yerneni PC, Bommineni VR, Chowdhury JR. Fate of DNA targeted to the liver by asialoglycoprotein receptor-mediated endocytosis in vivo. Prolonged persistence in cytoplasmic vesicles after partial hepatectomy. *J Biol Chem* 1993; **268**: 11265-11271.
- 58 Parkes RJ, Hart SL. Adhesion molecules and gene transfer. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2000;
 44: 135-152.
- 59 Erbacher P, Remy JS, Behr JP. Gene transfer with synthetic virus-like particles via the integrin-mediated endocytosis pathway. *Gene Ther* 1999; **6:** 138-145.
- 60 Hart SL, Harbottle RP, Cooper R, Miller A, Williamson R, Coutelle C. Gene delivery and expression mediated by an integrin-binding peptide. *Gene Ther* 1995; **2:** 552-554.
- 61 Colin M, Maurice M, Trugnan G, Kornprobst M, Harbottle RP, Knight A *et al.* Cell delivery, intracellular trafficking and expression of an integrin-mediated gene transfer vector in tracheal epithelial cells. *Gene Ther* 2000; **7:** 139-152.
- 62 Schiffelers RM, Ansari A, Xu J, Zhou Q, Tang Q, Storm G *et al.* Cancer siRNA therapy by tumor selective delivery with ligand-targeted sterically stabilized nanoparticle. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2004; **32:** e149.
- 63 Sosnowski BA, Gonzalez AM, Chandler LA, Buechler YJ, Pierce GF, Baird A. Targeting DNA to cells with basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF2). *J Biol Chem* 1996;
 271: 33647-33653.
- 64 Blessing T, Kursa M, Holzhauser R, Kircheis R, Wagner E. Different strategies for formation of pegylated EGF-conjugated PEI/DNA complexes for targeted gene delivery. *Bioconjug Chem* 2001; **12**: 529-537.
- Kircheis R, Kichler A, Wallner G, Kursa M, Ogris M, Felzmann T *et al.* Coupling of cell-binding ligands to polyethylenimine for targeted gene delivery. *Gene Ther* 1997;
 4: 409-418.
- 66 Shimizu N, Chen J, Gamou S, Takayanagi A. Immunogene approach toward cancer therapy using erythrocyte growth factor receptor-mediated gene delivery. *Cancer Gene Ther* 1996; **3:** 113-120.

- 67 Gaidamakova EK, Backer MV, Backer JM. Molecular vehicle for target-mediated delivery of therapeutics and diagnostics. *J Control Release* 2001; **74:** 341-347.
- 68 Niidome T, Huang L. Gene therapy progress and prospects: nonviral vectors. *Gene Ther* 2002; **9:** 1647-1652.
- 69 Tachibana R, Harashima H, Shinohara Y, Kiwada H. Quantitative studies on the nuclear transport of plasmid DNA and gene expression employing nonviral vectors. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2001; **52:** 219-226.
- 70 Zhang XY, La Russa VF, Reiser J. Transduction of bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells by using lentivirus vectors pseudotyped with modified RD114 envelope glycoproteins. *J Virol* 2004; **78**: 1219-1229.
- 71 Cui Z, Mumper RJ. Microparticles and nanoparticles as delivery systems for DNA vaccines. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst* 2003; **20:** 103-137.
- 72 Mir LM, Moller PH, Andre F, Gehl J. Electric pulse-mediated gene delivery to various animal tissues. *Adv Genet* 2005; **54:** 83-114.
- 73 Wells DJ. Gene therapy progress and prospects: electroporation and other physical methods. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 1363-1369.
- Hosseinkhani H, Tabata Y. Ultrasound enhances in vivo tumor expression of plasmidDNA by PEG-introduced cationized dextran. *J Control Release* 2005; 108: 540-556.
- 75 Lu QL, Liang HD, Partridge T, Blomley MJ. Microbubble ultrasound improves the efficiency of gene transduction in skeletal muscle in vivo with reduced tissue damage. *Gene Ther* 2003; **10**: 396-405.
- Taniyama Y, Tachibana K, Hiraoka K, Namba T, Yamasaki K, Hashiya N *et al.* Local delivery of plasmid DNA into rat carotid artery using ultrasound. *Circulation* 2002; 105: 1233-1239.
- 77 Scherer F, Anton M, Schillinger U, Henke J, Bergemann C, Kruger A *et al.* Magnetofection: enhancing and targeting gene delivery by magnetic force in vitro and in vivo. *Gene Ther* 2002; **9**: 102-109.
- Yao CP, Zhang ZX, Rahmanzadeh R, Huettmann G. Laser-based gene transfection and gene therapy. *IEEE Trans Nanobioscience* 2008; 7: 111-119.

- 79 Mehvar R. Recent trends in the use of polysaccharides for improved delivery of therapeutic agents: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic perspectives. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* 2003; 4: 283-302.
- 80 Mehvar R, Shepard TL. Molecular-weight-dependent pharmacokinetics of fluorescein-labeled dextrans in rats. *J Pharm Sci* 1992; **81**: 908-912.
- 81 Mehvar R, Robinson MA, Reynolds JM. Molecular weight dependent tissue accumulation of dextrans: in vivo studies in rats. *J Pharm Sci* 1994; **83:** 1495-1499.
- Harada M, Murata J, Sakamura Y, Sakakibara H, Okuno S, Suzuki T. Carrier and dose effects on the pharmacokinetics of T-0128, a camptothecin analogue-carboxymethyl dextran conjugate, in non-tumor- and tumor-bearing rats. *J Control Release* 2001; 71: 71-86.
- 83 Masuda K, Sakagami M, Horie K, Nogusa H, Hamana H, Hirano K. Evaluation of carboxymethylpullulan as a novel carrier for targeting immune tissues. *Pharm Res* 2001; 18: 217-223.
- 64 Guu JA, Hsiue GH, Juang TM. Synthesis and biological properties of antitumor-active conjugates of ADR with dextran. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed* 2002; **13**: 1135-1151.
- 85 Nogusa H, Yamamoto K, Yano T, Kajiki M, Hamana H, Okuno S. Distribution characteristics of carboxymethylpullulan-peptide-doxorubicin conjugates in tumor-bearing rats: different sequence of peptide spacers and doxorubicin contents. *Biol Pharm Bull* 2000; **23**: 621-626.
- 86 Nogusa H, Yano T, Kajiki M, Gonsho A, Hamana H, Okuno S. Antitumor effects and toxicities of carboxymethylpullulan-peptide-doxorubicin conjugates. *Biol Pharm Bull* 1997; 20: 1061-1065.
- 87 Nogusa H, Yano T, Okuno S, Hamana H, Inoue K. Synthesis of carboxymethylpullulan-peptide-doxorubicin conjugates and their properties. *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)* 1995; **43**: 1931-1936.
- 88 Ohya Y, Oue H, Nagatomi K, Ouchi T. Design of macromolecular prodrug of cisplatin using dextran with branched galactose units as targeting moieties to hepatoma cells. *Biomacromolecules* 2001; 2: 927-933.

- 89 Yamaoka T, Tabata Y, Ikada Y. Body distribution profile of polysaccharide after intravenous administration. *Drug Delivery* 1993; **1:** 75-82.
- 90 Kaneo Y, Tanaka T, Nakano T, Yamaguchi Y. Evidence for receptor-mediated hepatic uptake of pullulan in rats. *J Control Release* 2001; **70:** 365-373.
- Dansereau RN, Line BR. Preparation of dextran 70 injection labeled with technetium
 99m for use as a cardiac blood-pool imaging agent. Am J Hosp Pharm 1994; 51:
 2797-2800.
- 92 Bhatnagar A, Singh AK, Babbar A, Soni NL, Singh T. Renal imaging with 99Tc(m)-dextran. *Nucl Med Commun* 1997; **18:** 562-566.
- 93 Neubauer S, Mena I, Iglesis R, Schwartz R, Acevedo JC, Leon A *et al.* Sentinel lymph node mapping in melanoma with technetium-99m dextran. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm* 2001; 16: 265-267.
- 94 Sivaratnam DA, Pitman AG, Giles E, Lichtenstein M. The utility of Tc-99m dextran in the diagnosis and identification of melanoma metastases responsible for protein-losing enteropathy. *Clin Nucl Med* 2002; 27: 243-245.
- 95 Wang SC, Wikstrom MG, White DL, Klaveness J, Holtz E, Rongved P et al. Evaluation of Gd-DTPA-labeled dextran as an intravascular MR contrast agent: imaging characteristics in normal rat tissues. *Radiology* 1990; **175**: 483-488.
- 96 Meyer D, Schaefer M, Chambon C, Beaute S. Paramagnetic dextrans as magnetic resonance blood pool tracers. *Invest Radiol* 1994; **29 Suppl 2:** S90-92.
- 97 Loubeyre P, Canet E, Zhao S, Benderbous S, Amiel M, Revel D. Carboxymethyl-dextran-gadolinium-DTPA as a blood-pool contrast agent for magnetic resonance angiography. Experimental study in rabbits. *Invest Radiol* 1996; 31: 288-293.
- 98 Rebizak R, Schaefer M, Dellacherie E. Polymeric conjugates of Gd(3+)-diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid and dextran. 2. Influence of spacer arm length and conjugate molecular mass on the paramagnetic properties and some biological parameters. *Bioconjug Chem* 1998; **9**: 94-99.
- 99 Rebizak R, Schaefer M, Dellacherie E. Polymeric conjugates of

Gd(3+)-diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid and dextran. 1. Synthesis, characterization, and paramagnetic properties. *Bioconjug Chem* 1997; **8:** 605-610.

- 100 Azzam T, Eliyahu H, Shapira L, Linial M, Barenholz Y, Domb AJ. Polysaccharide-oligoamine based conjugates for gene delivery. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 2002; 45: 1817-1824.
- 101 Azzam T, Raskin A, Makovitzki A, Brem H, Vierling P, Lineal M *et al.* Cationic polysaccharides for gene delivery. *Macromolecules* 2002; **35**: 9947-9953.
- 102 Vaheri A, Pagano JS. Infectious poliovirus RNA: a sensitive method of assay. *Virology* 1965; 27: 434-436.
- 103 Nagasaki T, Hojo M, Uno A, Satoh T, Koumoto K, Mizu M *et al.* Long-term expression with a cationic polymer derived from a natural polysaccharide: schizophyllan. *Bioconjug Chem* 2004; **15**: 249-259.
- 104 Ishii T, Okahata Y, Sato T. Mechanism of cell transfection with plasmid/chitosan complexes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2001; **1514:** 51-64.
- 105 Yasuda K, Inoue S, Tabata Y. Influence of culture method on the proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of human adipo-stromal cells in nonwoven fabrics. *Tissue Eng* 2004; **10**: 1587-1596.
- 106 Takahashi Y, Tabata Y. Effect of the fiber diameter and porosity of non-woven PET fabrics on the osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2004; 15: 41-57.
- 107 Takahashi Y, Yamamoto M, Tabata Y. Osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in biodegradable sponges composed of gelatin and beta-tricalcium phosphate. *Biomaterials* 2005; 26: 3587-3596.
- 108 Takahashi Y, Tabata Y. Homogeneous seeding of mesenchymal stem cells into nonwoven fabric for tissue engineering. *Tissue Eng* 2003; **9:** 931-938.

PART 1

EFFECT OF PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF CATIONIZED POLYSACCHARIDES AND TRANSFECTION CULTURE METHOD ON THE LEVEL OF GENE EXPRESSION

Chapter 1

Effect of polysaccharides type on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION

It is of prime importance for successful cell therapy to develop a method of genetic cell engineering aiming at the efficient activation and manipulation of cellular functions. To achieve this genetic engineering of cells, virus carriers have been mainly used because of the high efficiency of gene transfection ¹⁻⁷. However, there are several problems to be resolved for the clinical applications, such as the antigenicity and toxicity of virus itself or the possibility of disease transfection. Therefore, efficient technology and methodology of gene transfection without virus vectors are highly expected.

Many types of cationized polymers ⁸ and cationized liposomes ⁹⁻¹¹ have been designed ¹²⁻¹⁴ as non-viral carrier materials, while complexation with them enabled plasmid DNA to neutralize the anionic charge as well as to reduce the molecular size, which is preferable to enhance the efficiency of plasmid DNA transfection. Among the non-viral carrier materials, polysaccharides have several advantages. They have hydroxyl groups available for simple chemical modification and the susceptibility of cell internalization possibly accelerated by a sugar-recognition receptor of cell surface. However, there is no report where the effect of polysaccharide type on the level of gene expression was systematically investigated.

In this chapter, various polysaccharides, pullulan, dextran, and mannan with the similar molecular weight of around 40,000 were cationized by the chemical introduction of spermine to obtain various cationized polysaccharide derivatives with different extents of spermine introduced. A plasmid DNA was complexed with the cationized polysaccharide derivatives in aqueous solution, and the apparent molecular size and zeta potential of the complexes were measured. The effect of the polysaccharide type on the level of gene expression for various cells, such as Hela cells, HepG2 cells, bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), macrophages (M ϕ), and dendritic cells (DC) was investigated.

Chapter 1

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Pullulan with different weight-average molecular weights of 5,900, 11,800, 22,800, 47,300, 112,000, and 212,000 was purchased from Hayashibara Biochemical Laboratories, Inc., Okayama, Japan. Dextran and mannan were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Inc., St. Louis, MO and Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan, respectively. When determined by high performance liquid chromatography (LC-8020 model-II, Tosoh, Tokyo, Japan) using the pullulan with different weight-average molecular weights as standards, the weight-average molecular weights of dextran and mannan were 57,000 and 36,000, respectively. Spermine was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification.

Preparation of cationized polysaccharide derivatives

Spermine was chemically introduced to the hydroxyl groups of polysaccharide by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ¹⁵. Briefly, 9.28×10^{-3} mole of spermine and various molar amounts of CDI were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide containing 50 mg of each polysaccharide. Molar ratio of CDI initially added to the hydroxyl groups (OH) of polysaccharide was defined as a [CDI]/[OH] ratio. Following agitation at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against double-distilled water (DDW) for 2 days. The cut-off molecular weights of dialysis membrane used is 12,000-16,000 (Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, IL). Then, the solution dialyzed was freezed-dried to obtain the samples of spermine-introduced polysaccharide (spermine-polysaccharide). When determined from the conventional elemental analysis, the molar percentages of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of polysaccharides were 12.3, 9.5, and 13.3 mole% for pullulan, dextran, and mannan, respectively.

Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNAs used were the pGL3 plasmid coding a firefly luciferase gene (Luciferase Reporter Vectors-pGL3, Promega, Madison, WI) and the pEGFP-N1 plasmid

coding enhanced green fluorescent protein (GFP, Clontech Laboratories Inc., Palo Alto, CA). The plasmid DNA was propagated in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Preparation of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes

Polyion complexes (PIC) were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of spermine-polysaccharide with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, varied amounts of spermine-polysaccharide were dissolved in 50 μ l of DDW and mixed with 50 μ l of 10 mM phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 100 μ g of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain various PIC of spermine-polysaccharide and plasmid DNA. The PIC composition was calculated on the basis of the nitrogen number of spermine-polysaccharide (N) per the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA (P) and expressed as the N/P ratio.

Electrophoresis measurement spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at an N/P ratio of 3.0. After 15 min of incubation, 10 μ l of the complex was added to 3 μ l of a loading buffer (0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 5% glycerol, and 0.005% bromophenol blue) and applied on an 1 wt % agarose gel in Tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid buffer solution (TBE, pH 8.3) containing 0.1 mg/ml ethidium bromide (EtBr). Electrophoretic evaluation of the PIC was carried out in TBE solution at 100 V for 30 min. The gel was imaged with a UV transilluminator (Gel Doc 2000, BIO-RAD laboratories, Segrate, Italy).

Dynamic light scattering (DLS) and electrophoretic light scattering (ELS) measurements

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at an N/P ratio of 3.0. The DLS measurement was carried out using a DLS-DPA-60HD instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) equipped with an Ar^+ laser at a detection angle of 90° at 25 °C for 15 min. In the present study, the autocorrelation function of samples was analyzed based on the cumulant method and the R_s value was calculated automatically by the equipped computer software and expressed as the apparent molecular size of samples. On the other hand, the zeta potential was measured using ELS-7000AS instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) at 25 °C and an electric field strength of 100 V/cm. From the determined electrophoretic mobility, the zeta potential was automatically calculated using the Smoluchouski equation. Light scattering measurement was done three times for every sample.

Lectin-induced aggregation of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in PBS at an N/P of 3.0, followed by incubation at room temperature for 15 min. To 100 µl of the PIC solution, 100 µl of Ricinus communis agglutinin of lectin recognizable to galactose (RCA120, Seikagaku Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, 500 µg/ml) was added, followed by incubation at room temperature. The time profile of solution turbidity change was measured at a wavelength of 500 nm. To confirm the specificity of lectin-sugar interaction, D-galactose was added 40 min after RCA120 addition. The results expressed as the percentage of the solution absorbance were to that of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complex alone.

Cell culture

HeLa cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection, Manassas VA, and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 110 mg/ml sodium pyruvate (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA), and 10 vol% Fetal calf serum (FCS) (Hyclone laboratories, Inc., South Logan, UT) (DMEM-FCS) at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ and 95% air at atmospheric pressure.

HepG2 cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection, Manassas VA,

USA and maintained in minimal essential medium (MEM) supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acid solution (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA), and 10 vol% FCS (MEM-FCS) at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ and 95% air at atmospheric pressure.

MSC culture was performed according to the method previously described ¹⁶. Briefly, 3-week-old male Wister rats (Shimizu Laboratory Supplies Co.,Ltd., Kyoto, Japan) were sacrificed to isolate the femur and tibia, and the bone marrow was harvested by flushing the bone with PBS. The suspension of bone marrow cells in PBS was placed into 25 cm² cell culture flasks (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) and cultured in α -minimum essential medium (α MEM) supplemented with 15 vol% FCS and 1 wt% mixed penicillin and streptomycin solution (Sigma-aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO, control medium). After incubation at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ and 95% air at atmospheric pressure for 3 days, nonadherent cells were removed. Adherent cells were further cultured by exchanging the fresh control medium every 3 days.

Mouse peritoneal M ϕ were isolated from 6-week-old female BALB/c mice (body weight = 20 g, Shimizu Laboratory Supplies Co. Ltd., Kyoto, Japan) according to the conventional procedure previously reported ¹⁷. Briefly, mice were injected aseptically with 2 ml of thioglycolate broth (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) intraperitoneally. At 4 days after injection, 6.0 ml of DMEM was intraperitoneally injected to the mice, and then the peritoneal cells were collected by syringe aspiration. After centrifugation (1,000 rpm, 5 min, 4°C), pelleted peritoneal cells were resuspended in DMEM supplemented with 15 vol% FCS, penicillin (50 U/ml), and streptomycin (50 U/ml) and seeded on tissue culture plate (Corning, NY) at a density of 1×10^6 cells /cm². After incubating at 37 ° C in a 5% CO₂, 95% air atmosphere for 2 hr, the plate was washed thoroughly with DMEM to remove non-adherent cells. The adherent cells obtained were used as M ϕ for the following experiments.

Mouse immature DC were obtained from bone marrow cells (BMC) through the differentiation induction according to the conventional procedure previously reported ¹⁸. Briefly, mouse BMC were harvested from the femur and tibia of 4-week-old female ICR mice or 6-week-old female C57BL/6 mice (body weight = 20 g, Shimizu Laboratory Supplies Co. Ltd., Kyoto, Japan). Erythrocytes contaminated in BMC were lysed with ammonium chloride solution and cells were seeded in RPMI-1640 (Sigma-aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO)

Chapter 1

supplemented with penicillin (100 U/ml), streptmycin (100 μ g/ml), 10 vol% heat-inactivated FCS and 200 U/ml recombinant mouse-derived granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (rmGM-CSF, 1 x 10⁷ U/mg, Peprotech/Tebu, Frankfurt, Germany) on day 0. The medium was changed every 2 days thereafter. The cells cultured for 9-14 days were used for all experiments as mouse immature DC.

In vitro gene transfection experiment

The transfection experiments were performed independently in triplicate. Cells were seeded on each well of 12 multi-well cluster plate (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) and cultivated in 1 ml of control medium for 24 hr (Hela cells, HepG2 cells, MSC, and DC) or 1 week (M ϕ). The density seeded was 1.25×10^5 , 2.0×10^5 , 5×10^4 , 5×10^5 , and 2.5×10^5 cells/well for Hela cells, HepG2 cells, MSC, M ϕ , and DC, respectively. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by FCS-free control medium, PIC solution (100 µl) was added, followed by 6 hr incubation for cell gene transfection. Then, the medium was changed to the control medium and cells were incubated further for 24 hr.

Cells were washed with PBS once, lysed in 200 μ l of a cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 μ l of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA) was added to 20 μ l of supernatant, while the relative light unit (RLU) of the samples was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) according to the manufacturers' instructions in order to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity.

Evaluation of plasmid DNA internalization

Plasmid DNA was labeled with rhodamine by using Label IT® fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) Labeling Kit (Mirus®, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturers' instructions. After transfection culture of MSC for 1 day with the free FITC-labeled plasmid
DNA or the complex with spermine-polysaccharide, the cells were treated in cold acetate-buffered solution containing 0.3 vol.% acetic acid, 0.085 M NaCl, and 5.0 mM KCl for 1 min, then the cells were washed with cold PBS to remove the complexes bound onto the cell surface. The cells of three wells were collected by the trypsinization, and the results were considered as an average value of triplicates, while ten thousand cells were measured by the fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACSCalibur, Becton, Dickinson, and Company, Franklin Lakes, NJ) with Cell Quest Pro Software. The percentage of FITC-positive cells was calculated by setting the background population as 98% negative when analyzing control cells ¹⁹.

Microscopic observation of intracellular localization

Plasmid DNA was labeled with Cy5 by using Label IT® Cy5 Labeling Kit (Mirus®, Madison, WI). After the transfection culture of MSC for 1 day with the complex of Cy5-labeled plasmid DNA and spermine-polysaccharide, cells were washed and fixed with 0.25 wt% glutaraldehyde solution in PBS, followed by staining nucleus with Hoechst 33342 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Imaging data of cells were collected on an Olympus Fluoview FV300 confocal laser scanning microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) and processed with Adobe Photoshop 6.0 software (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA).

Statistical Analysis

All the data were expressed as the mean \pm the standard deviation of the mean. Statistical analysis was performed based on the ANOVA, followed by Fisher's PLSD and significance was accepted at *P* < 0.05.

RESULTS

Characterization of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 1 shows the electrophoretic patterns of polyion complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-polysaccharide prepared at an N/P ratio of 3.0. Migration of plasmid DNA was retarded by complexation with spemine-polysaccharide.

Table 1 summarizes the physicochemical properties of polyion complexes prepared at an N/P ratio of 3.0. The apparent molecular size and the zeta potential of free plasmid DNA were around 400 nm and -15 mV, respectively. Irrespective of the polysaccharide type, the apparent molecular size and zeta potential was around 160-280 nm and 10-16 mV, respectively.



Figure 1. Agarose gel electrophoresis of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at an N/P ratio of 3.0. The sample applied is DNA marker (a), free plasmid DNA (b) or the complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine derivatives of pullulan (c), dextran (d), and mannan (e). The [CDI]/[OH] ratio of spermine-polysaccharide used for cationization is 1.5.

Polysaccharide	Apparent molecular size (nm)	Zeta potential (mV)
Pullulan	226.3 ± 51.9	$+12.2 \pm 1.5$
Dextran	157.0 ± 28.3	$+14.0 \pm 0.1$
Mannan	293.5 ± 28.5	$+12.0 \pm 0.5$
Free plasmid DNA	409.5 ± 61.2 ^{b)}	-14.7 ± 9.5

Table 1. Apparent molecular size and zeta potential of plasmid DNA complexed with cationized polysaccharides^{a)}

a) The complex was prepared at an N/P ratio of 3.0.

b) Means ±SD.

Figure 2 shows the time profile of solution absorbance change of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes after the addition of RCA120 lectin. The solution absorbance increased time-dependently, although the increment pattern of depended on the polysaccharide type. When galactose was added to the solution, the absorbance decreased.



Figure 2. Time course of the turbidity change of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at an N/P ratio of 3 after RCA 120 addition. Galactose was added 40 min after RCA 120 addition (indicated by an arrow). The type of polysaccharide used for spermine introduction is pullulan (\bigcirc), dextran (\bigcirc), and mannan (\blacktriangle). The [CDI]/[OH] ratio of spermine-polysaccharide used for cationization is 1.5.

In vitro gene transfection of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 3 shows effect of the type of polysaccharides used for spermine introduction on the luciferase expression of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes at an N/P ratio of 3.0 for each type of cells. The level of gene expression was enhanced by the spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes, while the level depended on the type of polysaccharide as well as type of cells.

Figure 4 shows the fluorescence histogram of MSC 1 day after transfection with free FITC-labeled plasmid DNA or the complex with different spermine-polysaccharides. The percentages of plasmid DNA internalized were 3.0, 71.8, 46.5 or 36.3 for MSC transfected with free plasmid DNA, the complex of spermine derivatives of pullulan, dextran, mannan, respectively.

Figure 5 shows the confocal laser microscopic images of MSC 1 day after transfection with spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes. Most of plasmid DNA were localized around or in the nucleus of MSC. Strong GFP expression was observed in the MSC transfected with spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes.





Figure 3. Effect of the type of polysaccharide used for spermine introduction on the luciferase expression of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complexes for HeLa cells (A), HepG2 cells (B), MSC (C), M ϕ (D), and DC (E). The amount of plasmid DNA applied is 2.5 µg/well and the N/P ratio is 3.0. *, p < 0.05; versus the expression level of complexes prepared by other spermine-polysaccharides.



Figure 4. Fluorescence histogram of MSC 1 day after non-transfection (A) or transfection with free FITC-labeled plasmid DNA (B) or the complex of spermine derivatives of pullulan (C), dextran (D), and mannan (E). The amount of plasmid DNA applied is 2.5 μ g/well and the N/P ratio is 3.0.



Figure 5. Confocal laser microscopic images of MSC 1 day after transfection with GFP plasmid DNA complex of spermine derivatives of pullulan (A), dextran (B), and mannan (C). The plasmid DNA was labeled with Cy5. The amount of plasmid DNA used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. The N/P ratio of spermine-polysaccharide-plasmid DNA complex is 3.0. The red, green, and blue points indicate the plasmid DNA, GFP expressed, and cell nucleus, respectively.

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrates that the in vitro gene expression of plasmid DNA for various types of cells was greatly enhanced by complexation with the spermine-polysaccharide derivatives. The gene expression level depended on not only the polysaccharide type, but also the cells type.

It is indispensable to develop technology and methodology of gene transfection for genetic engineering of cells. Considering the clinical use, it is practical necessary to develop a non-viral gene carrier. For efficient gene transfection, it is important to design carriers that can electrostatically bind to a genetic material, molecularly condense the material size to a diameter range of several hundred nanometers, which facilitate the cell internalization. In addition, it is also necessary to develop a carrier for cell-specific delivery system, which allows genes to deliver specifically to the target cell and enhance the expression level.

Among the non-viral materials applicable for gene transfection carrier, polysaccharide has an advantage over other substances in terms of the ability to be recognized by the respective cell receptors of sugar specificity. This biological recognition not only permits the receptor-specific targeting of substances to the cell, but also accelerates their cell uptake via the receptor-mediated endocytosis. Therefore, in this study, the effect of polysaccharide type on the level of gene expression was investigated.

Dependence of the polysaccharide type on the level of gene expression (**Figures 3** and 5) can be explained as follows. The electrophoresis analysis (**Figure 1**) and the DLS and ELS measurements (**Table 2**) revealed that physicochemical properties of plasmid DNA complexes were not changed by the polysaccharide type. On the other hand, the lectin affinity assay (**Figure 2**) revealed that the plasmid DNA complexes with spermine derivatives of pullulan and dextran were strongly recognized by the sugar-recognizable lectin, RCA120, which has the same recognition site of asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR). It is possible that the pullulan and dextran chains present on the complex surface is specifically recognized by the lectin, resulting in the formation of complex-lectin aggregates. Several researcher including us have previously found that the ASGPR was expressed in HepG2 cells as well as MSC ²⁰. On the other hand, several researchers have been demonstrated that pullulan of a

polysaccharide accumulates in the liver via the ASGPR at significantly higher amounts than other water-soluble polymers ^{21,22}. Based on these findings, it highly expected that the polysaccharide type affects the cellular internalization of plasmid DNA for HepG2 cells and MSC via ASGPR. This is also supported by the cellular internalization analysis result (Figure 4). The level of gene expression for $M\phi$ was enhanced by the plasmid DNA complex with the spermine derivatives of pullulan and dextran, while the highest gene expression level of DC was observed for the plasmid DNA complex with spermine-dextran (Figures 3D and 3E). This phenomenon may be explained in terms of the difference in the type of surface receptors between the cells. It has been reported that both the ASGP²³ and mannose receptors²⁴ are expressed on the surface of $M\phi$. It is recognized that DC possess mannose receptors on the surface²⁵. On the other hand, several researchers demonstrated that dextran^{26,27} and mannan^{28,29} function as a ligand for the mannose receptor. Taken together, it is conceivable that the recognition difference among the polysaccharides affects the extent of cellular internalization, resulting in modifying the level of gene expression. For HeLa cells, there is no report about the surface receptor to recognize sugar residues. Thus, the reason of the highest gene expression by the plasmid DNA complex with spermine-dextran cannot be claimed from the viewpoint of the cell surface receptor.

REFERENCES

- 1 Gafni Y, Turgeman G, Liebergal M, Pelled G, Gazit Z, Gazit D. Stem cells as vehicles for orthopedic gene therapy. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 417-426.
- 2 Chang SC, Chuang HL, Chen YR, Chen JK, Chung HY, Lu YL *et al.* Ex vivo gene therapy in autologous bone marrow stromal stem cells for tissue-engineered maxillofacial bone regeneration. *Gene Ther* 2003; **10**: 2013-2019.
- 3 Cho KC, Kim SH, Jeong JH, Park TG. Folate receptor-mediated gene delivery using folate-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(L-lysine) conjugate. *Macromol Biosci* 2005; 5: 512-519.
- 4 Turgeman G, Pittman DD, Muller R, Kurkalli BG, Zhou S, Pelled G *et al.* Engineered human mesenchymal stem cells: a novel platform for skeletal cell mediated gene therapy. *J Gene Med* 2001; **3:** 240-251.
- 5 Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. *Nat Med* 2003; **9:** 1195-1201.
- 6 Sato H, Kuwashima N, Sakaida T, Hatano M, Dusak JE, Fellows-Mayle WK *et al.* Epidermal growth factor receptor-transfected bone marrow stromal cells exhibit enhanced migratory response and therapeutic potential against murine brain tumors. *Cancer Gene Ther* 2005; **12:** 757-768.
- 7 Studeny M, Marini FC, Dembinski JL, Zompetta C, Cabreira-Hansen M, Bekele BN *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells: potential precursors for tumor stroma and targeted-delivery vehicles for anticancer agents. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2004; **96**: 1593-1603.
- 8 De Smedt SC, Demeester J, Hennink WE. Cationic polymer based gene delivery systems. *Pharm Res* 2000; **17:** 113-126.
- 9 Ewert K, Slack NL, Ahmad A, Evans HM, Lin AJ, Samuel CE *et al.* Cationic lipid-DNA complexes for gene therapy: understanding the relationship between complex structure and gene delivery pathways at the molecular level. *Curr Med Chem* 2004; **11**: 133-149.

- Pedroso de Lima MC, Neves S, Filipe A, Duzgunes N, Simoes S. Cationic liposomes for gene delivery: from biophysics to biological applications. *Curr Med Chem* 2003; 10: 1221-1231.
- Hirko A, Tang F, Hughes JA. Cationic lipid vectors for plasmid DNA delivery. *Curr Med Chem* 2003; 10: 1185-1193.
- 12 Zhang S, Xu Y, Wang B, Qiao W, Liu D, Li Z. Cationic compounds used in lipoplexes and polyplexes for gene delivery. *J Control Release* 2004; **100**: 165-180.
- 13 Davis ME. Non-viral gene delivery systems. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 2002; **13**: 128-131.
- 14 Brown MD, Schatzlein AG, Uchegbu IF. Gene delivery with synthetic (non viral) carriers. *Int J Pharm* 2001; **229:** 1-21.
- 15 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD *et al.* Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 1999; 284: 143-147.
- 17 Ikada Y, Tabata Y. Phagocytosis of bioactive microspheres. *Journal of Bioactive and Compatible Polymers* 1986; **1:** 32-46.
- 18 Lutz MB, Kukutsch N, Ogilvie AL, Rossner S, Koch F, Romani N *et al.* An advanced culture method for generating large quantities of highly pure dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow. *J Immunol Methods* 1999; **223**: 77-92.
- 19 Lampariello F. Evaluation of the number of positive cells from flow cytometric immunoassays by mathematical modeling of cellular autofluorescence. *Cytometry* 1994; 15: 294-301.
- 20 Jo J, Nagaya N, Miyahara Y, Kataoka M, Harada-Shiba M, Kangawa K *et al.* Transplantation of genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in rats with myocardial infarction: benefit of a novel nonviral vector, cationized dextran. *Tissue Eng* 2007; **13**: 313-322.
- Tanaka T, Fujishima Y, Hanano S, Kaneo Y. Intracellular disposition of polysaccharides in rat liver parenchymal and nonparenchymal cells. *Int J Pharm* 2004;
 286: 9-17.

- 22 Kaneo Y, Tanaka T, Nakano T, Yamaguchi Y. Evidence for receptor-mediated hepatic uptake of pullulan in rats. *J Control Release* 2001; **70:** 365-373.
- 23 Ozaki K, Lee RT, Lee YC, Kawasaki T. The differences in structural specificity for recognition and binding between asialoglycoprotein receptors of liver and macrophages. *Glycoconj J* 1995; **12:** 268-274.
- Hashimoto M, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Shigemasa Y, Yanagie H, Eriguchi M *et al.* Gene transfer by DNA/mannosylated chitosan complexes into mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Biotechnol Lett* 2006; 28: 815-821.
- 25 Wattendorf U, Coullerez G, Voros J, Textor M, Merkle HP. Mannose-based molecular patterns on stealth microspheres for receptor-specific targeting of human antigen-presenting cells. *Langmuir* 2008; **24**: 11790-11802.
- 26 Noorman F, Barrett-Bergshoeff MM, Bekkers M, Emeis JJ, Rijken DC. Inhibition of mannose receptor-mediated clearance of tissue-type plasminogen activator (t-PA) by dextran: a new explanation for its antithrombotic effect. *Thromb Haemost* 1997; 78: 1249-1254.
- 27 Hosseinkhani H, Azzam T, Tabata Y, Domb AJ. Dextran-spermine polycation: an efficient nonviral vector for in vitro and in vivo gene transfection. *Gene Ther* 2004;
 11: 194-203.
- 28 Cui Z, Hsu CH, Mumper RJ. Physical characterization and macrophage cell uptake of mannan-coated nanoparticles. *Drug Dev Ind Pharm* 2003; 29: 689-700.
- 29 Opanasopit P, Hyoudou K, Nishikawa M, Yamashita F, Hashida M. Serum mannan binding protein inhibits mannosylated liposome-mediated transfection to macrophages. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2002; **1570**: 203-209.

Effect of amine compounds introduced to dextran on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION

It has been reported that the level of gene expression is greatly influenced by the physicochemical properties of cationized carriers for complexation including the molecular weight, and the type of amine compounds or the extent for cationization. Among them, amine compounds introduced to the carrier polymer has been known as a factor contributing to not only the cellular internalization, but also the intracellular trafficking, such as the endosomal escape of gene-carrier complex and the travel to the cell nucleus, which regulates the level of gene expression ¹⁻⁶. Since a polysaccharide has many reactive groups, different amine compounds can be chemically introduced to it. In Chapter 1, it was demonstrated that dextran of a polysaccharide was the most effective polysaccharide as a non-viral carrier material of transfection for HeLa cells. In this chapter, various amine compounds were chemically introduced to the dextran, and a plasmid DNA was complexed with the cationized dextran derivatives. In addition to the acid-base titration of cationized dextran derivatives, apparent molecular size and zeta potential measurement, gel retardation, and ethidium bromide intercalation assays of the complexes were carried out to evaluate the physicochemical properties of complexes. In vitro gene expression by the complexes was investigated for HeLa cells to evaluate influence of the complex physicochemical properties.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Dextran with a weight-average molecular weight of 74,000 and amine compounds (**Figure 1**) of ethylenediamine (N2N), N-ethylethylenediamine (N2N2,), N,N-diethylethylenediamine (N2N2,2), spermidine (N3N4N), and spermine (N3N4N3N)

were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Inc., St. Louis, MO. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification.



Figure 1. Chemical structure of amine compounds used for the cationization of dextran: (A)ethylenediamine(N2N),(B)N-ethylethylenediamine(N2N2),(C)N,N-diethylethylenediamine(N2N2,2),(D)spermidine(N3N4N)or(E)spermine(N3N4N3N).

Preparation of cationized dextran derivatives

Each amine compound was chemically introduced to the hydroxyl groups of dextran by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ⁷. Briefly, 9.28×10^{-3} mole of each amine compound and 4.64×10^{-3} mole of CDI were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide containing 50 mg of dextran. Following agitation at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against an ultra-pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days with a dialysis membrane (the cut-off molecular weight = 12,000-14,000, Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, IL). Then, the solution dialyzed was freeze-dried to obtain the amine-introduced dextran (cationized dextran). When determined from the conventional elemental analysis, the molar percentages of amine compounds introduced to the hydroxyl groups of dextran were 36.2, 26.3, 34.3, 25.8, and 23.9 mole% for N2N, N2N2, N2N2,2, N3N4N, and N3N4N3N, respectively (**Table 1**).

Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNA used was the pGL3 vector (5.26 kb) coding a firefly luciferase gene (Luciferase Reporter Vectors-pGL3, Promega, USA). The plasmid DNA was propagated in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of the plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Acid-base titration of cationized dextran

Each cationized dextran with the similar molar amount of amino groups (6.0×10^{-7} mole) was dissolved in DDW. To deprotonize all of amino groups in the cationized dextran, 60 µl of 0.01 N NaOH was added. Potentiometric titration was performed with a Horiba F22 pH meter (HORIBA, Ltd., Kyoto, Japan) using 0.001 N HCl. From the titration curve, the pKa values of cationized dextran were determined based on the Henderson-Haselbalch's equation.

Preparation of polyion complexes (PIC)

PIC were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of cationized dextran with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, varied amounts of cationized dextran were dissolved in 25 μ l of DDW and mixed with 25 μ l of 10 mM phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 2.5 μ g of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain various PIC of cationized dextran and plasmid DNA. The PIC composition was calculated on the basis of the nitrogen number of cationized dextran (N) per the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA (P) and expressed as the N/P ratio.

Electrophoresis of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at different N/P ratios. After 15 min of incubation, 10 μ l of the complex was added to 3 μ l of a loading buffer (0.1% sodium dodecyl

sulfate, 5% glycerol, and 0.005% bromophenol blue) and applied on an 1 wt % agarose gel in Tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid buffer solution (TBE, pH 8.3) containing 0.1 mg/ml ethidium bromide (EtBr). Electrophoretic evaluation of the PIC was carried out in TBE solution at 100 V for 30 min. The gel was imaged with a UV transilluminator (Gel Doc 2000, BIO-RAD laboratories, Segrate, Italy).

Dynamic light scattering (DLS) and electrophoretic light scattering (ELS) of PIC

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at an N/P ratio of 5.0. the DLS measurement was carried out using a DLS-DPA-60HD instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) equipped with an Ar^+ laser at a detection angle of 90° at 25 °C for 15 min. In the present study, the autocorrelation function of samples was analyzed based on the cumulants method and the R_s value was calculated automatically by the equipped computer software and expressed as the apparent molecular size of samples. On the other hand, the zeta potential was measured using ELS-7000AS instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) at 25 °C and an electric field strength of 100 V/cm. From the determined electrophoretic mobility, the zeta potential was automatically calculated using the Smoluchouski equation. Light scattering measurement was done three times for every sample.

Ethidium bromide intercalation assay

A sample containing plasmid DNA (20 μ g/ml) and EtBr (0.4 mg/ml) (plasmid DNA-EtBr complex) was used to calibrate to 100% fluorescence. The cationized dextran was added to an aqueous solution of EtBr at different N/P ratios. The fluorescence intensity of the samples (excitation: 510 nm, emission: 590 nm) was measured 15 min later by Gemini EM fluorescent microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA, USA). The results were expressed as a relative fluorescence intensity (percent decreased against plasmid DNA-EtBr complex).

In vitro gene transfection experiment

44

Effect of amine compounds introduced to dextran on the level of gene expression

Transfection experiments were performed in triplicate. HeLa cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection, Manassas VA, and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 110 mg/ml sodium pyruvate (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA), and 10 vol% fetal calf serum (FCS, Hyclone laboratories, Inc., South Logan, UT) (DMEM-FCS) at 37 °C. Cells were seeded on each well of 12 multi-well cluster plate (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) at a density of 1.25×10^5 cells/well and cultivated in 1 ml of DMEM-FCS for 24 hr. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by fresh Opti MEM medium (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA), the PIC solution (50 µl) was added and incubated for 15 min at room temperature, followed by 6 hr incubation for cell gene transfection. Then, the medium was changed to DMEM-FCS and cells were incubated further for 24 hr.

Cells were washed with PBS twice, lysed in 100 μ l of cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 μ l of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI) was added to 20 μ l of supernatant, while the relative light unit (RLU) of the samples was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) according to the manufacturers' instructions in order to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity. Each experimental group was carried out three times independently.

Evaluation of plasmid DNA internalization

Plasmid DNA was labeled with rhodamine by using Label IT® CX-Rhodamine Labeling Kit (Mirus®, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturers' instructions. After transfection culture wuth the rhodamine-labeled plasmid DNA, the cells were treated in cold acetate-buffered solution containing 0.3 vol.% acetic acid, 0.085 M NaCl, and 5.0 mM KCl for 1 min, then the cells were washed with cold PBS to remove the complexes bound onto the cell surface. The cells of three wells were collected by the trypsinization, and the results were considered as an average value of triplicates, while ten thousand cells were measured by the fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACSCalibur, Becton, Dickinson, and Company, Franklin

Lakes, NJ) with Cell Quest Pro Software. The percentage of rhodamine-positive cells was calculated by setting the background population as 98% negative when analyzing control cells.

Cell viability

Cytotoxicity was assayed using a cell counting kit (Nacalai tesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan). Cells were seeded on each well of 96 multi-well cluster plate (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) at a density of 1.25×10^4 cells/well and cultivated in DMEM-FCS for 24 hr. The medium was changed to the fresh Opti MEM medium, and 5 µl of the PIC solution was applied to each well, follow by 6 hr incubation. Then, the medium was changed to DMEM-FCS and 10 µl of 2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H- tetrazolium (WST-8) solution was added and the cells were incubated further for 3 hr. The absorbance of samples was measured at 450 nm by VERSAmax microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA). The percent cell viability was expressed as 100% for control, non-treated cells.

Statistical Analysis

All the data were expressed as the mean \pm the standard deviation of the mean. Statistical analysis was performed based on the ANOVA, followed by Fisher's PLSD and significance was accepted at *P* < 0.05.

RESULTS

Characterization of cationized dextrans

Figure 2 shows the acid-base titration curves of cationized dextran prepared. The curve profiles depended on the type of amine compounds introduced to dextran. The pKa values of cationized dextran were determined by the curves (**Table 1**). The pKa values of cationized dextran decreased compared with those of original amine compounds used for cationization. **Figure 2B** shows the replotted pH change profiles of cationized dextran as a function of proton addition. When the proton amounts required for pH change from 7.4 to 5.0

were calculated, the orders was N3N4N3N > N2N > N2N2, 2 > N3N4N > N2N2.



Figure 2. (A) Acid-base titration curves of cationized dextran or water (\Box). The amine compound used for cationization is (\bigcirc) N2N, (\blacktriangle) N2N2, (\blacksquare) N2N2,2, (\bigcirc) N3N4N or (\triangle) N3N4N3N. (B) A replotted pH change profiles of cationized dextran as a function of the proton addition.

	-		-		
Cationized dextran		Apparent molecular	Zeta potential (m\/)	Percent internalized	
Amine compound	Percent introduced	^{a)} pKa ^{b)}	size (nm)		
N2N	36.2	7.38	306 ± 105 ^{c)}	+9.22 ± 1.4 ^{c)}	9.7
N2N2	26.3	8.64	3330 ±1750	+9.78 ±1.3	5.0
N2N2,2	34.3	9.08	230 ± 33.4	+11.1 ± 1.0	13.5
N3N4N	25.8	9.64, 7.15	235 ± 66.7	+16.3 ± 1.1	19.8
N3N4N3N	23.9	9.98, 8.02, 7.16	221 ± 77.5	+16.3± 1.4	33.7
_	Free plasmid DNA		655.8 ± 331.1	-14.9 ± 4.6	2.0

Table 1. Physicochemical properties and cellular internalization of plasmid DNA and the complexes with dextran cationized by different amine compounds.

a) The extent of amine compounds introduced to the hydroxyl groups of dextran.

b) Determined by the acid-base titration.

c) Means ± S.D.

Characterization of cationized dextran -plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 3 shows the agarose gel electrophoresis image of cationized dextran -plasmid DNA complexes prepared at different N/P ratios. For all the complexes, the migration of plasmid DNA was retarded with an increase in the N/P ratio, and the plasmid DNA disappeared at the N/P ratio higher than a certain value. The extents of retardation in each N/P ratio were different among cationized dextrans used for complexation.



Figure 3. Agarose gel electrophoresis of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at different N/P ratios. The amine compound used for cationization is (A) N2N, (B) N2N2, (C) N2N2,2, (D) N3N4N or (E) N3N4N3N. The sample applied is (a) DNA marker, (b) free plasmid DNA or complexes prepared at N/P ratios of (c) 0.5, (d) 1.0, (e) 1.5, (f) 2.0, (g) 3.0, and (h) 5.0.

The physicochemical properties of polyion complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 5.0 are summarized in **Table 1**. The apparent molecular size and the zeta potential of free plasmid DNA were around 660 nm and -15 mV, respectively. The polyion complexation of cationized dextran almost reduced the molecular size of plasmid DNA, while the molecular

size oppositely became large for N2N2-introduced dextran. On the other hand, the zeta potential was positive for all the plasmid DNA complexes with cationized dextran, while the values depended on the type of cationized dextrans used for complexation.

Figure 4 shows the solution fluorescence of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at different N/P ratios after EtBr addition. The EtBr fluorescence intensity decreased with an increase in the N/P ratio. The pattern of fluorescence intensity decreased depended on the amine compounds introduced to dextran. At the N/P ratio of 5.0, the EtBr fluorescence intensity became low for the PIC prepared by the cationized dextran s except for N2N2-introduced dextran.





In vitro gene transfection of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 5 shows effect of the amine compound introduced on the luciferase expression of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes for HeLa cells. The level of gene expression was different among the cationized dextrans used. The highest level was observed for the complex of cationized dextran with N3N4N3N-introduced dextran.

 Table 1 summarizes the internalization percentages of complexes with cationized

 dextrans into Hela cells. The highest internalization percentage was observed for the complex

 of spermine-introduced dextran and plasmid DNA.

Chapter 2



Figure 5. Effect of the amine compound introduced on the luciferase expression of cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes for HeLa cells. The amine compound used for cationization is (A) N2N, (B) N2N2, (C) N2N2,2, (D) N3N4N or (E) N3N4N3N. The amount of plasmid DNA applied is 2.5 μ g/well and the N/P ratio is 5.0. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level by complexes prepared with other cationized dextrans.



Figure 6. Effect of the amine compound introduced on the cell viability of HeLa cells transfected with cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 5.0. The amine compound used for cationization is (A) N2N, (B) N2N2, (C) N2N2,2, (D) N3N4N or (E) N3N4N3N.

Figure 6 shows the effect of the the amine compound introduced on the cell viability of HeLa cells transfected with cationized dextran-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 5.0. No cytotoxicity was observed for every complex under the condition where the cell transfection experiment is performed.

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrates that the in vitro gene expression of plasmid DNA was greatly enhanced by the complexation with the cationized dextran and influenced by the type of amine compounds introduced to dextran. In general, for efficient non-viral gene delivery, it is important to design carriers that can electrostatically bind to a genetic material, molecularly condense the material size to a diameter range of several hundred nanometers, protect the material from enzymatic degradation, enhance the cell internalization, and possess a buffering effect to escape from the endosome. In this chapter, the physicochemical properties of complexes were modified by chemical introduction of different amine compounds used. This derivatization resulted in the different levels of gene expression.

Dextran is a water-soluble, naturally-occurring polysaccharide with multiple hydroxyl groups applicable to chemical modification. It also has low immunogenicity and a long history in clinical use as a plasma expander ⁸. In this chapter, the effect of amine compounds introduced to dextran on the physicochemical property of complex and the level of gene expression were investigated.

In this study, five different amine compounds were selected (**Figure 1**). Ethylenediamine (N2N), spermidine (N3N4N), and spermine (N3N4N3N) were selected because the polyamines are present in the body, while N-ethylethylenediamine (N2N2) and N,N-diethylethylenediamine (N2N2,2) were selected to compare the effect of amine structure on the physicochemical property and the gene expression level of cationized dextran complexes. Acid-base titration (**Figure 2A**) revealed that the pKa values of cationized dextran decreased compared with those of original amine compounds used for cationization. This is due to the compound basicity. It is possible that the chemical introduction of amine compounds with the hydroxyl group of dextran produces the amide bond of a electron-withdrawn group, which makes the terminal amino group positive via so-called inductive effect.

DLS and ELS measurements (**Table 1**) and ethidium bromide intercalation assay (**Figure 4**) revealed that the amine compound introduced to dextran greatly affected on the physicochemical properties of plasmid DNA complexes. As shown in **Table 1**, after

51

complexation with dextran cationized by amine compounds except for N2N2, the apparent molecular size of plasmid DNA became smaller, while the apparent size of complexes using N2N2-introduced dextran was larger in comparison with that of the free plasmid DNA. The EtBr intercalation assay (**Figure 4**) also revealed that the strength of interaction between the plasmid DNA and N2N2-introduced dextran was lower than that of other cationized dextrans. These findings may be due to the steric hindrance of ethylene groups next to the secondary amine the complex could not be formed tightly. The zeta potential (**Table 1**) was positive for all complexes although the values depended on the type of cationized dextrans used for complexation. From the pKa determined, the percentage of amino groups protonized at pH of 7.4 can be calculated, which is 49, 94, 98, 68 or 72 for N2N, N2N2, N2N2, 2, N3N4N or N3N4N3N, respectively. The order of zeta potential is in good accordance with that of protonized percentage.

The level of gene expression depended on the amine groups introduced to dextran, while the order was N3N4N3N > N3N4N > N2N > N2N2, 2 > N2N2 (Figure 5). This is explained by terms of plasmid DNA internalized into the cells, the ability for the complexes to escape from the endosome, and the ability for complex to be dissociated and translated in the nucleus. First, the order of plasmid DNA internalization was N3N4N3N > N3N4N > N2N2,2 > N2N > N2N2 (Table 1). It is reported that a cetain range of apparent molecular size and surface state of polyion complexes was effective for the enhancement of plasmid DNA internalization ^{9,10}. The low percentage of plasmid DNA internalization for N2N2-introduced dextran is due to the large molecular size of complex. Second, it is practically important to consider the buffering capacity at pH ranged from 7.4 to 5.0 for successful gene expression. When pH change profiles of cationized dextran from 7.4 to 5.0 were replotted as a function of proton addition, the order of proton amounts required for pH change was N3N4N3N > N2N > N2N2,2 > N3N4N > N2N2 (Figure 2B). Third, the ability of complex for dissociation and translation is also important. When the orders from Figures 2B and 4 and Table 1 are compared with that from Figure 5, we can say with certainty that each step, such as plasmid DNA internalization, escape from the endosome, and dissociation and translation of complex, governs the gene expression. However, more detailed investigations, such as the intracellular fate and stability are required to know the contribution for each step.

REFERENCES

- 1 Fischer D, von Harpe A, Kunath K, Petersen H, Li Y, Kissel T. Copolymers of ethylene imine and N-(2-hydroxyethyl)-ethylene imine as tools to study effects of polymer structure on physicochemical and biological properties of DNA complexes. *Bioconjug Chem* 2002; **13**: 1124-1133.
- 2 Akinc A, Lynn DM, Anderson DG, Langer R. Parallel synthesis and biophysical characterization of a degradable polymer library for gene delivery. *J Am Chem Soc* 2003; **125**: 5316-5323.
- 3 Tseng SJ, Tang SC, Shau MD, Zeng YF, Cherng JY, Shih MF. Structural characterization and buffering capacity in relation to the transfection efficiency of biodegradable polyurethane. *Bioconjug Chem* 2005; **16**: 1375-1381.
- Liu Y, Reineke TM. Poly(glycoamidoamine)s for gene delivery. structural effects on cellular internalization, buffering capacity, and gene expression. *Bioconjug Chem* 2007; 18: 19-30.
- 5 Slita AV, Kasyanenko NA, Nazarova OV, Gavrilova, II, Eropkina EM, Sirotkin AK *et al.* DNA-polycation complexes: effect of polycation structure on physico-chemical and biological properties. *J Biotechnol* 2007; **127:** 679-693.
- 6 Lin C, Engbersen JF. Effect of chemical functionalities in poly(amido amine)s for non-viral gene transfection. *J Control Release* 2008.
- 7 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- 8 Klotz U, Kroemer H. Clinical pharmacokinetic considerations in the use of plasma expanders. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1987; **12**: 123-135.
- 9 Nishikawa M, Huang L. Nonviral vectors in the new millennium: delivery barriers in gene transfer. *Hum Gene Ther* 2001; **12:** 861-870.
- 10 Zhou X, Huang L. DNA transfection mediated by cationic liposomes containing lipopolylysine: characterization and mechanism of action. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; **1189:** 195-203.

Effect of pullulan molecular weight on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION

Several approaches to the cell-specific gene delivery have been investigated by making use of cell-surface receptors ¹ (peptide-recognition receptor ²⁻⁵ or sugar chain-recognition receptor ⁶⁻¹⁰). Generally the ligand for the receptor is covalently linked to the cationized polymers. For example, the liver targeting of a plasmid DNA is achieved through the covalent conjugation of high molecular weight polylysine with asialoorosomucoid ^{11,12}. Coupling of galactose residues enabled polyethylenimine to selectively deliver genes to 13,14 via the asialoglycoprotein receptor-mediated pathway The hepatocytes polysaccharide-based carrier has an advantage over other cationized polymers in terms of the possible cell internalization by a sugar-recognition receptor of cell surface without any ligand coupling.

Pullulan is a water-soluble polysaccharide with a repeated unit of maltotriose condensed through α -1,6 linkage and has an inherent ability to accumulate in the liver ¹⁵ at higher amounts via the asialoglycoprotein receptor than other water-soluble polymers ^{16,17}. In Chapter 1, it was demonstrated that the pullulan was the most effective as a non-viral carrier material of transfection for HepG2 cells of a human hepatoma cell line. In addition, Chapter 2 demonstrated that cationization with spermine converted dextran of a polysaccharide to a non-viral carrier of plasmid DNA with transfection efficiency higher than that with other amine compounds.

It is well recognized that the molecular weight of carrier polymer is one of the factors contributing to the level of gene expression ¹⁸⁻²⁰. In this chapter, thus, pullulan with different molecular weights was cationized by the chemical introduction of spermine and a plasmid DNA was complexed with the cationized pullulan derivatives. The complexes were characterized in terms of the apparent molecular size and zeta potential, while the complex formation behavior was evaluated by the solution turbidity, gel retardation, and EtBr

intercalation examinations. In addition, and lectin-induced aggregation assays were carried out to examine the susceptibility to sugar recognition. The effect of complex physicochemical properties on the in vitro gene expression by the complexes was investigated for HepG2 cells.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Pullulan with different weight-average molecular weights, 5,900, 11,800, 22,800, 47,300, 112,000, and 212,000 was purchased from Hayashibara Biochemical Laboratories, Inc., Okayama, Japan. Spermine was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification.

Preparation of cationized pullulan derivatives

Spermine was introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ²¹. Spermine and CDI were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide containing 50 mg of pullulan (Table 1). Following agitation at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against ultra-pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days. (The cut-off molecular weight of dialysis membrane is 1,000 for pullulan with molecular weights of 5,900 and 11,800, Spectrum Laboratories, Inc., Rancho Domiguez, CA, USA. and 12,000-14,000 for pullulan with molecular weights from 22,800 to 212,000, Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, Illinois.). Then, the solution dialyzed was freeze-dried to obtain the samples of spermine-introduced pullulan (spermine-pullulan). The spermine introduction was determined from the conventional elemental analysis and expressed by the molar extent of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan.

Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNA used was the pGL3 vector (5.26 kb) coding for a firefly luciferase gene (Luciferase Reporter Vectors-pGL3, Promega, USA). The plasmid DNA was propagated

in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of the plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Preparation of polyion complexes (PIC)

PIC were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of spermine-pullulan with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, varied amounts of spermine-pullulan were dissolved in 50 µl of DDW and mixed with 50 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 100 µg of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain various PIC of spermine-pullulan and plasmid DNA. The PIC composition was calculated on the basis of the nitrogen number of spermine-pullulan (N) per the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA (P) and expressed as the N/P ratio.

Electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at different N/P ratios. After 15 min of incubation, 10 μ l of the complex was added to 3 μ l of a loading buffer (0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 5% glycerol, and 0.005% bromophenol blue) and applied on an 1 wt % agarose gel in Tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid buffer solution (TBE, pH 8.3) containing 0.1 mg/ml ethidium bromide (EtBr). Electrophoretic evaluation of the PIC was carried out in TBE solution at 100 V for 30 min. The gel was imaged with a UV transilluminator (Gel Doc 2000, BIO-RAD laboratories, Segrate, Italy).

Characterization of PIC by dynamic light scattering (DLS) and electrophoretic light scattering (ELS)

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at an N/P ratio of 3.0. DLS measurement was carried out using a DLS-DPA-60HD instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) equipped with an Ar^+ laser at a detection angle of 90° at 25 °C for 15 min. In the

present study, the autocorrelation function of samples was analyzed based on the cumulants method and the R_s value was calculated automatically by the equipped computer software and expressed as the apparent molecular size of samples. On the other hand, the zeta potential was measured using ELS-7000AS instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) at 25 °C and an electric field strength of 100 V/cm. From the determined electrophoretic mobility, the zeta potential was automatically calculated using the Smoluchouski equation. Light scattering measurement was done three times for every sample.

Ethidium bromide intercalation assay

A sample containing plasmid DNA (20 μ g/ml) and EtBr (0.4 mg/ml) (plasmid DNA-EtBr complex) was used to calibrate to 100% fluorescence. Spermine-pullulan was added to an aqueous solution of EtBr at different N/P ratios. The fluorescence intensity of the samples (excitation: 510 nm, emission: 590 nm) was measured 15 min later by Gemini EM fluorescent microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA, USA). The results were expressed as a relative fluorescence intensity (percent decreased against plasmid DNA-EtBr complex).

Lectin-induced aggregation of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at an N/P of 3.0, followed by incubation at room temperature for 15 min. To 100 μ l of the PIC solution, 100 μ l of *Ricinus communis agglutinin* (RCA120, Seikagaku Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, 500 μ g/ml) was added and incubated at room temperature. Time profiles of the solution turbidity in the pre-determined time were measured at a wavelength of 500 nm. To confirm the specificity of lectin-sugar interaction, RCA120 containing galactose was added to the PIC solution and then the similar turbidity measurement was performed. The results were expressed as a relative absorbance (percent increased against spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complex).

In vitro gene transfection experiment

Transfection experiments were performed in triplicate. HepG2 cells were purchased

from American Type Culture Collection, Manassas VA, USA and maintained in Minimal Essential Mediu (MEM) supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acid solution (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA), and 10 vol% fetal calf serum (FCS, Hyclone laboratories, Inc., Utah, USA) (MEM-FCS) at 37 ° C. Cells were seeded on each well of six-well cluster dish (Corning, NY, USA) at a density of 4×10^5 cells/well and cultivated in 2 ml of MEM-FCS for 24 hr. PIC were formed by mixing 50 µl of DDW containing spermine-pullulan and 50 µl of PBS containing 5 µg of pGL3-luciferase plasmid DNA at different N/P ratios. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by fresh Opti MEM medium (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA), 100 µl of the PIC solution was added and incubated for 15 min at room temperature, followed by 6 hr incubation for cell transfection. Then, the medium was changed to MEM-FCS and cells were incubated further for 42 hr.

Cells were washed with PBS once, lysed in 200 µl of cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 µl of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA) was added to 20 µl of supernatant while the relative light unit (RLU) of the samples was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) according to the manufacturers' instructions in order to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity. Each experimental group was carried out three times independently. Asialofetuin (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA), which is a natural ligand for the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR), with a concentration of 1 mg/ml was pre-incubated for 1 hr, and then the similar transfection experiment was performed to evaluate the suppression effect on the level of gene expression.

Cell viability

Cytotoxicity was assayed using a cell counting kit (Nacalai tesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan). Cells were seeded on each well of 96-well cluster dish (Corning, NY, USA) at a

density of 1×10^4 cells/well and cultivated in MEM-FCS for 24 hr. The medium was changed to the fresh Opti MEM medium, and 10 µl of the PIC solution was applied to each well, follow by 6 hr incubation. Then, the medium was changed to MEM-FCS and 100 µl of 2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (WST-8) solution was added and the cells were incubated further for 3 hr. The absorbance of samples was measured at 450 nm by VERSAmax microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA, USA). The percent cell viability was expressed as 100% for control, non-treated cells.

Statistical Analysis

All the data were expressed as the mean \pm the standard deviation of the mean. Statistical analysis was performed based on the ANOVA, followed by Fisher's PLSD and significance was accepted at *P* < 0.05.

RESULTS

Cationization of pullulan

Spermine was introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan with different molecular weights by the CDI activation method (**Table 1**). The extent of spermine introduced could be changed by altering the amount of CDI added initially (data not shown). Irrespective of the pullulan molecular weight, the extent of spermine introduced was around 10%.

Characterization of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 1 shows the electrophoretic image of polyion complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan prepared at various N/P ratios. Migration of plasmid DNA was retarded with an increase in the N/P ratio, but was not observed at the N/P ratio higher than a certain value.

Pullulan			
Molecular weight	[CDI]/[OH] ^{a)}	[Spe]/[OH] ^{b)}	Percent introduced] b)
5,800	1.5	10	12.9
11,800	1.5	10	12.3
22,800	1.5	10	11.0
47,300	1.5	10	12.3
112,000	1.5	10	10.7
212,000	1.5	10	9.74

Table 1. Preparation and characterization of spermine-pullulan with different molecular weights.

a) Molar ratio of N,N'-carbonyldi-imidazole (CDI) initially added to the hydroxyl groups (OH) of pullulan.

b) Molar percentage of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan.



Figure 1. Agarose gel electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at different N/P ratios. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. The sample applied is (a) DNA marker, (b) free plasmid DNA or complexes prepared at N/P ratios of (c) 0.5, (d) 1.0, (e) 1.5, (f) 2.0, (g) 3.0, and (h) 5.0.

Table 2. Apparent molecular size and zeta potential of free plasmid
DNA and complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan with
different molecular weights.

Pullulan		Apparent molecular	$Z_{\text{otopotoptical}}(m)/)$	
Molecular weight	Percent introduced] a)	size (nm)		
5,800	12.9	1530.4 ± 727.6 ^{b)}	+11.3 \pm 0.73 ^{b)}	
11,800	12.3	1286.1 ± 0	$+14.4 \pm 0.47$	
22,800	11.0	326.5 ± 139.5	$+14.3 \pm 0.24$	
47,300	12.3	245.6 ± 56.8	$+15.0 \pm 0.29$	
112,000	10.7	259.3 ± 134.7	$+13.4 \pm 0.44$	
212,000	9.74	279.5 ± 127.0	+14.1 ± 0.68	
Free plasmid DNA		409.5 ± 61.2	-14.7 ± 9.5	

a) The extent of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan.

b) Means \pm S.D.

Table 2 summarizes the physicochemical properties of polyion complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0. The apparent molecular size and the zeta potential of free plasmid DNA were around 400 nm and -15 mV, respectively. The polyion complexation of spermine-pullulan with molecular weights of 22,800, 47,300, 112,000, and 212,000 reduced the molecular size of plasmid DNA, but the molecular size oppositely became large for smaller spermine-pullulan. On the other hand, irrespective of the pullulan molecular weight, the zeta potential was around +14 mV.

Figure 2 shows the relative fluorescence intensity of plasmid DNA intercalated with EtBr after addition of spermine-pullulan. The EtBr fluorescence intensity decreased with an increase in the N/P ratio. The pattern of fluorescence intensity decreased depended on the molecular weights of spermine-pullulan. At the N/P ratios higher than 1.5, the EtBr fluorescence intensity became low for the PIC prepared by the spermine derivatives of pullulan with molecular weights of 22,800, 47,300, 112,000 and 212,000, while that of pullulan with molecular weights of 5,900 and 11,800 exhibited fluorescence intensity decrement at the higher N/P ratio.



Figure 2. Solution fluorescence of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at different N/P ratios after EtBr addition. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (\bigcirc) 5,900, (\bigtriangleup) 11,800, (\blacksquare) 22,800, (\bigcirc) 47,300, (\blacktriangle) 112,000 or (\Box) 212,000.
Effect of pullulan molecular weight on the level of gene expression

Figure 3 shows the time profile of relative absorbance of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes after addition of RCA120 lectin, which recognizes galactose residues. The relative absorbance increased time-dependently. The pattern of relative absorbance increased depended on the molecular weights of spermine-pullulan (**Figure 3A**). The extent of relative absorbance increased for the PIC prepared by the spermine derivatives of pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 was higher than that of pullulan with other molecular weights. In addition, the extent of relative absorbance increased for the PIC prepared for the PIC prepared by the spermine derivatives of pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 was higher than that of pullulan with other molecular weights. In addition, the extent of relative absorbance increased for the PIC prepared by the spermine derivatives of pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 decreased by addition of galactose, which was dependent of the concentration of galactose. (**Figure 3B**).



Figure 3. (A) Time course of the turbidity change of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3 after RCA 120 addition. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (•) 5,900, (\triangle) 11,800, (**n**) 22,800, (\circ) 47,300, (**A**) 112,000 or (**n**) 212,000. (B) Time course of the turbidity change of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3 after RCA 120 addition in the presence of galactose with different concentrations. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. The galactose concentration is (•) 150, (\triangle) 100, (**n**) 50 or (\circ) 0 mg/ml.

In vitro gene transfection of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 4 shows the effect of pullulan molecular weight on the level of gene expression for HepG2 cells. The level of gene expression was different among the spermine-pullulan derivatives used. The highest level was observed for the complex of spermine derivative of pullulan with the molecular weight of 47,300.



Figure 4. Effect of the pullulan molecular weight on the luciferase expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The amount of plasmid DNA applied is 5 μ g/well and the N/P ratio is 3.0. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of complexes prepared with other spermine-pullulans.

Figures 5A and B show the effect of the N/P ratio and the plasmid DNA amount on the level of gene expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells, respectively. The maximum level was observed for the complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0 (Figure 5A), while the level became plateau at the plasmid amounts of 2.5 μ g/ ml (Figure 5B).



Figure 5. (A) Effect of the N/P ratio on the level of gene expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The plasmid DNA amount is 5 μ g/well. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of complexes prepared at other N/P ratios. (B) Effect of the plasmid DNA amount on the level of gene expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The N/P ratio is 3.0. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of complexes the expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The N/P ratio is 3.0. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of complexes at other plasmid DNA amounts.



Figure 6. Effect of asialofetuin addition on the level of luciferase expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0 for HepG2 cells. Cells were pre-treated with asialofetuin before usual gene transfection. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300, and the plasmid DNA amount is 5 μ g/well. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of cells transfected without asialofetuin addition.

Figure 6 shows the effect of asialofetuin addition on the level of gene expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The level decreased in the presence of asialofetuin pre-treated.

Cytotoxicity of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 7 shows the viability of cells 3 hr after exposure of PIC prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0. The cell viability decreased with the increased amount of plasmid DNA added, although it tended to decrease with an increase in the molecular weight of pullulan complexed. However, the similar cytotoxicity was observed for every complex at the concentration of 0.25 μ g/ml where the cell transfection experiment is performed.



Figure 7. Effect of the plasmid DNA amount on the cell viability of HepG2 cells transfected with spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (\bullet) 5,900, (\triangle) 11,800, (\blacksquare) 22,800, (\bigcirc) 47,300, (\blacktriangle) 112,000 or (\square) 212,000. The viability of cells without transfection is indicated as 100%.

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrates that the in vitro gene expression of plasmid DNA was greatly enhanced by complexation with the spermine-pullulan derivatives and influenced by the molecular weight of pullulan.

Electrophoresis analysis revealed that retarded or no migration of plasmid DNA was observed at an N/P ratio of 1.5 (**Figure 1**). In addition, relative fluorescence of plasmid DNA intercalated with EtBr was reduced by addition of spermine-pullulan at the N/P ratio of 1.5,

Effect of pullulan molecular weight on the level of gene expression

except for spermine derivatives of pullulan with molecular weights of 5,900 and 11,200. These findings indicate that the spermine-pullulan formed a polyion complex with the plasmid DNA at the N/P ratio higher than 1.5. Considering the reaction conditions to prepare spermine-pullulan derivatives, it is likely that spermine residues are randomly introduced at equal distance intervals on the sugar main chain although the chain length is different by the molecular weight of pullulan. When a spermine residue on the sugar chain interacts with a plasmid DNA, other residues subsequently interact with the plasmid DNA because the spermine residues are linked on the sugar chain. The longer the sugar chain of spemine-pullulan derivatives or the higher the extent of spermine introduced, it is conceivable that the plasmid DNA interacts to form the complex more easily.

DLS and ELS measurements (**Table 2**) and ethidium bromide intercalation assay (**Figure 2**) revealed that the molecular weight of pullulan greatly affected several physicochemical properties of plasmid DNA complexes with spermine-pullulan. As shown in **Table 2**, after complexation with spermine-pullulan of higher molecular weights ranging from 22,800 to 212,000, the apparent molecular size of plasmid DNA became smaller, while the apparent size of complexes using lower molecular weights of pullulan (5,900 and 11,800) was larger in comparison with that of the free plasmid DNA. The EtBr intercalation assay revealed that the extent of compaction for polyion complexes became smaller for pullulan with lower molecular weights (5,900 and 11,800). It is possible that the molecular chain of spermine-pullulan with higher molecular weights was long enough to condense the plasmid DNA. The short molecular chain of pullulan does not allow the plasmid DNA to condense in size, but form an aggregate structure. On the other hand, the zeta potential of all the complexes was positive value about +14 mV, irrespective of the pullulan molecular weight (**Table 2**). This may be due to the excessive positive charge of spermine-pullulan which is not involved in complexation with plasmid DNA.

The level of gene expression depended on the type of spermine-pullulan derivatives used. This is caused not only by physicochemical properties of polyion complexes, such as the apparent molecular size, the extent of compaction, and the stability of polyion complexes, but also by the interaction of polyion complexes with receptors of cell surface. It is reported that a cetain range of apparent molecular size of polyion complexes is effective for the enhancement of in vitro gene expression ^{22,23}. Complexation with spermine-pullulan with molecular weights ranging from 22,800 to 212,000, reduced the molecular size of plasmid DNA, whereas smaller spermine-pullulan did not. It is possible that the compacted complex of reduced size is internalized by cells, resulting in enhanced gene expression. The molecular size of complex will be one of the factors affecting the level of gene expression.

In addition, it is well known that the extent of EtBr intercalated into plasmid DNA is affected by the conformational change of plasmid DNA molecules and the molecular condensation of plasmid DNA ²⁴. Intercalation with the spermine-pullulan induces the molecular changes, resulting in EtBr release from plasmid DNA which is detected by decrease in the fluorescent intensity. The release will be accelerated as the interaction becomes stronger. The relative fluorescence intensity was not decreased after addition of spermine-pullulan with lower molecular weights at the N/P ratio of 1.5. This suggests that the interaction force with the plasmid DNA was not strong enough to form a complex for efficient gene transfection.

On the other hand, it is recognized that it is necessary for successful gene transfection to dissociate the plasmid DNA and the carrier inside the cells ²⁵. The dissociation suppression caused by too strong interaction, so-called complex stability too high will oppositely reduces the level of gene expression. A thermodynamic model demonstrates that the dissociation probability decreases with an increase in the amino groups present in a polymer chain ²⁶. Since the amount of spermine introduced into one pullulan molecule increases with the increasing molecular weight, it may be that the dissociation probability of complex decreases with the molecular weight of pullulan. It is likely that the balance of complex stability governed by the interaction force between the plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan results in the highest level of gene expression for the complex of spermine derivative of pullulan with the molecular weight of 47,300.

Lectin-induced aggregation assays revealed that the surface property of plasmid DNA complexes with the spermine-pullulan was greatly influenced by the molecular weight of pullulan. As shown in **Figure 3**, the plasmid DNA complex with the spermine derivative of

68

Effect of pullulan molecular weight on the level of gene expression

pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 could interact strongly with the RCA120, which recognizes galactose residues. It is well known that the ASGPR also recognizes the galactose residues. Taken together, it is possible that the plasmid DNA complex with the spermine derivative of pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 with an inherent affinity for the ASGPR is effectively internalized by cells, resulting in enhanced gene expression. In addition, it is reported that an asialoglycoprotein receptor is expressed on the surface of HepG2 cells. As shown in **Figure 6**, the level of gene expression decreased in the presence of asialofetuin, whereas no decrement effect was observed for one of the transfection regents commercially available, Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA) (data not shown). There have been many research papers about gene delivery system with polymers targetable to ASGPR⁵⁻⁸. Complexation with a galactosylated polymer or an ASGPR-targeting protein-conjugated polymer enabled plasmid DNAs to selectively deliver to hepatocytes, while the gene expression was suppressed by addition of asialofetuin. Taken together, it is conceivable that the in vitro gene transfection by the spermine-pullulan was facilitated by the ASGPR-mediated uptake.

REFERENCES

- 1 Vyas SP, Singh A, Sihorkar V. Ligand-receptor-mediated drug delivery: an emerging paradigm in cellular drug targeting. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst* 2001; **18:** 1-76.
- 2 Kunath K, Merdan T, Hegener O, Haberlein H, Kissel T. Integrin targeting using RGD-PEI conjugates for in vitro gene transfer. *J Gene Med* 2003; **5:** 588-599.
- 3 Voinea M, Dragomir E, Manduteanu I, Simionescu M. Binding and uptake of transferrin-bound liposomes targeted to transferrin receptors of endothelial cells. *Vascul Pharmacol* 2002; **39:** 13-20.
- Cho KC, Kim SH, Jeong JH, Park TG. Folate receptor-mediated gene delivery using folate-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(L-lysine) conjugate. *Macromol Biosci* 2005; 5: 512-519.
- Kim TG, Kang SY, Kang JH, Cho MY, Kim JI, Kim SH *et al.* Gene transfer into human hepatoma cells by receptor-associated protein/polylysine conjugates.
 Bioconjug Chem 2004; 15: 326-332.
- Kawakami S, Yamashita F, Nishida K, Nakamura J, Hashida M. Glycosylated cationic liposomes for cell-selective gene delivery. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst* 2002; 19: 171-190.
- Singh M, Ariatti M. Targeted gene delivery into HepG2 cells using complexes containing DNA, cationized asialoorosomucoid and activated cationic liposomes. J Control Release 2003; 92: 383-394.
- 8 Wakebayashi D, Nishiyama N, Yamasaki Y, Itaka K, Kanayama N, Harada A *et al.* Lactose-conjugated polyion complex micelles incorporating plasmid DNA as a targetable gene vector system: their preparation and gene transfecting efficiency against cultured HepG2 cells. *J Control Release* 2004; **95:** 653-664.
- Diebold SS, Plank C, Cotten M, Wagner E, Zenke M. Mannose receptor-mediated gene delivery into antigen presenting dendritic cells. *Somat Cell Mol Genet* 2002; 27: 65-74.
- 10 Takei Y, Maruyama A, Ferdous A, Nishimura Y, Kawano S, Ikejima K *et al.* Targeted gene delivery to sinusoidal endothelial cells: DNA nanoassociate bearing

hyaluronan-glycocalyx. Faseb J 2004; 18: 699-701.

- Stankovics J, Crane AM, Andrews E, Wu CH, Wu GY, Ledley FD. Overexpression of human methylmalonyl CoA mutase in mice after in vivo gene transfer with asialoglycoprotein/polylysine/DNA complexes. *Hum Gene Ther* 1994; 5: 1095-1104.
- 12 Kwoh DY, Coffin CC, Lollo CP, Jovenal J, Banaszczyk MG, Mullen P *et al.* Stabilization of poly-L-lysine/DNA polyplexes for in vivo gene delivery to the liver.
 Biochim Biophys Acta 1999; **1444:** 171-190.
- 13 Zanta MA, Boussif O, Adib A, Behr JP. In vitro gene delivery to hepatocytes with galactosylated polyethylenimine. *Bioconjug Chem* 1997; **8:** 839-844.
- Bettinger T, Remy JS, Erbacher P. Size reduction of galactosylated PEI/DNA complexes improves lectin-mediated gene transfer into hepatocytes. *Bioconjug Chem* 1999; 10: 558-561.
- 15 Yamaoka T, Tabata Y, Ikada Y. Body distribution profile of polysaccharide after intravenous administration. *Drug Delivery* 1993; 1.
- 16 Kaneo Y, Tanaka T, Nakano T, Yamaguchi Y. Evidence for receptor-mediated hepatic uptake of pullulan in rats. *J Control Release* 2001; **70:** 365-373.
- Tanaka T, Fujishima Y, Hanano S, Kaneo Y. Intracellular disposition of polysaccharides in rat liver parenchymal and nonparenchymal cells. *Int J Pharm* 2004;
 286: 9-17.
- 18 Ishii T, Okahata Y, Sato T. Mechanism of cell transfection with plasmid/chitosan complexes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2001; **1514**: 51-64.
- 19 Fischer D, Bieber T, Li Y, Elsasser HP, Kissel T. A novel non-viral vector for DNA delivery based on low molecular weight, branched polyethylenimine: effect of molecular weight on transfection efficiency and cytotoxicity. *Pharm Res* 1999; 16: 1273-1279.
- Godbey WT, Wu KK, Mikos AG. Size matters: molecular weight affects the efficiency of poly(ethylenimine) as a gene delivery vehicle. *J Biomed Mater Res* 1999; 45: 268-275.
- 21 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.

- 22 Nishikawa M, Huang L. Nonviral vectors in the new millennium: delivery barriers in gene transfer. *Hum Gene Ther* 2001; **12:** 861-870.
- Zhou X, Huang L. DNA transfection mediated by cationic liposomes containing lipopolylysine: characterization and mechanism of action. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; **1189:** 195-203.
- 24 Sambrook J, Russell DW. *Molecular Cloning : a laboratory manual*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: New York, 2001.
- 25 Koping-Hoggard M, Varum KM, Issa M, Danielsen S, Christensen BE, Stokke BT *et al.* Improved chitosan-mediated gene delivery based on easily dissociated chitosan polyplexes of highly defined chitosan oligomers. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 1441-1452.
- Schaffer DV, Fidelman NA, Dan N, Lauffenburger DA. Vector unpacking as a potential barrier for receptor-mediated polyplex gene delivery. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 2000; 67: 598-606.

Effect of the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION

Complexation with non-viral carrier materials, such as cationized polymers ¹ and cationized liposomes ²⁻⁴, enable plasmid DNA to neutralize the anionic charge as well as to reduce the molecular size, which is preferable to enhance the efficiency of plasmid DNA transfection. It is well recognized that the extent of cationized residues introduced to the carrier polymer is one factor contributing to the level of gene expression ⁵⁻⁸. Based on the results in Chapters 1, 2, and 3, it was demonstrated that spermine derivatives of pullulan with several molecular weights had effective gene transfection efficiency for HepG2 cells. In this chapter, pullulan with several molecular weights was cationized by the chemical introduced. A plasmid DNA was complexed with the cationized pullulan derivatives in aqueous solution, and the apparent molecular size and zeta potential of the complexes were measured. In addition, their physicochemical properties were evaluated in terms of the solution turbidity, gel retardation, dissociation resistance by heparin, lectin binding, and EtBr intercalation assays. In vitro gene expression by the complexes for HepG2 cells of a human hepatoma cell line was investigated to assess the effect of complex physicochemical properties.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Pullulan with different weight-average molecular weights, 22,800, 47,300, and 112,000 was purchased from Hayashibara Biochemical Laboratories, Inc., Okayama, Japan. Spermine was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification.

Preparation of cationized pullulan derivatives

Spermine was introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ⁹. Spermine and CDI were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide containing 50 mg of pullulan (**Table 1**). Following agitation using magnetic stirrer at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against ultra-pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days with a dialysis membrane (the cut-off molecular weight of dialysis membrane is 12,000-14,000, Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, Illinois.). Then, the solution dialyzed was freeze-dried to obtain the samples of spermine-introduced pullulan (spermine-pullulan). The spermine introduction was determined from the conventional elemental analysis and expressed by the molar percentage of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan.

Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNA used was the pGL3 vector (5.26 kb) coding for a firefly luciferase gene (Luciferase Reporter Vectors-pGL3, Promega, USA). The plasmid DNA was propagated in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of the plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Preparation of polyion complexes (PIC)

PIC were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of spermine-pullulan with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, varied amounts of spermine-pullulan were dissolved in 50 µl of DDW and mixed with 50 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 100 µg of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain various PIC of spermine-pullulan and plasmid DNA. The PIC composition was calculated on the basis of the nitrogen number of spermine-pullulan (N) per the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA (P) and expressed as the N/P ratio.

Turbidity measurement for spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

To evaluate the PIC formation of plasmid DNA with the spermine-pullulan, the solution turbidity was measured at a wavelength of 500 nm in 100 mM sodium phosphate-buffered solution (pH 7.4) at different ionic strengths. The concentration of plasmid DNA solution was fixed at 100 μ g/ml for the turbidity measurement.

Electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at different N/P ratios. After 15 min of incubation, 10 μ l of the complex was added to 3 μ l of a loading buffer (0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 5% glycerol, and 0.005% bromophenol blue) and applied on an 1 wt % agarose gel in Tris-borate-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid buffer solution (TBE, pH 8.3) containing 0.1 mg/ml ethidium bromide (EtBr). Electrophoretic evaluation of the PIC was carried out in TBE solution at 100 V for 30 min. The gel was imaged with a UV transilluminator (Gel Doc 2000, BIO-RAD laboratories, Segrate, Italy). To 100 μ l of the PIC, 900 μ l of heparin at concentrations of 6.25 and 12.5 μ g/ml was added, followed by incubation at room temperature for 30 min, and then the similar electrophoresis analysis was performed to evaluate the dissociation resistance of PIC against heparin.

Characterization of PIC by dynamic light scattering (DLS) and electrophoretic light scattering (ELS)

PIC were prepared in 10 mM PBS solution at a N/P ratio of 3.0. DLS measurement was carried out using a DLS-DPA-60HD instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) equipped with an Ar⁺ laser at a detection angle of 90° at 25 °C for 15 min. In the present study, the autocorrelation function of samples was analyzed based on the cumulant method and the R_s value was calculated automatically by the equipped computer software and expressed as the apparent molecular size of samples. On the other hand, the zeta potential was measured using ELS-7000AS instrument (Otsuka Electronic Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan) at 25 °C and an electric field strength of 100 V/cm. From the determined electrophoretic mobility, the zeta potential was automatically calculated using the Smoluchouski equation. Light scattering

measurement was done three times for every sample. The PIC used in this measurement was diluted enough to prevent multiple scattering.

Ethidium bromide intercalation assay

A sample containing plasmid DNA (20 μ g/ml) and EtBr (0.4 mg/ml) (plasmid DNA-EtBr complex) was used to calibrate to 100% fluorescence. Spermine-pullulan was added to an aqueous solution of EtBr at different N/P ratios. The fluorescence intensity of the samples (excitation: 510 nm, emission: 590 nm) was measured 15 min later by Gemini EM fluorescent microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA, USA). The results were expressed as a relative fluorescence intensity (percent decreased against plasmid DNA-EtBr complex).

Lectin-induced aggregation of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

PIC were prepared in PBS at an N/P of 3.0, followed by incubation at room temperature for 15 min. To 100 μ l of the PIC solution, 100 μ l of *Ricinus communis agglutinin* of lectin recognizable to galactose (RCA120, Seikagaku Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, 500 μ g/ml) was added, followed by incubation at room temperature. The time profile of solution turbidity change was measured at a wavelength of 500 nm. To confirm the specificity of lectin-sugar interaction, RCA120 containing galactose was added to the PIC solution and then the similar turbidity measurement was performed. The results were expressed as the percentage of the solution absorbance to that of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complex alone.

In vitro gene transfection experiment

Transfection experiments were performed independently in triplicate. HepG2 cells of a human hepatoma cell line were purchased from American Type Culture Collection, Manassas VA, USA and maintained in Minimal Essential Medium (MEM) supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acid solution (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA), and 10 vol% fetal calf serum (FCS, Hyclone laboratories, Inc., Utah, USA) (MEM-FCS) at 37 ° C. Cells were seeded on each well of six-well cluster dish (Corning, NY, USA) at a density of 4×10^5 cells/well and cultivated in 2 ml of MEM-FCS for 24 hr. PIC were formed by mixing 50 µl of DDW containing the spermine-pullulan and 50 µl of PBS containing 5 µg of the pGL3-luciferase plasmid DNA at different N/P ratios. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by fresh Opti MEM medium (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA), 100 µl of the PIC solution was added and incubated for 15 min at room temperature, followed by 6 hr incubation for cell transfection. Then, the medium was changed to MEM-FCS and cells were incubated further for 42 hr.

Cells were washed with PBS once, lysed in 200 µl of a cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 µl of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA) was added to 20 µl of supernatant while the relative light unit (RLU) of the samples was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) according to the manufacturers' instructions in order to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity. Each experimental group was carried out three times independently. Asialofetuin (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA, 1 mg/ml) which is a natural ligand for the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR), were pre-incubated for 1 hr, and then the similar transfection experiment was performed to evaluate the suppression effect on the level of gene expression.

Cell viability

Cytotoxicity was assayed using a cell counting kit (Nacalai tesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan). Cells were seeded on each well of 96-well cluster dish (Corning, NY, USA) at a density of 1×10^4 cells/well and cultivated in MEM-FCS for 24 hr. The medium was changed to the fresh Opti MEM medium, and 10 µl of the PIC solution was applied to each well, follow by 6 hr incubation. Then, the medium was changed to MEM-FCS and 100 µl of 2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium

(WST-8) solution was added and the cells were incubated further for 3 hr. The absorbance of samples was measured at 450 nm by VERSAmax microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA, USA). The percent cell viability was expressed as 100% for control, non-treated cells.

Statistical Analysis

All the data were expressed as the mean \pm the standard deviation of the mean. Statistical analysis was performed based on the ANOVA, followed by Fisher's PLSD and significance was accepted at *P* <0.05.

RESULTS

Cationization of pullulan

Spermine was introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan by the CDI activation method (**Table 1**). The extent of spermine introduced could be changed by altering the amount of CDI added initially, and it was irrespective of the pullulan molecular weight.

Pullulan	[CDI]/[OH] ^{a)}						
Molecular weight	0.5	1.0	1.5	3.0	5.0		
22,800	2.69 ^{b)}	5.60	11.0	23.0	32.5		
47,300	1.07	5.95	12.3	20.4	32.9		
112,000	2.19	7.35	10.7	26.3	33.1		

Table 1. Preparation and characterization of spermine-pullulan with different percentages of spermine introduced ^{c)}.

a) Molar ratio of N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) initially added to the hydroxyl groups (OH) of pullulan.

b) Molar percentage of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan.

c) Each spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

Characterization of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 1 shows the turbidity result of PIC solution to experimentally confirm the complexation of spermine-pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 and different percentages of spermine introduced with the plasmid DNA. In the turbidity experiment, increment or decrement of solution turbidity shows association or dissociation of PIC, respectively. As the ionic strength of solution became higher, the solution turbidity decreased for complexes of spermine-pullulan with percentages of spermine introduced prepared at the molar ratio of CDI initially added to the hydroxyl groups (OH) of pullulan ([CDI]/[OH]) of 1.0, 1.5, 3.0, and 5.0. However, for complexes of spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] of 0.5, no solution turbidity was observed for all the ionic strengths studied.



Figure 1. Solution turbidity of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3.0 as a function of the solution ionic strength in complex preparation. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. The [CDI]/[OH] ratio of spermine-pullulan used for cationization is (\bigcirc) 0.5, (\bigtriangleup) 1.0, (\blacksquare) 1.5, (\bigcirc) 3.0 or (\blacktriangle) 5.0..

Figure 2 shows the electrophoretic patterns of polyion complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan with a molecular weight of 47,300 and different percentages of spermine introduced prepared at a N/P ratio of 3.0. Migration of plasmid DNA was retarded with an increase in the introduction percentage. No retardation was observed for the complex of spemine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] of 0.5.



Figure 2. Agarose gel electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3.0. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. The sample applied is (a) DNA marker, (b) free plasmid DNA or complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of (c) 0.5, (d) 1.0, (e) 1.5, (f) 3.0 or (g) 5.0. The spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

Figure 3 shows the electrophoretic patterns of polyion complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan with different molecular weights and percentages of spermine introduced in the presence of different concentrations of heparin. EtBr exclusion in the presence of heparin showed that the complexes of spermine-pullulan and plasmid DNA were stable and not dissociated. Although heparin addition dissociated the plasmid DNA complexes of spermine-pullulan, the dissociation extent depended on the molecular weight of pullulan and the percent spermine introduced. While the plasmid DNA complexes of spermine-pullulan with lower molecular weights and spermine introduction percentages tended to be dissociated in the presence of heparin at 6.25 μg/ml, (**Figures 3A, (c-e) and 3B and 3C, (c-d)**), whereas those with higher values could not be dissociated even at 12.5 μg/ml of heparin (**Figures 3C, f and g**). Effect of the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan on the level of gene expression



Figure 3. Agarose gel electrophoresis of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3.0 in the presence of heparin. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (A) 22,800, (B) 47,300 or (C) 112,000. The sample applied is (a) DNA marker, (b) free plasmid DNA or complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of (c) 0.5, (d) 1.0, (e) 1.5, (f) 3.0 or (g) 5.0. Heparin concentration present in the complex is ($^{\circ}$) 6.25 or ($^{\circ}$) 12.5 µg/ml.

Table 2 summarizes the physicochemical properties of polyion complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3.0. The apparent molecular size and the zeta potential of free plasmid DNA were around 400 nm and -15 mV, respectively. The polyion complexation of spermine-pullulan with higher percentages of spermine introduced prepared at the [CDI]/[OH] of 1.5, 3.0 or 5.0 reduced the molecular size of plasmid DNA, irrespective of pullulan molecular weight used for cationization, while the molecular size oppositely became large for smaller spermine-pullulan prepared at the [CDI]/[OH] of 0.5 or 1.0. On the other hand, irrespective of the pullulan molecular weight and percent spermine introduced, the zeta potential was around 10-16 mV.

Table 2. Apparent molecular size and zeta potential of free plasmid DNA and complexes of plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan with different percentages of spermine introduced ^d).

Pullulan	[CDI]/[OH] ª)						
Molecular weight	0.5	1.0	1.5	3.0	5.0		
22,800	n.d.	2200 ± 0^{b}	330 ± 140	290 ± 170	200 ± 89		
	n.d	$+7.0 \pm 0.3$ ^{c)}	+14 ± 0	+14 ± 0	+14 ± 0		
47,300	n.d.	1300 ± 0	250 ± 57	210 ± 57	280 ± 180		
	n.d	$+9.0 \pm 0.2$	+15 ±0	+16 ±0	+17 ±1		
112,000	n.d.	1300 ± 0	260 ± 130	290 ± 180	280 ± 180		
	n.d	$+10 \pm 0$	+13 ± 0	+11 ± 1	+11 ± 1		
Free plasmid DNA	410 ± 61						
	-15 ± 10						

a) Molar ratio of N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) initially added to the hydroxyl groups (OH) of pullulan.

b) Apparent particle size (nm). Means \pm S.D.

c) Zeta potential (mV). Means \pm S.D.

d) Each spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

Effect of the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan on the level of gene expression

Figure 4 shows the relative fluorescence intensity of plasmid DNA intercalated with EtBr after addition of spermine-pullulan. The EtBr fluorescence intensity decreased with an increase in the N/P ratio. The pattern of fluorescence intensity decreased depended on the percent spermine introduced of pullulan. At the N/P ratios of 3.0 or higher, the EtBr fluorescence intensity became low for the complexes of spermine-pullulan with higher introduction percentages, while it did not clearly for the complexes of spermine-pullulan with the lowest percentage.



Figure 4. Solution fluorescence of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at different N/P ratios after EtBr addition. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (A) 22,800, (B) 47,300 or (C) 112,000. The [CDI]/[OH] ratio of spermine-pullulan used for cationization is ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) 0.5, (\bigtriangleup) 1.0, (\blacksquare) 1.5, (\bigcirc) 3.0 or (\bigstar) 5.0. Each spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

Figure 5 shows the time profile of solution absorbance change of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes after the addition of RCA120 lectin. The solution absorbance increased time-dependently, although the increment pattern of depended on the molecular weight and the percent spermine introduced of pullulan. The extent of absorbance increased was suppressed by addition of galactose in the concentration-dependent manner (data not shown).



Figure 5. Time course of the turbidity change of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at a N/P ratio of 3 after RCA 120 addition. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (A) 22,800, (B) 47,300 or (C) 112,000. The [CDI]/[OH] ratio of spermine-pullulan used for cationization is ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) 0.5, (\bigtriangleup) 1.0, (\blacksquare) 1.5, (\bigcirc) 3.0 or (\bigstar) 5.0.

Each spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

Effect of the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan on the level of gene expression



Figure 6. Effect of the spermine introduction extent of pullulan on the luciferase expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is (A) 22,800, (B) 47,300 or (C) 112,000. The amount of plasmid DNA applied is 5 μ g/well and the N/P ratio is 3.0. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of complexes prepared by other spermine-pullulans. †, p<0.05; versus the expression level of complexes prepared by spermine-pullulans with with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 0.5, 1.0, and 5.0. (D) Effect of the molar ratio of spermine-pullulan to plasmid DNA in complexation on the level of gene expression. The molecular weight of pullulan used for complexation is (\bigcirc) 22,800, (\blacktriangle) 47,300 or (\Box) 112,000. Each spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

In vitro gene transfection of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 6 shows the effect of spermine introduction percentage on the level of gene expression for HepG2 cells. The level of gene expression was different among spermine-pullulan derivatives with different percentages of spermine introduced. In addition, the percentage of spermine introduced where the highest level was observed was different among the pullulan molecular weight used for spermine introduction (**Figures 6A-C**).

Figure 6D shows the relationship between the molecular ratio of spermine-pullulan to plasmid DNA and the level of gene expression. Irrespective of the molecular weight of pullulan, a maximum level was observed in the molar ratio of around 10^2 .

Figure 7 shows the effect of asialofetuin addition on the level of gene expression of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes for HepG2 cells. The level decreased by adding the asialofetuin for any complex.



Figure 7. Effect of asialofetuin addition on the of of level luciferase expression spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0 for HepG2 cells. Cells were pretreated with (solid columns) or without (open columns) asialofetuin before gene transfection. The plasmid DNA amount is 5 μ g/well. *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of cells transfected without asialofetuin addition at the corresponding molecular weight of pullulan. Each spermine-pullulan with the [CDI]/[OH] ratio of 1.5 is prepared in Chapter 3.

Cytotoxicity of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 8 shows the viability of cells 3 hr after exposure of PIC prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0. No cytotoxicity was observed, irrespective of the percent spermine introduced.



Figure 8. Effect of the percent spermine introduced on the cell viability of HepG2 cells transfected with spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes prepared at the N/P ratio of 3.0. The molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction is 47,300. The viability of cells without transfection is indicated as 100%.

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrates that the in vitro gene expression of plasmid DNA was greatly enhanced by complexation with the spermine-pullulan derivatives although it was influenced by the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan.

The extent of spermine introduced could be changed by altering the amount of CDI added initially (**Table 1**). Except for the lowest percentage of spermine introduced, the spermine-pullulan was electrostatically interacted with the plasmid DNA (**Figure 1**). Electrophoresis analysis revealed that retarded or no migration of plasmid DNA was observed at an N/P ratio of 3.0, except for the spermine-pullulan with the lowest spermine introduction (**Figure 2**). From the electrophoresis analysis, plasmid DNA complexes prepared by almost all of spermine-pullulans were formed at an N/P ratio of 3.0. In addition, relative fluorescence of plasmid DNA intercalated with EtBr was reduced by addition of spermine-pullulan with increase in the N/P ratio, although the decrement patterns for spermine-pullulan derivatives with the lowest introduction percentage were not sharp compared with those with higher

introduction percentages (**Figure 4**). These findings indicate that the spermine-pullulan formed a polyion complex with the plasmid DNA, although the complexation was greatly influenced by the percent spermine introduced of pullulan.

From the results of DLS and ELS measurements (**Table 2**) and EtBr intercalation assay (**Figure 4**), it was found that the extent of spermine introduced to pullulan greatly affected the physicochemical properties of plasmid DNA complexes with spermine-pullulan. After complexation with spermine-pullulan of higher spermine introduction percentages prepared at [CDI]/[OH] ratios of 1.5 to 5.0, the apparent molecular size of plasmid DNA became smaller, while the apparent size of complexes at lower introduction percentages at [CDI]/[OH] of 0.5 and 1.0 was large in comparison with that of free plasmid DNA. The EtBr intercalation assay revealed that the extent of compaction for polyion complexes became smaller for spermine-pullulan with lower introduction percentage prepared at [CDI]/[OH] of 0.5 and 1.0. It is possible that the distance interval of spermine residues on the molecular chain of spermine-pullulan with higher introduction percentages was short enough to condense the plasmid DNA. The long distance interval of spermine residues does not allow the plasmid DNA to condense in size, but form an aggregate structure.

From the results of electrophoretic patterns of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes in the presence of heparin, it is revealed that the dissociation behavior of the complex depended on the molecular weight and the percent spermine introduced of pullulan. Interestingly, compared with the DLS results (**Table 2**), it is found that complexes with the same molecular sizes (molecular weight of 47,300 or 112,000, and [CDI]/[OH] of 5.0) showed different dissociation behaviors. It is possible that these differences greatly affected the level of gene expression.

Based on not only the apparent molecular size, the extent of compaction, and stability of polyion complexes, but also the interaction of polyion complexes with receptors of cell surface, dependence of the spermine-pullulan derivatives type on the level of gene expression can be explained. Firstly, complexation with more spermine-introduced pullulan prepared at [CDI]/[OH] ratios of 1.5 to 5.0 reduced the molecular size of plasmid DNA, whereas less spermine-introduced pullulan did not, irrespective of the pullulan molecular

88

weight. It has been recognized that a certain range of apparent molecular size of polyion complexes was effective in enhancing the in vitro gene expression ^{10,11}. It is possible that the compacted complex of reduced size is more readily internalized by cells, resulting in enhanced gene expression. The molecular size of complex will be one of the factors affecting the level of gene expression.

Next, it is well known that the extent of EtBr intercalated into plasmid DNA is affected by the conformational change of plasmid DNA molecules and the molecular condensation of plasmid DNA¹². Intercalation with the spermine-pullulan allows to change the molecular structures, resulting in EtBr release from plasmid DNA which is detected by decrease in the fluorescent intensity. The release is accelerated as the interaction becomes stronger. The relative fluorescence intensity was not decreased after addition of spermine-pullulan with the lowest percent introduced. This suggests that the interaction force with the plasmid DNA was not strong enough to form a complete for efficient gene transfection.

It is recognized that appropriate dissociation of the plasmid DNA and the carrier inside cells is necessary for successful translation of gene transfected to ¹³. From the result of the electrophoretic patterns of spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complexes in the presence of different concentrations of heparin (**Figure 3C**), spermine-pullulans with a molecular weight 112,000 and higher introduction percentages ([CDI]/[OH] of 3.0 or 5.0) complexed strongly with plasmid DNA and the complexes could not be dissociated even in the presence of heparin at the higher concentration. Actually, a thermodynamic model demonstrates that the dissociation probability decreases with an increase in the amino groups present on a polymer chain ¹⁴. Since the amount of spermine introduced into one pullulan molecule increases with an increase in the percentage of pullulan. From the result of gene expression (**Figure 6C**), the levels of gene expression for these complexes were low. These results clearly demonstrate that the dissociation suppression reduced the level of gene expression. It is likely that the balance of complex stability governed by the interaction force between the plasmid DNA and spermine-pullulan results in

the highest level of gene expression.

The percentage of spermine introduced where the highest expression level was observed was different among the molecular weight of pullulan used for spermine introduction (**Figure 6**). The percent spermine introduction for the highest expression level tended to decrease with an increase in the molecular weight of pullulan. At the same N/P ratio, the number of spermine-pullulan complexed with plasmid DNA decreases with an increase in the molecular weight and percent spermine introduced of pullulan. There was an optimal molar number of the spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complex for enhanced gene expression at a N/P ratio (**Figure 6D**). This result experimentally indicates that a well-balanced combination of the spermine introduction percentage and molecular weight of pullulan is necessary to enhance the level of gene expression. The complex was characterized in terms of the molecular size, surface charge, lectin recognition, dissociation stability, although it is not always done sufficiently. However, the reason of the optimal number for the maximum gene expression is not clear at present.

Finally, the lectin affinity assay revealed that the spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complex was recognized by the sugar-recognizable lectin (**Figure 5**). When the complex was mixed with the lectin, the solution absorbance was increased. The presence of galactose suppressed the absorbance increase in the concentration- dependent manner. This is explained in terms of sugar-specific interaction between the complex and the lectin. It is likely that the pullulan chain present on the complex surface is specifically recognized by the lectin, resulting in the formation of complex-lectin aggregates. The aggregate formation depended on the percent spermine introduced and the molecular weight of pullulan used for complexation. This is because the molecular mobility of surface pullulan chains was different between the complexes. Compared with **Figure 6**, it is apparent that most of complexes strongly interacted with the lectin showed the high gene expression level. Taken together, it is likely that the plasmid DNA complex with the spermine derivative of pullulan with an inherent affinity for the ASGPR is effectively internalized by cells, resulting in enhanced gene expression. In addition, it is reported that an asialoglycoprotein receptor is expressed on the surface of HepG2 cells. As shown in **Figure 7**, the level of gene expression decreased by addition of

asialofetuin, whereas no inhibition effect was observed for a transfection reagent commercially available, Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA) (data not shown). Taken together, it is conceivable that the in vitro gene transfection by the spermine-pullulan was facilitated by the ASGPR-mediated uptake.

As shown in **Figure 8**, no cytotoxicity was observed, irrespective of the percent spermine introduced. Since cytotoxicity is one of the drawbacks in cationized polymer-based gene transfection, this result demonstrates that the spermine-pullulan is a feasible gene carrier for enhancement of gene expression.

REFERENCES

- 1 De Smedt SC, Demeester J, Hennink WE. Cationic polymer based gene delivery systems. *Pharm Res* 2000; **17:** 113-126.
- 2 Ewert K, Slack NL, Ahmad A, Evans HM, Lin AJ, Samuel CE *et al.* Cationic lipid-DNA complexes for gene therapy: understanding the relationship between complex structure and gene delivery pathways at the molecular level. *Curr Med Chem* 2004; **11**: 133-149.
- Pedroso de Lima MC, Neves S, Filipe A, Duzgunes N, Simoes S. Cationic liposomes for gene delivery: from biophysics to biological applications. *Curr Med Chem* 2003;
 10: 1221-1231.
- Hirko A, Tang F, Hughes JA. Cationic lipid vectors for plasmid DNA delivery. *Curr Med Chem* 2003; 10: 1185-1193.
- 5 Kimura T, Yamaoka T, Iwase R, Murakami A. Structure/function relationship in the polyplexes containing cationic polypeptides for gene delivery. *Nucleic Acids Res Suppl* 2001: 203-204.
- Rungsardthong U, Ehtezazi T, Bailey L, Armes SP, Garnett MC, Stolnik S. Effect of polymer ionization on the interaction with DNA in nonviral gene delivery systems.
 Biomacromolecules 2003; 4: 683-690.
- Strand SP, Danielsen S, Christensen BE, Varum KM. Influence of chitosan structure on the formation and stability of DNA-chitosan polyelectrolyte complexes.
 Biomacromolecules 2005; 6: 3357-3366.
- 8 Chen DJ, Majors BS, Zelikin A, Putnam D. Structure-function relationships of gene delivery vectors in a limited polycation library. *J Control Release* 2005; **103**: 273-283.
- 9 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- 10 Nishikawa M, Huang L. Nonviral vectors in the new millennium: delivery barriers in gene transfer. *Hum Gene Ther* 2001; **12:** 861-870.
- Zhou X, Huang L. DNA transfection mediated by cationic liposomes containing lipopolylysine: characterization and mechanism of action. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; **1189:** 195-203.

- Sambrook J, Russell DW. *Molecular Cloning : a laboratory manual*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: New York, 2001.
- 13 Koping-Hoggard M, Varum KM, Issa M, Danielsen S, Christensen BE, Stokke BT *et al.* Improved chitosan-mediated gene delivery based on easily dissociated chitosan polyplexes of highly defined chitosan oligomers. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 1441-1452.
- Schaffer DV, Fidelman NA, Dan N, Lauffenburger DA. Vector unpacking as a potential barrier for receptor-mediated polyplex gene delivery. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 2000; 67: 598-606.

Effect of transfection culture methods on the level of gene expression

INTRODUCTION

It is indispensable for successful cell therapy to develop a method of genetic cell engineering to activate and manipulate cellular functions. To achieve this genetic engineering of cells, several research trials with non-viral gene carriers of cationized polymers and liposomes have been performed. However, the level of gene expression is not as high as that of viral carriers while the time period of expression is generally short. In the conventional procedure of cell culture for gene transfection, serum cannot be generally added to the culture medium. This is because the complex of plasmid DNA and a non-viral carrier often interacts with serum components, leading to the suppressed ability of gene transfection. Since the serum is essential to maintain the biological conditions good for cell culture, the conventional transfection procedure in the absence of serum is not biologically good for cells.

In this chapter, a new transfection method is introduced to permit cell culture under better biological conditions in the presence of serum. In Chapter 1, it was found that spermine derivatives of pullulan is the most effective carrier for bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) among other polysaccharide derivatives. The spermine-pullulan complex of a plasmid DNA was coated onto a culture substrate together with a substance of cell adhesion, and then MSC were cultured on the complex-coated substrate by different culture methods for gene transfection. The level and duration period of gene expression by the reverse transfection method were evaluated and compared with that of the conventional transfection method. In addition, the reverse transfection was performed for polyethylene terephthalate (PET) non-woven fabric of a three-dimensional scaffold by an agitated and stirring culture methods. The level and duration period of gene expression for MSC by the two method were evaluated and compared with that of static culture method.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Pullulan with a weight-average molecular weight of 47,300 was purchased from Hayashibara Biochemical Laboratories, Inc., Okayama, Japan. Spermine was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification.

Preparation of cationized pullulan derivative

Spermine was introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ¹. Spermine (1.87 x 10^3 mg) and CDI (2.25 x 10^2 mg) were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide containing 50 mg of pullulan. Following agitation at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against ultra-pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days with a dialysis membrane (the cut-off molecular weight = 12,000-14,000, Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, Illinois.). Then, the solution dialyzed was freeze-dried to obtain the spermine-introduced pullulan (spermine-pullulan). When determined from the conventional elemental analysis and expressed by the molar extent of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of pullulan, the percentage of spermine introduced was 12.3 mole%.

Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNA used was the pGL3 vector (5.26 kb) coding for a firefly luciferase gene (Luciferase Reporter Vectors-pGL3, Promega, USA). The plasmid DNA was propagated in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of the plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Preparation of polyion complexes (PIC)

PIC were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of spermine-pullulan with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, varied amounts of spermine-pullulan were dissolved in 50 µl of DDW and mixed with 50 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 100 µg of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain various PIC of spermine-pullulan and plasmid DNA. The PIC composition was calculated on the basis of the nitrogen number of spermine-pullulan (N) per the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA (P) and expressed as the N/P ratio.

Preparation and culture of MSC

MSC were isolated from the bone shaft of femurs of 3-week-old male Wister rats according to the technique reported by Lennon *et al*². Briefly, both ends of rat femurs were cut away from the epiphysis and the bone marrow was flushed out by a syringe (21-gauge needle) with 1 mL of α -Minimum essential medium (α MEM) supplemented with 15 vol% fetal calf serum (FCS), penicillin (50 U/ml), and streptomycin (50 U/ml). The cell suspension (5 ml) was placed into two 25-cm² flasks (Iwaki Glass, Funabashi, Chiba, Japan) and cultured at 37° C in a 95% air-5% CO₂ atmosphere. The medium was changed on day 4 of culture and every 3 days thereafter. When the cells of the first passage became subconfluent, usually 7-10 days after seeding, the cells were detached from the flask by treatment for 5 min at 37° C with PBS solution containing 0.25 wt% trypsin and 0.02 wt% Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA). Cells were normally subcultured at a density of 2 x 10⁴ cells/cm². Second-passage cells at subconfluence were used for all experiments.

Conventional transfection of two dimension in the static method

Cells were seeded on each well of 12-well multi-dish culture plate (Corning, NY, USA) at a density of 5×10^4 cells/well and cultured in 1 ml of α MEM medium with 15 vol% FCS for 24 hr. PIC were formed by mixing 50 µl of DDW containing spermine-pullulan and 50 µl of PBS containing 2.5 µg of pGL3-luciferase plasmid DNA at different N/P ratios. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by FCS-free α MEM medium, 100 µl of the

PIC solution was added and transfection culture was performed for 6 hr (the conventional transfection). Following the medium was changed to α MEM with FCS, cells were incubated further for 1, 3, 5, and 7 days.

Reverse transfection of two dimension in the static method

Succinic anhydride (90.1 mg) was added to 20 ml of 100 mg/ml gelatin solution in DMSO, followed by agitation at room temperature for 18 hr to allow to introduce the carboxyl groups to the amino groups of gelatin for anionization. When determined as the extent of amino groups decreased by the trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid method ³, the molar amount of carboxylic groups introduced was 100 mole%.

The aqueous solution of the anionized gelatin (100 μ g/ml) and Pronectin with different amounts was placed into each well of 12-well multi-well culture plate, followed by leaving at 37° C for 1 hr for coating. Following PBS washing, the well was coated with the plasmid DNA-spermine-pullulan complex containing 2.5 μ g of plasmid DNA. Following 30 min incubation, every well was washed with PBS. Then, MSC (5×10⁴ cells/well) were seeded on the complex-coated well, followed by cell culture in the α MEM medium with or without 15 vol% FCS for 1, 3, 5, and 7 days.

Cells were washed with PBS once, lysed in 100 µl of cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 µl of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA) was added to 20 µl of supernatant while the relative light unit (RLU) of the sample was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) according to the manufacturers' instructions. The RLU was divided by the protein amount to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity. Each experimental group was carried out three times independently.

Reverse transfection of three dimension by different culture methods
Effect of transfection culture method on the level of gene expression

Static, agitated, and stirring methods were used to culture MSC in a non-woven fabric of PET (the fiber diameter = $26 \ \mu\text{m}$, $6 \ \text{mm}\Phi \ x \ 3 \ \text{mm}$) for their plasmid DNA transfection. The similar coating procedure with the complex and Pronectin was performed for the PET non-woven fabric. MSC were seeded into the complex-coated 3-dimentional PET fabric by the agitation method reported previously ⁴. Briefly, the non-woven fabric was placed in 0.5 ml of the cell suspension (1 x 10^6 cells/mL), followed by agitation with an orbital shaker (Bellco Glass, Vineland, NJ) at 300 rpm for 6 h at 37° C. The cell-seeded non-woven fabric was thoroughly washed with the medium to exclude non-adherent cells. The MSC-attached PET fabric was incubated for 2, 5, and 8 days under the conventional static condition (static culture).

For the agitated culture method, the MSC-attached PET fabric prepared was placed in each well of 6-well multi-well culture plate containing 6 ml of α MEM medium with 15 vol% FCS while the culture plate was agitated with the orbital shaker (Bellco Glass, Vineland, NJ) at 50 rpm for 2, 5, and 8 days. On the other hand, the MSC-attached fabric was fixed with a needle immobilized in the spinner flask and 150 ml of medium was stirred at 50 rpm for 2, 5, and 8 days (stirring culture). To measure the level of gene expression for MSC cultured by the static, agitated, and stirring methods, the PET fabrics were collected and the gene expression was assessed by the similar procedure described above.

Cell viability

Cytotoxicity was assayed using a cell counting kit (Nacalai tesque, Inc., Kyoto, Japan). MSC were transfected with 0.50 μ g of free plasmid DNA or lipofectamine 2000 (0.50 μ g) and the spermine-pullulan complexing 0.50 μ g of plasmid DNA by the conventional and reverse methods for 2 days. Then, the medium was changed to α MEM medium with FCS and 100 μ l of 2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (WST-8) solution was added and the cells were incubated further for 3 hr. The absorbance of samples was measured at 450 nm by VERSAmax microplate reader (Molecular Devices, sunnyvale CA, USA). The percent cell viability was expressed as 100% for non-transfected, control cells.

Statistical Analysis

Data were expressed as the mean \pm the standard deviation of the mean. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, and then differences among means were analyzed using Fisher's PLSD multiple comparison test and significance was accepted at p <0.05.

RESULTS

Gene expression for MSC by the conventional and reverse transfection methods

Table 1 and **Figure 1** show the level and duration period of gene expression after the reverse transfection of MSC together with those of the conventional transfection. For the conventional method where the complex is added into the culture medium, the presence of serum suppressed the level of gene expression. On the contrary, a high expression level of MSC transfected by the reverse method was observed even in the presence of serum. Moreover, the time period of gene expression was prolonged compared with that of the conventional method. When reverse transfected in the absence of FCS, MSC were detached from the culture substrate during the transfection culture (data not shown). Free plasmid DNA did not enhance gene expression, irrespective of the serum presence.

Transfection — method		The level of gene expression (RLU/mg protein)			
		free plasmid DNA	plasmid DNA- spermine-pullulan complex		
Conventional	FCS (-)	$(3.0 \pm 0.02) \times 10^3$	$(4.2 \pm 0.62) \times 10^{6}$		
	FCS (+)	$(3.0 \pm 0.98) \times 10^3$	$(3.3 \pm 0.66) \times 10^5$		
Reverse	FCS (-)	-	ND ^{C)}		
	FCS (+)	-	$(6.2 \pm 1.4) \times 10^7$		

Table 1. Luciferase expression level of MSC transfected by the conventional and reverse methods in the presence or absence of serum. ^{a)}

The level of gene expression for non-transfected, original MSC was 3.0 x 10³ RLU/mg protein.

a) The MSC were transfected in the static culture.

b) Mean ±S.D.

c) The level could not be measured because of cell death.



Figure 1. Time course of luciferase expression level of MSC transfected by the conventional (open and light gray columns) and reverse methods (solid columns) in the static cuture: (open columns) the plasmid DNA-spermine-pullulan complex in the absence of FCS, (dark gray columns) the plasmid DNA-spermine-pullulan complex in the presence of FCS, and (solid columns) the plasmid DNA-cationized pullulan complex in the presence of FCS. The dotted line indicates the level of non-transfected, original MSC. *, p<0.05 versus the level in the presence of FCS by the conventional method at the corresponding time. †, p<0.05 versus the level in the absence of FCS by the conventional method at the corresponding time.

Figure 2 shows the level of gene expression of MSC by the reverse transfection method at different coating concentrations of Pronectin[®]. The expression level was enhanced with the increased coating concentration of Pronectin[®] of adhesion substance.

Cell viability

Figure 3 shows the cell viability of MSC transfected by the conventional and reverse methods. The cell viability significantly decreased by the conventional transfection culture with both the spermine-pullulan and Lipofectamine 2000 complexing plasmid DNA. On the contrary, the viability of cells after reverse transfection culture was similar to that of non-transfected, original cells.



Figure 2. Effect of Pronectin[®] coating concentration on the luciferase expression level of MSC transfected by the reverse method in the static culture. *, p<0.05 versus the luciferase activity of MSC in the coating concentration of 0 μ g/ml.



Figure 3. Cell viability of MSC 2 days after conventional and reverse transfection cultures. The cells were transfected by the conventional method with free plasmid DNA or that complexed with Lipofectamine 2000 and spermine-pullulan in the absence of serum. The cells were transfected by the reverse method with plasmid DNA-spermine-pullulan complex in the presence of serum. *. p<0.05 versus the cell viability of non-transfected, original MSC.

Effect of transfection culture method

on the level of gene expression

Gene expression by the reverse transfection of these three dimension in different culture methods

Figure 4 shows the time profile of gene expression of MSC after the reverse transfection by different culture methods. Irrespective of the culture method, the level and duration period of gene expression were significantly enhanced by the reverse transfection compared with conventional one. The enhanced and prolonged extents of gene expression depended on the type of culture method, although the time profile of transfected level was similar. The extents increased in the order of the static, agitated, and stirring culture methods. By the reverse transfection culture, the level of gene expression increased by 5 days after cell seeding, but thereafter decreased. This was different from the time profile of gene expression by the conventional transfection culture, where there was a maximum level on the 2nd day for any culture method. The agitated and stirring cultures tended to increase the level of gene expression.





Figure 5 shows the time course of MSC proliferation during the reverse transfection culture. The number of MSC proliferated in the PET fabrics became larger in the order of the static, agitated, and stirring culture methods although little cell proliferation was observed in the static culture.



Figure 5. Time course of proliferation of MSC transfected by the reverse method in the PET non-woven fabric transfection in the static (\bigcirc), agitation (\triangle), and stirring cultures (\square). \ddagger , p<0.05 significant against the cell number in the static culture at the corresponding time. \ddagger , p<0.05 significant against the cell number in the agitation culture at the corresponding time.

DISCUSSION

The present study clearly demonstrates that the reverse transfection method was more effective in enhancing the level and duration time of gene expression than the conventional method. Considering the positioning of cells and the complex, it is likely that the complex always exists near the cells to be transfected. In addition, Pronectin achieves confirm cell adhesion to the surface of complex-coated substrate. It is highly conceivable that both the continuous exposure of complex to cells and the confirm adhesion between cells and the substrate which minimizes the serum influence on the transfection activity of complex, results in the enhanced and prolonged gene expression.

Effect of transfection culture method on the level of gene expression

There are five key steps for expression of plasmid DNA; (1) the attachment of plasmid DNA onto the cell surface, (2) the internalization of plasmid DNA into the cell, (3) the endosomal escape of plasmid DNA, (4) the transfer of plasmid DNA to the nucleus, and (5) the internalization of plasmid DNA into the nucleus. Different from the viral vector, basically the non-viral carrier does not have any specific mechanisms to accelerate and facilitate the above steps. Several trials have been performed to enhance the efficiency of each step. For the steps of (1) and (2), receptor-mediated endocytosis mechanism has been tried to use ⁵⁻²⁶. It is conceivable that the spermine-pullulan-plasmid DNA complex escaped travels in the cytosol by the simple diffusion. Since it does not have any nucleus transfer mechanisms. Once the complex reaches the nuclear membrane, the internalization into the nucleus will be necessary for gene transfection. It has been recognized that non-viral carriers do not have any machineries for nuclear internalization. Therefore, it is possible that when the nuclear membrane disappears in cell division, the complex of non-viral carrier and plasmid DNA eventually enters the inside of nucleus for gene transfection. Based on this mechanism, the transfection efficiency of plasmid DNA by the non-viral carrier will increase as the proliferation of cells to be transfected promotes. In the reverse transfection method, cells are cultured in the presence of serum. It is highly possible that the serum presence enables cells to proliferate more efficiently under better culture conditions, resulting in enhanced gene transfection. The cell viability after the reverse transfection culture was significantly higher than that of the conventional transfection culture in the absence of FCS. This strongly indicates that the reverse transfection is performed under culture conditions good for cell activities. It should be noted that cells always contact with the complex in the reverse transfection culture, which is quite different from the contact time for 6 hr in the conventional transfection culture.

To allow cells to proliferate under in vitro culture conditions, it is necessary to contrive the local environment of cells, including the medium, the substrate of cells attachment and proliferation, and the oxygen nutrients supply or wastes exclusion. Some trials have been performed to accelerate the in vitro proliferation of MSC. MSC proliferated more efficiently by the addition of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) into the culture medium

^{27,28} and the surface modification of culture substrates ²⁸. Since the MSC proliferation is substrate-dependent, it is preferable to increase the surface area of culture substrate. Several three-dimensional substrate, so-called scaffold, have been designed to demonstrate their feasibility in the proliferation enhancement ²⁹⁻³¹. Additionally, from the viewpoint of oxygen and nutrients supply and wastes exclusion, the culture methods have been designed. Stirring and perfusion culture methods were effective in enhancing the rate of MSC proliferation compared with the static culture method ^{4,32}.

For the agitated and stirring culture methods, since the culture medium is circulated, oxygen and nutrients are supplied to MSC and cellular wastes are excluded more efficiently than the static culture method without active medium circulation. The plasmid DNA-carrier complex does not have any inherent potentials to allow the plasmid DNA to positively integrate into the genome of cells. Considering the gene transfection mechanism, it is likely that the plasmid DNA has a chance to internalize into the nucleus of cells for gene expression only when the nuclear membrane of cells disappears in cell division. The medium-circulated culture method promoted cell proliferation (Figure 5). Taken together, it is highly conceivable that more efficient proliferation of MSC under better biological conditions promotes the internalization of complex without any lethal damages to cells, resulting in enhanced gene expression. In conclusion, the reverse transfection method combined with the stirring cell culture method in the presence of the adhesion substance is a promising technology to enhance the efficiency of gene expression for stem cells. This technology is applicable for any type of cells. It is expected that this transfection method with the non-viral pullulan carrier can be applied to the genetic engineering for cell therapy as well as basic research of stem cell biology and medicine.

REFERENCES

- 1 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- 2 Lennon DP, Haynesworth SE, Young RG, Dennis JE, Caplan AI. A chemically defined medium supports in vitro proliferation and maintains the osteochondral potential of rat marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Exp Cell Res* 1995; **219**: 211-222.
- 3 Habeeb AF. Determination of free amino groups in proteins by trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid. *Anal Biochem* 1966; **14:** 328-336.
- 4 Takahashi Y, Tabata Y. Homogeneous seeding of mesenchymal stem cells into nonwoven fabric for tissue engineering. *Tissue Eng* 2003; **9:** 931-938.
- 5 Sudimack J, Lee RJ. Targeted drug delivery via the folate receptor. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2000; **41:** 147-162.
- 6 Lu Y, Low PS. Folate-mediated delivery of macromolecular anticancer therapeutic agents. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2002; **54:** 675-693.
- Zhao XB, Lee RJ. Tumor-selective targeted delivery of genes and antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotides via the folate receptor. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2004; 56: 1193-1204.
- Mislick KA, Baldeschwieler JD, Kayyem JF, Meade TJ. Transfection of
 folate-polylysine DNA complexes: evidence for lysosomal delivery. *Bioconjug Chem* 1995; 6: 512-515.
- 9 Hashida M, Nishikawa M, Yamashita F, Takakura Y. Cell-specific delivery of genes with glycosylated carriers. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2001; **52:** 187-196.
- 10 Bies C, Lehr CM, Woodley JF. Lectin-mediated drug targeting: history and applications. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2004; **56:** 425-435.
- 11 Choi YH, Liu F, Choi JS, Kim SW, Park JS. Characterization of a targeted gene carrier, lactose-polyethylene glycol-grafted poly-L-lysine and its complex with plasmid DNA. *Hum Gene Ther* 1999; **10**: 2657-2665.
- 12 Mahato RI, Takemura S, Akamatsu K, Nishikawa M, Takakura Y, Hashida M. Physicochemical and disposition characteristics of antisense oligonucleotides complexed with glycosylated poly(L-lysine). *Biochem Pharmacol* 1997; **53:** 887-895.

- 13 Ferkol T, Perales JC, Mularo F, Hanson RW. Receptor-mediated gene transfer into macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996; **93:** 101-105.
- 14 Chowdhury NR, Wu CH, Wu GY, Yerneni PC, Bommineni VR, Chowdhury JR. Fate of DNA targeted to the liver by asialoglycoprotein receptor-mediated endocytosis in vivo. Prolonged persistence in cytoplasmic vesicles after partial hepatectomy. *J Biol Chem* 1993; **268**: 11265-11271.
- Parkes RJ, Hart SL. Adhesion molecules and gene transfer. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2000;
 44: 135-152.
- 16 Erbacher P, Remy JS, Behr JP. Gene transfer with synthetic virus-like particles via the integrin-mediated endocytosis pathway. *Gene Ther* 1999; **6**: 138-145.
- 17 Hart SL, Harbottle RP, Cooper R, Miller A, Williamson R, Coutelle C. Gene delivery and expression mediated by an integrin-binding peptide. *Gene Ther* 1995; **2:** 552-554.
- 18 Colin M, Maurice M, Trugnan G, Kornprobst M, Harbottle RP, Knight A *et al.* Cell delivery, intracellular trafficking and expression of an integrin-mediated gene transfer vector in tracheal epithelial cells. *Gene Ther* 2000; **7:** 139-152.
- 19 Schiffelers RM, Ansari A, Xu J, Zhou Q, Tang Q, Storm G *et al.* Cancer siRNA therapy by tumor selective delivery with ligand-targeted sterically stabilized nanoparticle. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2004; **32:** e149.
- 20 Wagner E, Cotten M, Foisner R, Birnstiel ML. Transferrin-polycation-DNA complexes: the effect of polycations on the structure of the complex and DNA delivery to cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991; 88: 4255-4259.
- 21 Qian ZM, Li H, Sun H, Ho K. Targeted drug delivery via the transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway. *Pharmacol Rev* 2002; **54:** 561-587.
- Kircheis R, Wightman L, Schreiber A, Robitza B, Rossler V, Kursa M *et al.* Polyethylenimine/DNA complexes shielded by transferrin target gene expression to tumors after systemic application. *Gene Ther* 2001; 8: 28-40.
- Sosnowski BA, Gonzalez AM, Chandler LA, Buechler YJ, Pierce GF, Baird A.
 Targeting DNA to cells with basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF2). *J Biol Chem* 1996;
 271: 33647-33653.

- 24 Blessing T, Kursa M, Holzhauser R, Kircheis R, Wagner E. Different strategies for formation of pegylated EGF-conjugated PEI/DNA complexes for targeted gene delivery. *Bioconjug Chem* 2001; **12:** 529-537.
- 25 Kircheis R, Kichler A, Wallner G, Kursa M, Ogris M, Felzmann T *et al.* Coupling of cell-binding ligands to polyethylenimine for targeted gene delivery. *Gene Ther* 1997;
 4: 409-418.
- 26 Shimizu N, Chen J, Gamou S, Takayanagi A. Immunogene approach toward cancer therapy using erythrocyte growth factor receptor-mediated gene delivery. *Cancer Gene Ther* 1996; **3:** 113-120.
- 27 Tsutsumi S, Shimazu A, Miyazaki K, Pan H, Koike C, Yoshida E *et al.* Retention of multilineage differentiation potential of mesenchymal cells during proliferation in response to FGF. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2001; **288:** 413-419.
- 28 Hori Y, Inoue S, Hirano Y, Tabata Y. Effect of culture substrates and fibroblast growth factor addition on the proliferation and differentiation of rat bone marrow stromal cells. *Tissue Eng* 2004; **10**: 995-1005.
- 29 Yasuda K, Inoue S, Tabata Y. Influence of culture method on the proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of human adipo-stromal cells in nonwoven fabrics. *Tissue Eng* 2004; **10:** 1587-1596.
- 30 Takahashi Y, Tabata Y. Effect of the fiber diameter and porosity of non-woven PET fabrics on the osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed* 2004; 15: 41-57.
- Takahashi Y, Yamamoto M, Tabata Y. Osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells in biodegradable sponges composed of gelatin and beta-tricalcium phosphate.
 Biomaterials 2005; 26: 3587-3596.
- 32 Hosseinkhani H, Inatsugu Y, Hiraoka Y, Inoue S, Tabata Y. Perfusion culture enhances osteogenic differentiation of rat mesenchymal stem cells in collagen sponge reinforced with poly(glycolic Acid) fiber. *Tissue Eng* 2005; **11**: 1476-1488.

PART 2

ENHANCED IN VIVO THERAPEUTIC EFFICACY OF CELLS GENETICALLY ENGINEERED BY CATIONIZED POLYSACCHARIDE-PLASMID DNA COMPLEXES

Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells genetically engineered by cationized dextran-adrenomedullin plasmid DNA complexes for acute myocardial infarction

INTRODUCTION

Despite the recent remarkable progress in medical and surgical treatment for ischemic heart disease,¹ it is still a major cause of death worldwide.² Recently, cell therapy has been paid great attention as a promising approach for ischemic heart disease.³⁻⁶ One of the most promising cells is bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), which are multipotent adult stem cells readily isolatable from the bone marrow of patients themselves.^{7,8} It is well recognized that MSC can differentiate into not only osteoblasts, chondrocytes, neurons, and skeletal muscle cells, but also vascular endothelial cells ⁹ and cardiomyocytes.^{10,11} In fact, transplantation of MSC has been demonstrated to induce angiogenesis and improve cardiac functions for animal models of myocardial infarction or dilated cardiomyopathy.¹²⁻¹⁵ However, the therapeutic potential of MSC is often hindered by their poor viability at the transplanted site.¹⁰ Thus, it is of prime importance to develop technology and methodology to survive MSC transplanted and enhance the biological functions.

Recently, the technology to genetically manipulate adult stem cells has increasingly become important for basic biological and medical researches on stem cells as well as cell therapy with genetically engineered cells. To this end, viruses have been commonly used for gene expression of stem cells because of the high expression efficiency. Although adenoviruses and retroviruses have high transfection efficiency, they have several clinical limitations, such as the mutagenesis, cacinogenesis, and induction of immune responses. Many researches have been reported on the superior therapeutic effects of stem cells genetically engineered by viral vectors,¹⁶⁻²² but the strategy is not available for clinical cell therapy because of the usage of viral vectors. Therefore, it is highly desirable to develop an efficient and safe non-viral carrier for the gene transfection of MSC. In Chapter 1, it was

found that complexation with the cationized dextran allows a plasmid DNA to prepare a size-condensed structure with a positive charge which efficiently allows plasmid DNA to internalize into cells. The cationized dextran can interact with a sugar-chain recognizable receptor present at the cell surface.

Adrenomedullin (AM) is a potent vasodilator peptide that was originally isolated from human pheochromocytoma.²³ In addition, AM has antiapoptotic and angiogenic properties which may be effective for the treatment of ischemic heart disease.²⁴⁻³⁰ Taken together, MSC genetically engineered by AM will be a promising and effective cell source for cell therapy.

The purposes of this chapter were 1) to investigate whether transplantation of MSC transfected by the AM plasmid DNA with the spermine-dextran (AM-MSC) enhances the therapeutic efficacy of MSC for a rat model of myocardial infarction and 2) to examine the underlying mechanisms of the therapeutic effects induced by AM-MSC.

EXPERIMENTAL

MSC Culture

MSC culture was performed according to the method previously described.⁷ In brief, 3-week-old male Lewis rats were sacrificed, and the bone marrow was harvested by flushing the cavity of the femur and tibia with 10 mM of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4). The suspension of bone marrow cells in PBS was placed into 100-mm dishes (Corning, NY) and cultured in α -Minimal essential medium (α -MEM) supplemented with 15% bovine fetal calf serum (FCS) and 1% penicillin streptomycin solution (control medium). After incubation at 37 ° C in 5% CO₂ and 95% air at atmospheric pressure for 3 days, nonadherent cells were removed. Adherent cells were further cultured by exchanging the fresh control medium every 3 days. The cells were detached with 0.25 wt% trypsin-containing 0.8 mM Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) solution in PBS, subcultured in 225-cm² cell culture flasks, and 80% confluent cells were used as MSC in the following experiments.

Preparation of Cationized Dextran and Plasmid DNA

To prepare cationized dextran, spermine was chemically introduced to the hydroxyl

groups of dextran by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method.³¹ Briefly, 15 and 1.5 excess molar amounts of spermine and CDI against the hydroxyl group of the dextran, were added to 1 mg/ml dextran solution in dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide. The reaction solution was agitated at 35 °C for 20 hr to introduce spermine residues to the hydroxyl groups of dextran, followed by dialysis against ultra pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days and freeze-dried to obtain a spermine-introduced dextran (spermine-dextran). A pcDNA1.1-CMV vector (Invitrogen, CA) encoding human AM or luciferase cDNA was constructed. The spermine-dextran aqueous solution (50 μ l, 260 μ g/ml) was added to the plasmid DNA PBS solution (100 μ g/ml) at the same volume, followed by 15-min leaving at room temperature to obtain a spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex.

RT-PCR Analysis

To investigate whether MSCs express the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR), reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was performed. In brief, total RNA of MSCs was extracted with guanidine isothiocyanate (RNeasy Mini Kit, Qiagen). Then, reverse-transcribed single-stranded cDNA was subjected to PCR (PCR Amplification Kit, ASGPR Takara) using for (Proligo, forward, primer sets 5'-CGAAGCTTGAGCTGCCAGATGGCC-3'; reverse, 5'-GGAACGGGTTGAGACAGAGTGT-3') and GAPDH (Clonetech Laboratories, Inc., forward, 5'-TGAAGGTCGGTGTCAACGGATTTGGC-3'; reverse. 5'-CATGTAGGCCATGAGGTCCACCAC-3').

Ex Vivo Gene Transfection of MSC

MSC $(1 \times 10^4 \text{ cells/cm}^2)$ were cultured with the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex at the plasmid DNA dose of 0.5 µg/cm² at 37 ° C for 6 hr in serum-free medium. The level of human AM expressed in the culture medium (n = 6) was measured by radioimmunoassay. The culture medium was acidified with acetic acid, boiled to inactivate intrinsic proteases, and lyophilized. The AM level in the culture medium was measured with a radioimmunoassay kit (Shionogi, Osaka, Japan).³² To investigate the mechanism of gene

transfection, MSC were cultured with spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes for 6 hr in the serum-free medium with or without a polyclonal goat anti-ASGPR1 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., CA, USA) and in serum-free medium at 4 ° C. Luciferase gene expression was quantified using a commercial kit (Luciferase Assay System, Promega, WI) and the relative right unit (RLU) was determined by a luminometer (Micro. Luminat. Plus LB 96V, Berthold, Germany). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein Assay Reagent (Pierce, IL) in order to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity.

Animal Model

Myocardial infarction was produced in male Lewis rats weighing 180 to 220 g by left coronary artery ligation, as described previously.³³ Briefly, rats were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital (30 mg/kg body wt) and artificially ventilated using a volume-regulated respirator. Hearts were exposed via a left thoracotomy and the left coronary artery was ligated 2-3 mm from its origin between the pulmonary artery conus and the left atrium, using a 6-0 Prolene suture. Following MSC transplantation, the heart was restored to its normal position and the chest was closed. A sham operation consisting of thoracotomy and cardiac exposure but without coronary artery ligation was also performed. The Animal Care Committee of the National Cardiovascular Center approved this experimental protocol.

Therapeutic Transplantation of Genetically Engineered MSC

Transplantation of AM gene-transfected MSC, non-transfected MSC, or saline was performed immediately after coronary ligation. AM gene-transfected MSC (AM-MSC) and non-transfected MSC (MSC) (5 x 10^6 cells in 100 µl PBS) or saline (control) was injected into the myocardium at five points in the border zone surrounding the infarction site, with a 27-gauge needle. Saline was injected into the myocardium of normal rats (sham).

Echocardiographic Studies

Echocardiographic studies were performed by an investigator blinded to treatment allocation 4 weeks after coronary ligation. Two-dimensional targeted M-mode tracings were obtained at the level of the papillary muscles using an echocardiographic system equipped with a 7.5-MHz phased-array transducer (HP SONOS 5500; Hewlett Packard Company, Andover, MA), in order to analyze demension and function of left ventricular (LV). Anterior and posterior end-diastolic wall thickness and LV end-diastolic and end-systolic dimensions were measured by the American Society for Echocardiology leading-edge method from at least three consecutive cardiac cycles. LV fractional shortening was calculated as (LVDd-LVDs)/LVDd x 100 where LVDd = LV diastolic dimension and LVDs = LV systolic dimension.

Hemodynamic Studies

Hemodynamic studies were performed 4 weeks after coronary ligation. A polyethylene catheter (PE-50) was inserted in the right carotid artery for measurement of mean arterial pressure. Next, the catheter was advanced into the LV for measurement of LV pressure. Hemodynamic variables were measured using a pressure transducer (model P 23 ID, Gould) connected to a polygraph. After completion of these measurements, the left and right ventricles were excised and weighed. Infarction size was determined as a percentage of the entire LV area, as reported previously.³⁴ In brief, incisions were made in the LV so that the tissue could be pressed flat. The circumference of the entire flat LV and the visualized infarcted area, as judged from both the epicardial and endocardial sides, was outlined on a clear plastic sheet. The difference in weight between the two marked areas on the sheet was used to determine infarction size and was expressed as a percentage of LV surface area.

Histological Examination

To measure fibrosis in cardiac muscle, the LV myocardium (n = 5 each group) was fixed in 10% formalin, cut transversely, embedded in paraffin, and stained with Masson's trichrome. To detect capillaries in the myocardium, samples of harvested muscle (n = 5 each

group) were embedded in paraffin, and immunohistologically stained using polyclonal rabbit anti- von Willebrand factor (vWF, Dako Cytomation, Glostrup, Denmark). Transverse sections were randomly obtained, and 10 randomly selected fields of infarct region were analyzed. The number of capillaries was counted by light microscopy at a magnification of x 200. The number of capillaries in each field was averaged and expressed as the number of capillary vessels. An additional 10 rats were used to examine whether AM-MSC or MSC transplanted differentiated into cardiomyocytes or vascular endothelial cells. Suspended AM-MSC and MSC were fluorescently labeled with a PKH26 Red Fluorescent Cell Linker Kit (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) before transplantation, as reported previously.³⁵ The fluorescent-labeled MSC were injected into the myocardium immediately after coronary ligation. This subgroup of rats was killed four weeks after coronary ligation. After LV excision, muscle samples were embedded in O.C.T. compound (Sakura Finetechnical Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan), snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and cut into sections. Immunofluorescent staining for cardiac and endothelial cell markers was performed using monoclonal mouse anti-desmin (Dako Cytomation, Glostrup, Denmark), anti-cardiac troponin T (NeoMarkers, Fremont, CA), and polyclonal rabbit anti-vWF (Dako Cytomation, Glostrup, Denmark). Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated IgG antibody (BD Pharmingen, CA) was used as a secondary antibody.

TUNEL Staining

To examine whether AM gene transfer has antiapoptotic effects on MSCs in vitro, in situ labeling of fragmented DNA was performed with TdT-mediated dUTP nick-endlabeling (TUNEL). MSCs were seeded on slides in 12-well plates (2×10^4 cells/well) and cultured in regular growth medium under normoxic conditions for 24 hours. Gene transfection for AM was performed as described above and the cells were incubated in serum-free medium under hypoxic conditions (1% O₂, 5% CO₂, and 94% N₂) at 37 °C for 36 hrs. Finally, cells were fixed with 4% buffered formalin. TUNEL staining was performed with a commercially available kit (Apop Tag Plus, Chemicon, Canada) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and nuclei were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). Ten randomly

selected microscopic fields were evaluated to calculate the ratio of TUNEL-positive cells to total cells.

The antiapoptotic effect of AM gene transfer on MSCs *in vivo* was also evaluated by TUNEL assay. Twenty-four hours after intramyocardial injection of PKH26-labelled transfected or non-transfected MSCs, cardiac muscle was embedded in OCT compound and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. Cardiac muscle from base to apex was cut transversely into 5 μ m-slices in order to calculate the numbers of transplanted MSCs present within the heart (n = 5 each). TUNEL staining was performed with a commercially available kit (Apop Tag Plus, Chemicon, Canada). Slides were mounted with Vector Shield (Vector Laboratories, CA) containing an antifade reagent. The number of TUNEL/PKH 26 double-positive cells was counted in 10 fields for each rat.

Statistical Analysis

Numerical values were expressed as mean \pm SEM. unless otherwise indicated. Comparisons of parameters among the four groups were made using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by the Newman-Keul's multiple comparison test. The *P* value < 0.05 was considered to be significant.

RESULTS

Gene Expression of MSC by the Spermine-dextran of Non-Viral Carrier

The spermine-dextran of cationized polysaccharide was successfully prepared by the CDI activation method (Figure 1A). The percentage of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl group of dextran was approximately 10% by an elemental analysis (data not shown). The plasmid DNA of negative charge was easily complexed with the positively-charged spermine-dextran via the electrostatic interaction. When measured by dynamic light scattering and electrophoretic light scattering, the apparent molecular size and zeta potential of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes prepared were approximately 200 nm and +12 mV, respectively. Complex formation with the spermine-dextran enabled the plasmid DNA to significantly enhance the expression level of MSC compared with that of naked plasmid DNA or a transfection reagent commercially available, LipofectamineTM 2000 (Figure 1B). RT-PCR demonstrated the presence of the ASGPR, a specific receptor for asialoglycoproteins, in MSC (Figure 1C). The level of gene expression of MSC by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex was significantly decreased in the presence of anti-ASGPR antibody or at 4 ° C (Figure 1D). These results suggest that the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes are internalized into the MSC at least in part via the receptor-mediated endocytosis. Figure 1E illustrates the time course of AM secretion into the culture medium by AM-MSC and MSC. The level of AM secretion increased with the time up to 3 days after gene transfection. The release of AM from MSC was not influenced by the presence of spermine-dextran alone (data not shown).

120



Figure 1. Gene expression profiles of MSC by spermine-dextran. (A) Schematic chemical structure of spermine-dextran used as a non-viral carrier for gene transfection. (B) Gene expression of MSC transfected with spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes. MSC were not transfected (a) and done with naked luciferase plasmid DNA (b), Lipofectamine 2000-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes (c), and spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes (d) at 37 ° C for 6 hr. *, P < 0.05; versus the expression level of Lipofectamine 2000. Complex formation with the spermine-dextran enabled the plasmid DNA to significantly enhance the expression level of MSC compared with that of naked plasmid DNA or a transfection reagent commercially available, LipofectamineTM 2000. (C) Expression of the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR) on MSC. (D) Effects of anti-ASGPR antibody and temperature on the gene expression of MSC transfected with spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes. MSC were transfected by spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes at 37 ° C for 6 hr (normal transfection) with (a) or without an anti-ASGPR antibody (b) and at 4 ° C for 6 hr without the antibody (c). The gene expression level of MSC normal-transfected is expressed as 100%. *, P < 0.05 versus the value of other groups. The level of gene expression of MSC by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex was significantly decreased in the presence of anti-ASGPR antibody or at 4 ° C. (E) Time course of AM secreted from MSC following the transfection by spermine-dextran-AM plasmid DNA complexes. *, P < 0.05 versus the level of normal MSC at the corresponding time period. The level of AM secretion increased after 1-day incubation are the high level lasted for at least 3 days after gene transfection.

Antiapoptotic Effect of MSC Transfected with the Spermine-Dextran-AM Plasmid DNA Complex

Hypoxia and serum withdrawal induced apoptosis of MSC in vitro (**Figures 2A and B**). However, AM gene transfection markedly decreased the number of apoptotic MSC compared with the original MSC. These results suggest that AM produced by gene transfection acts as a survival factor of MSC. Some of non-transfected MSC were in vivo positive for TUNEL staining 24 hr after transplantation (**Figures 2C and D**). On the other hand, AM-MSC were rarely positive by TUNEL staining. These results suggest that AM gene transfection significantly decreased the number of apoptotic MSC in vivo.



Figure 2. *In vitro* and *in vivo* anti-apoptotic effects of MSC transfected with spermine-dextran-AM plasmid DNA complexes. (**A**) Immuno-fluorescent photographs of TUNEL staining in vitro. Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Green fluorescence indicates TUNEL-positive cells. Hypoxia and serum withdrawal induced apoptosis of MSC. However, apoptosis was rarely detected in AM-transfected MSC (AM-MSC). (**B**) Quantitative analysis of *in vitro* TUNEL assay for AM-MSC and MSC. AM gene transfection markedly decreased the number of apoptotic MSC compared with the original MSC. (**C**) Immuno-fluorescent photographs of TUNEL staining in vivo. Red fluorescence marks transplanted MSC; green fluorescence indicates TUNEL-positive cells (arrows). Magnification, x400. (**D**) Quantitative analysis of *in vivo* TUNEL assay for AM-MSC and MSC. AM-MSC were rarely positive by TUNEL staining. *, *P* < 0.05 versus the MSC.

Angiogenesis and Myogenesis Induced by AM-MSC

Immunohistochemical analysis demonstrated that the number of vWF-positive microvessels in the AM-MSC group was significantly higher than that in the MSC and control groups (**Figures 3A and B**). These results suggest that AM-MSC had angiogenic potency stronger than MSC alone. Immunofluorescence also demonstrated that some of AM-MSC formed vascular structures and were positive for vWF 4 weeks after transplantation (**Figure 3C**). A small fraction of AM-MSC were positive for cardiac markers desmin and cardiac troponin T (**Figures 4A and B**), although the percentage of desmin- or troponin T-positive cells did not significantly differ between the AM-MSC and MSC groups (data not shown).



Figure 3. Angiogenic profiles of AM-MSC. (A) Representative photographs of immunohistochemical staining for vWF in peri-infarct area. Magnification x 200. (B) Quantitative analysis of capillary density in peri-infarct area. The number of vWF-positive microvessels in the AM-MSC group was significantly higher than that of the MSC and Control groups. Control, myocardial infarction rats given vehicle; MSC, those given MSCs, and those given AM-MSC. *, P < 0.05 versus the Control group. †, P < 0.05 versus the MSC group. (C) Some of AM-MSC (red) were positive for vWF (green) and formed vascular structures in the myocardium. Magnification, x 400.



Figure 4. Myogenic profiles of AM-MSC. Red fluorescence marks transplanted cells; green fluorescence indicates desmin (**A**) and troponin T (**B**). Magnification, x 400.

Therapeutic Effects of AM-MSC on Myocardial Infarction

Compared to the control group, transplantation of AM-MSC or MSC significantly decreased the infarct size (**Figure 5A**). Semi-quantitative analysis demonstrated that rats transplanted with AM-MSC showed the smallest infarct size (**Figure 5B**). Body weight was significantly higher in the AM-MSC group than in the control and MSC groups (**Table 1**). Right ventricular weight in the AM-MSC group was significantly lower than that in the control or MSC group, although left ventricular (LV) weight did not differ among the three groups. The lowest LV end-diastolic pressure was observed for the AM-MSC group (**Figure 5C**), while the LV fractional shortening (%FS) was the highest among the all groups (**Figure 5D**). The AM-MSC and MSC groups showed the small LV dimension in end-diastole and end-systole compared with the control group (**Table 2**). The anterior wall of the AM-MSC and MSC groups was thicker than that of the control group.



Figure 5. Therapeutic effects of AM-MSC transplantation on the myocardial infarct size and hemodynamics 4 weeks after coronary ligation. (A) Representative photographs of myocardial sections stained with Masson trichrome. (B) Semi-quantitative analysis of myocardial infarct size. Rats transplanted with AM-MSC showed the smallest infarct size. (C, D) Effects of MSC transplantation on LV end-diastolic pressure (LVEDP) and LV fractional shortening (%FS). The lowest LVEDP was observed for the AM-MSC group and the %FS was the highest among the all groups. *, P < 0.05 versus the Sham group. †, P < 0.05 versus the Control group. ‡, P < 0.05 versus the MSC group.

	Sham	Control	MSC	AM-MSC
Number	13	13	13	13
Body weight, g	307±3 ^{a)}	290±4 *	293±4*	308±3†‡
LV wt/body wt, g/kg body wt	2.25 ± 0.05	$2.53 \pm 0.06^{*}$	2.39±0.05 *	$2.59 \pm 0.08^{*}$
RV wt/body wt, g/kg body wt	0.54 ± 0.02	$1.05 \pm 0.09^{*}$	0.80±0.06*†	0.66±0.02 †
Heart rate, bpm	412±5	372±8*	395±10†	402±3†
Mean arterial pressure, mmHg	139 ± 4	110±7*	117±3*	118±4*

a) Means ± SEM. *, p<0.05; vs. Sham, †, p<0.05 vs. Control, ‡, p<0.05 vs. MSC.

Table 2. Echocardiographic data of animals treated

	Sham	Control	MSC	AM-MSC
LVDd, mm	6.4±0.1 ^{a)}	9.3±0.2*	8.3±0.3*†	8.3±0.3*†
LVDs, mm	4.0 ± 0.1	8.0±0.3*	6.8±0.4*†	6.2±0.4*†
%FS, %	36±2	14±1*	19±2*	25±2*†‡
AWT diastole, mm	1.6 ± 0.0	1.1±0.0*	1.3±0.0*†	1.3±0.0*†
PWT diastole, mm	1.7±0.3	1.8 ± 0.1	1.8 ± 0.1	1.7±0.0

a) Means ± SEM. *, p<0.05; vs. Sham, †, p<0.05 vs. Control, ‡, p<0.05 vs. MSC.

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrated that 1) transplantation of AM-MSC showed enhanced therapeutic potency for a rat model of myocardial infarction and 2) the beneficial effect was mediated by the promoted anti-apoptotic and angiogenic effects of AM-MSC.

Complexation with the spermine-dextran of non-viral vector enabled the plasmid DNA to decrease the apparent size small enough to internalize into cells and to have a positive surface charge which can interact with the cell surface of negative charge. The features promoted the transfection of plasmid DNA, enhancing the level of gene expression. The level of gene expression of MSC by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes was significantly decreased in the presence of anti-ASGPR1 antibody. Expectedly, the ASGPR, a specific receptor for asialoglycoproteins, is expressed in MSC. Taken together, it is highly possible that the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes were internalized into the MSC at least in part via the receptor-mediated endocytosis. It should be noted that the level of gene expression of MSC by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes was significantly higher than that of a commercially available transfection reagent, LipofectamineTM 2000 (**Figure 1B**). Considering these points, the spermine-dextran is a promising non-viral vector to enhance gene expression of MSC through enhanced receptor-mediated endocytosis.

AM has multiple bioactivities to inhibit the apoptosis of cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells and to induce angiogenesis.^{24,26,28-30} Transfection with the spermine-dextran-AM DNA complexes allowed MSC to secret a large amount of AM. As the

126

Enhanced therapeutic effect of MSC genetically engineered

secretion mechanism, it is conceivable that the AM-MSC stimulated themselves in an autocrine fashion or the surrounding cells in a paracrine one. In fact, decreased apoptosis of AM-MSC in vitro and in vivo compared with MSC indicates that AM-MSC was relatively resistant to myocardial ischemia. Transplantation of AM-MSC greatly improved cardiac functions for rats with myocardial infarction compared with that of MSC. Considering that the conventional cell therapy is often hindered by the poor viability of the transplanted cells, this improvement in cardiac function may be mediated by increased viability of genetically engineered AM-MSC. In addition, AM-MSC markedly increased the number of capillaries in the myocardium while they significantly formed vascular structure and vWF-positive for 4 weeks after transplantation. It seemed that a very small fraction of transplanted MSC differentiated into cardiomyocytes. Taken together, AM gene-transfected MSC may have potent therapeutic effects on ischemic myocardium at least in part through anti-apoptotic and angiogenic effects of AM produced by the transplanted MSC.

There are several researches on the superior therapeutic effects of stem cells genetically engineered by viral vectors.¹⁶⁻²² Mangi et al. have reported that rat MSC were genetically engineered by an ex vivo retroviral transduction to overexpress the prosurvival gene Akt1. The Akt-engineered MSC were more resistant to apoptosis and could enhance cardiac repairing after transplantation into an ischemic rat heart.²⁰ Intratumoral injection of epidermal growth factor receptor-MSC adenovirally engineered to secrete interferon-alpha to intracranial GL261 gliomas resulted in significantly prolonged survival in comparison with that of MSC alone.²¹ These reports strongly demonstrate that genetic engineering is one of the promising technologies to positively improve the efficacy of cell therapy although the viral approach may be practically limited for clinical application. In the present study, we developed a novel genetic engineering technology for MSC by a non-viral carrier. Gene-modified MSC with the spermine-dextran showed a great therapeutic potential for myocardial infarction as compared with MSC alone. This therapeutic approach will be applicable to any gene construct to treat a variety of intractable diseases in the future.

In conclusion, a novel efficient gene delivery into MSC was developed by using a nonviral vector, the spermine-dextran. Transplantation of AM gene-engineered MSC

127

enhanced the therapeutic potency of MSC for a rat model of myocardial infarction, and the beneficial effect was mediated by the promoted anti-apoptotic and angiogenic effects of AM gene-modified MSC. Thus, gene-modified MSC with the spermine-dextran may have a great therapeutic potential for myocardial infarction.

REFERENCES

- 1 Shah PB, Losordo DW. Non-viral vectors for gene therapy: clinical trials in cardiovascular disease. *Adv Genet* 2005; **54:** 339-361.
- 2 Hennekens CH. Increasing burden of cardiovascular disease: current knowledge and future directions for research on risk factors. *Circulation* 1998; **97:** 1095-1102.
- 3 Lee N, Thorne T, Losordo DW, Yoon YS. Repair of ischemic heart disease with novel bone marrow-derived multipotent stem cells. *Cell Cycle* 2005; **4:** 861-864.
- 4 Schratzberger P, Kirchmair R, Vale PR, Losordo DW. Therapeutic angiogenesis by gene transfer in critical limb and myocardial ischemia. *Curr Pharm Des* 2003; **9**: 1041-1047.
- 5 Kawamoto A, Tkebuchava T, Yamaguchi J, Nishimura H, Yoon YS, Milliken C *et al.* Intramyocardial transplantation of autologous endothelial progenitor cells for therapeutic neovascularization of myocardial ischemia. *Circulation* 2003; **107**: 461-468.
- Yoon YS, Johnson IA, Park JS, Diaz L, Losordo DW. Therapeutic myocardial angiogenesis with vascular endothelial growth factors. *Mol Cell Biochem* 2004; 264: 63-74.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD *et al.* Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 1999; 284: 143-147.
- 8 Makino S, Fukuda K, Miyoshi S, Konishi F, Kodama H, Pan J *et al.* Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells in vitro. *J Clin Invest* 1999; **103**: 697-705.
- 9 Reyes M, Dudek A, Jahagirdar B, Koodie L, Marker PH, Verfaillie CM. Origin of endothelial progenitors in human postnatal bone marrow. *J Clin Invest* 2002; 109: 337-346.
- 10 Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahill KS, Byrne BJ, Kessler PD. Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. *Circulation* 2002; **105**: 93-98.
- 11 Wang JS, Shum-Tim D, Galipeau J, Chedrawy E, Eliopoulos N, Chiu RC. Marrow

stromal cells for cellular cardiomyoplasty: feasibility and potential clinical advantages. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2000; **120:** 999-1005.

- 12 Kamihata H, Matsubara H, Nishiue T, Fujiyama S, Tsutsumi Y, Ozono R *et al.* Implantation of bone marrow mononuclear cells into ischemic myocardium enhances collateral perfusion and regional function via side supply of angioblasts, angiogenic ligands, and cytokines. *Circulation* 2001; **104:** 1046-1052.
- 13 Kobayashi T, Hamano K, Li TS, Katoh T, Kobayashi S, Matsuzaki M *et al.* Enhancement of angiogenesis by the implantation of self bone marrow cells in a rat ischemic heart model. *J Surg Res* 2000; **89:** 189-195.
- 14 Kocher AA, Schuster MD, Szabolcs MJ, Takuma S, Burkhoff D, Wang J *et al.* Neovascularization of ischemic myocardium by human bone-marrow-derived angioblasts prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis, reduces remodeling and improves cardiac function. *Nat Med* 2001; **7**: 430-436.
- 15 Nagaya N, Kangawa K, Itoh T, Iwase T, Murakami S, Miyahara Y *et al.* Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in a rat model of dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 2005; **112**: 1128-1135.
- 16 Gafni Y, Turgeman G, Liebergal M, Pelled G, Gazit Z, Gazit D. Stem cells as vehicles for orthopedic gene therapy. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 417-426.
- 17 Chang SC, Chuang HL, Chen YR, Chen JK, Chung HY, Lu YL *et al.* Ex vivo gene therapy in autologous bone marrow stromal stem cells for tissue-engineered maxillofacial bone regeneration. *Gene Ther* 2003; **10**: 2013-2019.
- 18 Park J, Ries J, Gelse K, Kloss F, von der Mark K, Wiltfang J et al. Bone regeneration in critical size defects by cell-mediated BMP-2 gene transfer: a comparison of adenoviral vectors and liposomes. *Gene Ther* 2003; **10**: 1089-1098.
- 19 Turgeman G, Pittman DD, Muller R, Kurkalli BG, Zhou S, Pelled G *et al.* Engineered human mesenchymal stem cells: a novel platform for skeletal cell mediated gene therapy. *J Gene Med* 2001; **3:** 240-251.
- 20 Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted

hearts. Nat Med 2003; 9: 1195-1201.

- 21 Sato H, Kuwashima N, Sakaida T, Hatano M, Dusak JE, Fellows-Mayle WK *et al.* Epidermal growth factor receptor-transfected bone marrow stromal cells exhibit enhanced migratory response and therapeutic potential against murine brain tumors. *Cancer Gene Ther* 2005; **12**: 757-768.
- 22 Studeny M, Marini FC, Dembinski JL, Zompetta C, Cabreira-Hansen M, Bekele BN *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells: potential precursors for tumor stroma and targeted-delivery vehicles for anticancer agents. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2004; **96**: 1593-1603.
- 23 Kitamura K, Kangawa K, Kawamoto M, Ichiki Y, Nakamura S, Matsuo H *et al.* Adrenomedullin: a novel hypotensive peptide isolated from human pheochromocytoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1993; **192:** 553-560.
- 24 Miyashita K, Itoh H, Sawada N, Fukunaga Y, Sone M, Yamahara K *et al.* Adrenomedullin provokes endothelial Akt activation and promotes vascular regeneration both in vitro and in vivo. *FEBS Lett* 2003; **544:** 86-92.
- Shiojima I, Walsh K. Role of Akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis.
 Circ Res 2002; 90: 1243-1250.
- 26 Kim W, Moon SO, Sung MJ, Kim SH, Lee S, So JN *et al.* Angiogenic role of adrenomedullin through activation of Akt, mitogen-activated protein kinase, and focal adhesion kinase in endothelial cells. *Faseb J* 2003; **17:** 1937-1939.
- Sata M, Kakoki M, Nagata D, Nishimatsu H, Suzuki E, Aoyagi T *et al.* Adrenomedullin and nitric oxide inhibit human endothelial cell apoptosis via a cyclic
 GMP-independent mechanism. *Hypertension* 2000; 36: 83-88.
- 28 Okumura H, Nagaya N, Itoh T, Okano I, Hino J, Mori K *et al.* Adrenomedullin infusion attenuates myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury through the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent pathway. *Circulation* 2004; **109**: 242-248.
- 29 Tokunaga N, Nagaya N, Shirai M, Tanaka E, Ishibashi-Ueda H, Harada-Shiba M *et al.*Adrenomedullin gene transfer induces therapeutic angiogenesis in a rabbit model of

chronic hind limb ischemia: benefits of a novel nonviral vector, gelatin. *Circulation* 2004; **109:** 526-531.

- 30 Nagaya N, Mori H, Murakami S, Kangawa K, Kitamura S. Adrenomedullin: angiogenesis and gene therapy. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2005; 288: R1432-1437.
- 31 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- 32 Nagaya N, Satoh T, Nishikimi T, Uematsu M, Furuichi S, Sakamaki F *et al.* Hemodynamic, renal, and hormonal effects of adrenomedullin infusion in patients with congestive heart failure. *Circulation* 2000; **101:** 498-503.
- 33 Nagaya N, Nishikimi T, Yoshihara F, Horio T, Morimoto A, Kangawa K. Cardiac adrenomedullin gene expression and peptide accumulation after acute myocardial infarction in rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 2000; **278:** R1019-1026.
- 34 Chien YW, Barbee RW, MacPhee AA, Frohlich ED, Trippodo NC. Increased ANF secretion after volume expansion is preserved in rats with heart failure. *Am J Physiol* 1988; **254:** R185-191.
- 35 Messina LM, Podrazik RM, Whitehill TA, Ekhterae D, Brothers TE, Wilson JM *et al.* Adhesion and incorporation of lacZ-transduced endothelial cells into the intact capillary wall in the rat. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1992; **89:** 12018-12022.

Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of macrophages genetically engineered by cationized dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes for tumor

INTRODUCTION

Macrophages (M ϕ) play an important role in the natural surveillance system for tumor. M ϕ have an inherent ability to actively recognize the occurrence of tumor and prevent or suppress the tumor growth ¹. However, the M ϕ anti-tumor activity is not always strong enough to suppress the tumor growth. As one trial to resolve this issue, M ϕ should be activated for their anti-tumor function by any method. Since M ϕ themselves possess the inherent nature of tumor recognition, it is possible that they work as the natural carrier to target the tumor tissue, upon injecting intravenously. To provide M ϕ with an anti-tumor activity, it is one of the promising strategies to allow an anti-tumor gene to transfect. Therefore, it is necessary to develop the efficient technology of gene transfection.

Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) has been noted as a signal molecule that plays an important role in development, morphogenesis, and regeneration of living systems ²⁻⁵. On the other hand, for malignant tumors, HGF plays a definitive role in invasive, angiogenic, and metastatic behavior of tumor cells by way of the c-Met receptor ⁶⁻¹⁰. Therefore, it is highly expected that the inhibition of interaction between HGF and the c-Met receptor effectively suppresses the malignant activity of tumors. Based on this concept, Date et al. ¹¹ prepared an antagonist for HGF. The antagonist (NK4) is composed of the NH₂-terminal hairpin domain and the subsequent four kringle domains of α -subunit of HGF. The NK4 binds to the c-Met/HGF receptor, but does not induce the tyrosine phosphorylation of c-Met ¹¹. NK4 competitively inhibits some biological events driven by the HGF-Met receptor binding, including the invasion and metastasis of distinct types of tumor cells ^{11,12}. Moreover, NK4 has an anti-angiogenic activity which is independent of the activity as an HGF antagonist ¹³. The recombinant protein of NK4 has been used for tumor animal models to demonstrate the in vivo therapeutic feasibility and the blocking effect on HGF functions ¹²⁻¹⁴. In addition, desired antitumor effects have been reported through the stable expression of NK4 gene in tumor cells

with recombinant adenoviruses ¹⁵⁻¹⁹.

In this study, M ϕ were transfected by the NK4 plasmid DNA to give them a nature to secret an anti-tumor NK4 protein. Genetic engineering of M ϕ was performed by the reverse transfection with the complex of a cationized dextran and NK4 plasmid DNA. In vitro inhibition of tumor cells growth was investigated by co-culture with M ϕ genetically engineered. Following the intravenous injection into tumor-bearing mice, the in vivo anti-tumor activity of M ϕ engineered was evaluated. We examine feasibility of the reverse transfection method in the gene expression for M ϕ comparing with the conventional transfection of plasmid DNA complexed with the cationized dextran and Lipofectamine 2000 commercially available.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Dextran with a weight-average molecular weight of 74,000 and spermine were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO. Pronectin® (Lot #: R1-7K002-A) was kindly supplied from Sanyo Chemical Industries, Kyoto, Japan. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification.

Preparation of cationized dextran derivative

Spermine was introduced to the hydroxyl groups of dextran by a N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ²⁰. Spermine (1.87 x 10^3 mg) and CDI (2.25 x 10^2 mg) were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide containing 50 mg of dextran. Following agitation at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against ultra-pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days with a dialysis membrane (the cut-off molecular weight = 12,000-14,000, Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, IL). Then, the solution dialyzed was freeze-dried to obtain the spermine-introduced dextran (spermine-dextran). When determined from the conventional elemental analysis, the molar percentage of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of dextran was 17.9 mole%.
Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNAs used were a pCMV vector ²¹ coding for a firefly luciferase gene (pCMV-luciferase), a NK4 gene (pCMV-NK4), and a green fluorescent protein gene (pCMV-GFP). The plasmid DNA was propagated in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of the plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Preparation of polyion complexes (PIC)

PIC were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of spermine-dextran with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, 4.0 μ g of spermine-dextran was dissolved in 50 μ l of DDW and mixed with 50 μ l of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4)) containing 2.5 μ g of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain the PIC of spermine-dextran and plasmid DNA at a nitrogen number of spermine-dextran / the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA ratio of 3.0. To complex the plasmid DNA with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA), 50 μ l of Opti-MEM (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA) containing 5.0 μ g of Lipofectamine was mixed with 50 μ l of Opti-MEM containing 2.5 μ g of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature.

Preparation and culture of Mø

Mouse peritoneal M ϕ were isolated from 6-week-old female BALB/c mice (body weight = 20 g, Shimizu Laboratory Supplies Co. Ltd., Kyoto, Japan) according to the conventional procedure previously reported ²². Briefly, mice were injected aseptically with 2 ml of thioglycolate broth (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) intraperitoneally. At 4 days after injection, 6.0 ml of Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) was intraperitoneally injected to the mice, and then the peritoneal cells were collected by syringe aspiration. After centrifugation (1,000 rpm, 5 min, 4 C), pelleted peritoneal cells were resuspended in DMEM

supplemented with 15 vol% fetal calf serum (FCS), penicillin (50 U/ml), and streptomycin (50 U/ml) and seeded on tissue culture plate (Corning, NY) at a density of 1×10^6 cells / cm². After incubating at 37 ° C in a 5% CO₂, 95% air atmosphere for 2 hr, the plate was washed thoroughly with DMEM to remove non-adherent cells. The adherent cells obtained were used as M ϕ for the following experiments.

Conventional gene transfection

M\$\phi\$ were seeded on each well of 12-well multi-dish culture plate (Corning, NY, USA) at a density of 5×10^5 cells/well and cultured in 1 ml of DMEM medium with 15 vol% FCS for a week. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by the FCS-free DMEM medium, 100 µl of solution of the plasmid DNA complex with the cationized dextran or Lipofectamine 2000 or free plasmid DNA was added while the 3 hr culture was performed for gene transfection in the presence or absence of FCS. Following the complete rinsing of cells with the FCS-free medium, cells were incubated in the DMEM medium with FCS further for 1, 3, and 5 days.

Reverse gene transfection

Succinic anhydride (90.1 mg) was added to 20 ml of 100 mg/ml gelatin solution in DMSO, followed by agitation at room temperature for 18 hr to allow to introduce the carboxyl groups to the amino groups of gelatin for anionization. When determined as the extent of amino groups decreased by the trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid method ²³, the molar amount of carboxylic groups introduced was 100 mole%.

The aqueous solution (200 µl) of the anionized gelatin (100 µg/ml) and Pronectin (200 µg/ml) was placed into each well of 12-well multi-well culture plate, followed by leaving at 37° C for 1 hr to allow them to adsorb. Following PBS washing, the well was coated with the plasmid DNA-spermine-dextran complex containing 2.5 µg of plasmid DNA. Following incubation for 30 min, every well was washed with PBS. Then, M ϕ (5×10⁴ cells/well) were seeded on the complex-coated well, followed by cell culture in the DMEM medium with or without 15 vol% FCS for 1, 3, and 5 days.

Assay of gene expression

To assay the level of gene transfection, cells were washed with PBS once, lysed in 100 µl of cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 µl of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI) was added to 20 µl of supernatant while the relative light unit (RLU) of the sample was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) according to the manufacturers' instructions. The RLU was divided by the protein amount to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity. Each experimental group was carried out three times independently. After the reverse transfection culture with the spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complex for different time periods, the amount of NK4 protein secreted was measured by an IMMUNIS ® HGF EIA kit (Institute of immunology Co. LTD., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions.

Microscopic observation of intracellular localization

To investigate the intracellular localization of plasmid DNA, the pCMV-luciferase was fluorescently labeled by using Label IT® CX-Rhodamine Labeling Kit (Mirus®, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturers' instructions. After the conventional and reverse transfection cultures for different time periods with the complex of rhodamine-labeled plasmid DNA and the spermine-dextran, cells were washed and fixed with 0.25 wt% glutaraldehyde solution in PBS, followed by staining nucleus with Hoechst 33342 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Imaging data of cells were collected on an Olympus Fluoview FV300 confocal laser scanning microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) and processed with Adobe Photoshop 6.0 software (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA).

In vitro anti-tumor activity of Mø genetically engineered

The in vitro anti-tumor activity of M ϕ was evaluated in terms of their suppression activity of tumor cells growth. Briefly, M ϕ (1×10⁶ cells) were genetically engineered by the reverse transfection culture with the complex of spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA in 6 well multi-culture plate (COSTAR[®], Corning Inc, NY) as described above. Meth-A cells (1×10⁵ cells) were added to the M ϕ culture 3 hr later. After co-culture for 1, 3, and 6 days, the number of cells grown was counted. The experiment of each sample was performed for three wells. As controls, tumor cells were cultured with non-transfected, original M ϕ (1×10⁶ cells) or without M ϕ and the number was counted similarly.

In vivo therapeutic assay of Mø genetically engineered

Meth-A cells (1×10^{6} cells/mouse) suspended in 200 µl of PBS were subcutaneously inoculated into the back of BALB/C mice. M ϕ were genetically engineered by the reverse transfection with the complex of spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA as described previously. When the tumor was grown to be the longest and the widest diameter of about 10 mm, tumor therapy with M ϕ genetically engineered was started. M ϕ genetically engineered were taken off with a rubber policeman, washed twice, and resuspended in PBS. Then, 100 µl of M ϕ (5×10^{6} cells) suspended in PBS was intravenously injected via the tail vein of tumor-bearing mice. At different time periods after intravenous injection, the longest and widest diameter of tumor mass were measured with a caliper and the tumor volume was calculated by using the formula of (length) ×(width) 2 ×1/2 24 . As controls, saline or non-transfected, original M ϕ was injected similarly.

Statistical Analysis

Data were expressed as the mean \pm the standard deviation of the mean. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, and then differences among means were analyzed using Fisher's PLSD multiple comparison test and significance was accepted at p <0.05.

RESULTS

Gene expression by spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 1 shows the level of gene expression of spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes for $M\phi$ by the conventional and reverse methods. For the conventional transfection method, the expression level by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex was significantly higher than that of plasmid DNA with or without the Lipofectamine 2000 complex. In the presence of FCS, the level by the reverse transfection method was significantly higher than that by the conventional one.



Figure 1. The level of luciferase expression for M ϕ 2 days after transfection of luciferase plasmid DNA with the spermine-pullulan by the conventional (open bars) and reverse methods (closed bars). The cells were cultured in the presence (FCS(+)) or absence of FCS (FCS(-)). *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of free plasmid DNA.

 \dagger , p<0.05; versus the expression level of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional method (FCS(+)).

Figure 2 shows the time course of gene expression level of spermine-dextran-luciferase plasmid DNA complexes for $M\phi$ by the conventional and reverse methods. The level of gene expression by the reverse method of spermine-dextran complexes was high and lasted for a long time period compared with that by the conventional one.

Figure 3 shows the confocal microscopic images of $M\phi$ at different time points after transfection with spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. When transfected by the reverse method, the plasmid DNA was localized in the cell nucleus at higher amounts even at a shorter time point than that by the conventional method while the nucleus localization lasted for longer time periods.



Figure 2. Time course of luciferase expression level for M ϕ after transfection of luciferase plasmid DNA with the spermine-dextran by the conventional and reverse methods. The cells were cultured for 2 (open bars), 4 (light gray bars), and 6 (solid bars) days in the presence (FCS(+)) or absence of FCS (FCS(-)). The dotted line indicates the level of non-transfected, original M ϕ . *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional method at the corresponding time. †, p<0.05; versus the expression level of free plasmid DNA at the corresponding time.



Figure 3. Confocal laser microscopic images of $M\phi$ 3 and 24 hr or 7 days after transfection of luciferase plasmid DNA with the spermine-dextran by the conventional and reverse methods. The red and blue points indicate the plasmid DNA and cell nucleus, respectively.



Figure 4. Time course of NK4 secretion of non-transfected, control M ϕ (open bars) or those transfected with free NK4 plasmid DNA by the conventional method (light gray bars), and the spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complex by the reverse method (solid bars). *, p<0.05; versus the expression level of other groups at the corresponding time.

In vitro anti-tumor properties of Mø genetically engineered by spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 4 shows the time course of NK4 secretion of M ϕ transfected with spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. When transfected with the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the reverse method, M ϕ secreted NK4 protein at significantly higher amounts even 2 days after transfection than those of non-transfected or transfected with free NK4 plasmid DNA. Moreover, the NK4 protein secretion lasted for longer time periods.

Figure 5 shows the in vitro anti-tumor activity of M ϕ transfected by the reverse method of spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes. M ϕ genetically engineered by the complex suppressed the in vitro proliferation of Meth-A cells to a significantly great extent compared with non-engineered naïve cells.



Figure 5. Proliferation profiles of Meth-A cells cultured with (open marks) or without $M\phi$ (solid marks). The cells were transfected with the spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complex by the reverse method (\bigcirc) and not transfected (\triangle). *, p<0.05; versus the cell number of other groups at the corresponding time.

In vivo anti-tumor activities of M ϕ genetically engineered by the reverse transfection method with spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 6 shows the fluorescent microscopic image of tumor tissue 1 day after intravenous injection of GFP-transfected M ϕ to tumor-bearing mice. It is apparent that M ϕ intravenously injected accumulated in the tumor tissue.



Figure 6. Fluorescence microscopic images of tumor tissue 1 day after intravenous injection of GFP-transfected M ϕ to tumor-bearing mice: (A) nucleus staining and (B) M ϕ GFP. The bar length is 20 μ m.



Figure 7. Time course of tumor volume change after intravenous injection of saline (\bigcirc), non-transfected, original M ϕ (\triangle), and M ϕ transfected with the spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA by the reverse method (\Box). *, p<0.05 versus the tumor volume of other groups at the corresponding time.

Figure 7 shows the in vivo anti-tumor activity of M ϕ transfected by the reverse method of spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes. The intravenous injection of M ϕ transfected with the spermine-dextran-NK4 plasmid DNA complexes by the reverse method tended to suppress the in vivo growth of tumor cells even at the early time period and exhibited significantly higher anti-tumor effect in vivo than that of non-transfected M ϕ .

DISCUSSION

The present study clearly demonstrates that the delivery of NK4 plasmid DNA based on the natural potential of M ϕ to recognize the tumor tissue was effective in the in vivo anti-tumor therapy. This is the first report to show the tumor targetable therapy of M ϕ genetically engineered. This idea to therapeutically treat diseases by making use of the natural homing ability of cells, so-called gene-cell hybrid therapy, has been reported to demonstrate their therapeutic efficacy ²⁵⁻³³. With the recent advent of biological and medical researches regarding cells, various types of cells have been available, and consequently cell therapy will get more and more popular.

The efficacy of reverse transfection in gene expression was also confirmed in this study for the luciferase (**Figures 1 and 2**) and NK4 plasmid DNAs (**Figure 4**). The higher efficiency of gene transfection can be explained in terms of the unique feature of reverse method. M ϕ are always cultured on the complex of plasmid DNA and spermine-dextran of non-viral carrier. It is likely that the localization of plasmid DNA close to cells enhances the possibility of cellular internalization of plasmid DNA, resulting in increased efficiency of gene transfection. In addition, as described in Chapter 5, the transfection culture can be performed in the presence of serum, which is better conditions for cell culture. It is apparent from **Figure 3** that the plasmid DNA was localized in the nucleus of cells at higher amounts and for longer time periods. This may be also due to the efficient and continuous supply of plasmid DNA to cells.

 $M\phi$ were targeted to the tumor tissue following their intravenous injection into mice carrying a tumor mass (**Figure 6**). This is due to their natural tumor targetability. $M\phi$ genetically engineered showed the anti-tumor activity (**Figure 5**). It is possible to consider

several mechanisms of macrophages to kill tumor cells. First, macrophages transfected secreted anti-tumor NK4 proteins to directly kill Meth-A cells. Secondly, it is well known that macrophages naturally function as an effector cell to injure tumor cells by the secretion of various anti-tumor cytokines and the direct cell contact ³⁴. This inherent nature of macrophages would result in the anti-tumor effect. Taken together, it is likely that after intravenously injected, M ϕ genetically activated by the NK4 plasmid DNA of anti-tumor effect are naturally homed to the tumor tissue, resulting in the local and continuous secretion of NK4 protein at the tumor tissue to kill tumor cells. The amount of NK4 protein secreted increased with time up to 4 days. Thus, it is conceivable that this delayed secretion did not suppress the in vivo tumor growth at the early time period after cells injection.

Since $M\phi$ have an inherent ability to recognize and home to the site of inflammation and diseases other than the tumor tissue, the natural targeting by $M\phi$ as a drug carrier will be therapeutically available to various applications. This approach will be promising cell therapy of next generation which can overcome the present problems to be resolved.

REFERENCES

- 1 Tabata Y, Ikada Y. Drug delivery systems for antitumor activation of macrophages. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst* 1990; **7:** 121-148.
- Nakamura T, Nishizawa T, Hagiya M, Seki T, Shimonishi M, Sugimura A *et al.* Molecular cloning and expression of human hepatocyte growth factor. *Nature* 1989;
 342: 440-443.
- 3 Zarnegar R, Michalopoulos GK. The many faces of hepatocyte growth factor: from hepatopoiesis to hematopoiesis. *J Cell Biol* 1995; **129**: 1177-1180.
- 4 Matsumoto K, Nakamura T. Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) as a tissue organizer for organogenesis and regeneration. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1997; **239:** 639-644.
- 5 Birchmeier C, Gherardi E. Developmental roles of HGF/SF and its receptor, the c-Met tyrosine kinase. *Trends Cell Biol* 1998; **8:** 404-410.
- 6 Cortner J, Vande Woude GF, Rong S. The Met-HGF/SF autocrine signaling mechanism is involved in sarcomagenesis. *Exs* 1995; **74:** 89-121.
- Rosen EM, Goldberg ID. Scatter factor and angiogenesis. *Adv Cancer Res* 1995; 67: 257-279.
- 8 Jeffers M, Rong S, Woude GF. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor-Met signaling in tumorigenicity and invasion/metastasis. *J Mol Med* 1996; **74:** 505-513.
- 9 To CT, Tsao MS. The roles of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and met receptor in human cancers (Review). *Oncol Rep* 1998; **5:** 1013-1024.
- 10 Jiang W, Hiscox S, Matsumoto K, Nakamura T. Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor, its molecular, cellular and clinical implications in cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 1999; 29: 209-248.
- Date K, Matsumoto K, Shimura H, Tanaka M, Nakamura T. HGF/NK4 is a specific antagonist for pleiotrophic actions of hepatocyte growth factor. *FEBS Lett* 1997; 420: 1-6.
- 12 Date K, Matsumoto K, Kuba K, Shimura H, Tanaka M, Nakamura T. Inhibition of tumor growth and invasion by a four-kringle antagonist (HGF/NK4) for hepatocyte growth factor. *Oncogene* 1998; **17:** 3045-3054.

- 13 Kuba K, Matsumoto K, Date K, Shimura H, Tanaka M, Nakamura T. HGF/NK4, a four-kringle antagonist of hepatocyte growth factor, is an angiogenesis inhibitor that suppresses tumor growth and metastasis in mice. *Cancer Res* 2000; **60**: 6737-6743.
- 14 Tomioka D, Maehara N, Kuba K, Mizumoto K, Tanaka M, Matsumoto K *et al.* Inhibition of growth, invasion, and metastasis of human pancreatic carcinoma cells by NK4 in an orthotopic mouse model. *Cancer Res* 2001; **61:** 7518-7524.
- 15 Saga Y, Mizukami H, Suzuki M, Urabe M, Kume A, Nakamura T *et al.* Expression of HGF/NK4 in ovarian cancer cells suppresses intraperitoneal dissemination and extends host survival. *Gene Ther* 2001; 8: 1450-1455.
- 16 Maehara N, Nagai E, Mizumoto K, Sato N, Matsumoto K, Nakamura T *et al.* Gene transduction of NK4, HGF antagonist, inhibits in vitro invasion and in vivo growth of human pancreatic cancer. *Clin Exp Metastasis* 2002; **19:** 417-426.
- 17 Hirao S, Yamada Y, Koyama F, Fujimoto H, Takahama Y, Ueno M *et al.* Tumor suppression effect using NK4, a molecule acting as an antagonist of HGF, on human gastric carcinomas. *Cancer Gene Ther* 2002; **9:** 700-707.
- 18 Saimura M, Nagai E, Mizumoto K, Maehara N, Okino H, Katano M *et al.* Intraperitoneal injection of adenovirus-mediated NK4 gene suppresses peritoneal dissemination of pancreatic cancer cell line AsPC-1 in nude mice. *Cancer Gene Ther* 2002; **9**: 799-806.
- 19 Maemondo M, Narumi K, Saijo Y, Usui K, Tahara M, Tazawa R *et al.* Targeting angiogenesis and HGF function using an adenoviral vector expressing the HGF antagonist NK4 for cancer therapy. *Mol Ther* 2002; **5:** 177-185.
- 20 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- 21 Tokui M, Takei I, Tashiro F, Shimada A, Kasuga A, Ishii M *et al.* Intramuscular injection of expression plasmid DNA is an effective means of long-term systemic delivery of interleukin-5. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1997; **233**: 527-531.
- 22 Ikada Y, Tabata Y. Phagocytosis of bioactive microspheres. *Journal of Bioactive and Compatible Polymers* 1986; **1:** 32-46.
- 23 Habeeb AF. Determination of free amino groups in proteins by trinitrobenzenesulfonic

acid. Anal Biochem 1966; 14: 328-336.

- 24 Konishi M, Tabata Y, Kariya M, Hosseinkhani H, Suzuki A, Fukuhara K *et al.* In vivo anti-tumor effect of dual release of cisplatin and adriamycin from biodegradable gelatin hydrogel. *J Control Release* 2005; **103**: 7-19.
- 25 Gafni Y, Turgeman G, Liebergal M, Pelled G, Gazit Z, Gazit D. Stem cells as vehicles for orthopedic gene therapy. *Gene Ther* 2004; **11**: 417-426.
- 26 Chang SC, Chuang HL, Chen YR, Chen JK, Chung HY, Lu YL *et al.* Ex vivo gene therapy in autologous bone marrow stromal stem cells for tissue-engineered maxillofacial bone regeneration. *Gene Ther* 2003; **10**: 2013-2019.
- 27 Park J, Ries J, Gelse K, Kloss F, von der Mark K, Wiltfang J *et al.* Bone regeneration in critical size defects by cell-mediated BMP-2 gene transfer: a comparison of adenoviral vectors and liposomes. *Gene Ther* 2003; **10**: 1089-1098.
- 28 Turgeman G, Pittman DD, Muller R, Kurkalli BG, Zhou S, Pelled G *et al.* Engineered human mesenchymal stem cells: a novel platform for skeletal cell mediated gene therapy. *J Gene Med* 2001; **3:** 240-251.
- 29 Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. *Nat Med* 2003; **9:** 1195-1201.
- 30 Sato H, Kuwashima N, Sakaida T, Hatano M, Dusak JE, Fellows-Mayle WK *et al.* Epidermal growth factor receptor-transfected bone marrow stromal cells exhibit enhanced migratory response and therapeutic potential against murine brain tumors. *Cancer Gene Ther* 2005; **12:** 757-768.
- 31 Studeny M, Marini FC, Dembinski JL, Zompetta C, Cabreira-Hansen M, Bekele BN *et al.* Mesenchymal stem cells: potential precursors for tumor stroma and targeted-delivery vehicles for anticancer agents. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2004; 96: 1593-1603.
- 32 Nagaya N, Kangawa K, Kanda M, Uematsu M, Horio T, Fukuyama N *et al.* Hybrid cell-gene therapy for pulmonary hypertension based on phagocytosing action of endothelial progenitor cells. *Circulation* 2003; **108**: 889-895.

- 33 Okazaki A, Jo J, Tabata Y. A reverse transfection technology to genetically engineer adult stem cells. *Tissue Eng* 2007; **13**: 245-251.
- Herberman RB. Possible role of natural killer cells and other effector cells in immune surveillance against cancer. *J Invest Dermatol* 1984; 83: 137s-140s.

Enhanced therapeutic efficacy of dendritic cells genetically engineered by cationized dextran-interleukin 12 plasmid DNA complexes for tumor

INTRODUCTION

Dendritic cells (DC) are professional antigen presenting cells, which possess a capacity to generate primary immune responses ¹. After the antigen uptake, DC process these antigens into small peptides and move into secondary lymphoid organs to present the antigenic peptides to lymphocyte for their immunological activation ²⁻⁴. For the activation, DC are biologically matured and obtain immunological responsibility, which express high levels of cell-surface major histocompatibility complex antigen complexes and costimulatory molecules. The responding lymphocytes include naïve T cells, helper CD4⁺ T cells, cytolytic CD8⁺ T cells, naïve B cells, memory B cells, natural killer cells, and natural killer T cells, all of which are critical elements of immunological responses. DC play a central role in the natural immunization. Therefore, because of the function of DC, DC generated *ex vivo* are highly expected to be a promising cell suitable for vaccination in cancer and infectious diseases ⁵. However, the immune response of DC is not strong enough for vaccination in vigorous tumors. It is necessary for successful DC-based tumor vaccination to activate the immunological function for anti-tumor response.

Interleukin-12 (IL-12) is a heterodimeric cytokine produced by DC, macrophages, polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and keratinocytes ⁶. The anti-tumor effect of DC genetically modified with an IL-12 gene was examined in mouse tumor models ⁷. IL-12 enhances the anti-tumor effect of natural killer cells and CTL activities, plays a key role in the induction of Th1-type immune responses including interferon gamma (IFN- γ) production, and has IFN- γ /IFN-inducible protein 10-dependent antiangiogenic effects ⁸. It has been reported that following intratumoral injection, bone marrow-derived DC genetically modified with an IL-12 gene enhanced their uptaking tumor antigens at the tumor site and moved into secondary lymphoid organs to induce an immune response against the tumor ⁹. Intratumoral

injection of IL-12-engineeded DC suppressed the in vivo growth of tumors established and induced a strong anti-tumor T-cell response ⁹. However, in the researches reported, retrovirus or adenovirus vectors have been used for genetic engineering of DC.

The objective of this chapter is to investigate the gene transfection of DC for the genetic engineering by the spermine-dextran of non-viral carrier and compared with that of other transfection reagents commercially available. Moreover, gene transfection by the reverse transfection method with the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex was carried out to enhance gene transfection efficiency ¹⁰. DC genetically engineered by the complex of mouse interleukin 12 (mIL-12) plasmid DNA and spermine-dextran were intratumorally injected to tumor-bearing mice to evaluate the in vivo anti-tumor effect. The IFNγ production of spleen cells isolated from tumor-bearing mice injected with DC engineered and the anti-tumor activity were investigated.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

Dextran with a weight-average molecular weight of 74,000 and spermine were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO. Pronectin® (Lot #: R1-7K002-A) was kindly supplied from Sanyo Chemical Industries, Kyoto, Japan. Other chemicals were obtained from Nacalai Tesque. Inc., Kyoto, Japan and used without further purification

Preparation of cationized dextran derivatives

introduced to the hydroxyl Spermine was groups of dextran by а N,N'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) activation method ¹¹. Spermine (1870 mg) and CDI (225 mg) were added to 50 ml of dehydrated dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) containing 50 mg of dextran. Following agitation at 35 °C for 20 hr, the reaction mixture was dialyzed against ultra-pure double distilled water (DDW) for 2 days with a dialysis membrane (the cut-off molecular weight = 12,000-14,000, Viskase Companies, Inc, Willowbrook, IL). Then, the freeze-dried to obtain the spermine-introduced dextran solution dialyzed was (spermine-dextran). When determined from the conventional elemental analysis, the molar percentage of spermine introduced to the hydroxyl groups of dextran was 12.7 mole%.

Preparation of plasmid DNA

The plasmid DNAs used were the pGL3 plasmid coding for a firefly luciferase gene (Luciferase Reporter Vectors-pGL3, Promega, Madison, WI), the pEGFP-N1 plasmid coding enhanced green fluorescent protein (GFP, Clontech Laboratory Inc., Shiga, Japan), and the pGEG mIL-12 plasmid coding for a bicistronic expression cassette for murine IL-12 p35 and p40 genes ¹², which was kindly supplied by Dr. Mazda, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Kyoto. The plasmid DNA was propagated in an *E. coli* (strain DH5 α) and purified by QIAGEN plasmid Mega kit (Qiagen K.K., Tokyo, Japan) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Both the yield and purity of plasmid DNA were evaluated by UV spectroscopy (Ultrospec 2000, Pharmacia Biotech, Cambridge, England). The absorbance ratio at wavelengths of 260 to 280 nm for plasmid DNA solution was measured to be between 1.8 and 2.0.

Preparation of polyion complexes (PIC)

PIC were prepared by mixing an aqueous solution of spermine-dextran with that of plasmid DNA. Briefly, various amounts of spermine-dextran were dissolved in 50 µl of DDW and mixed with 50 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 2.5 µg of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature to obtain the PIC of spermine-dextran and plasmid DNA. The PIC composition was calculated on the basis of the nitrogen number of spermine-pullulan (N) per the phosphorus number of plasmid DNA (P) and expressed as the N/P ratio. To complex the plasmid DNA with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA), 50 µl of Opti-MEM (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA) containing 5.0 µg of Lipofectamine was mixed with 50 µl of Opti-MEM containing 2.5 µg of plasmid DNA, followed by leaving for 15 min at room temperature.

Preparation and culture of DC

Mouse immature DC were obtained from bone marrow cells (BMC) through the differentiation induction according to the conventional procedure previously reported ¹³. Briefly, mouse BMC were harvested from the femur and tibia of 4-week-old female ICR mice or 6-week-old female C57BL/6 mice (body weight = 20 g, Shimizu Laboratory Supplies Co. Ltd., Kyoto, Japan). Erythrocytes contaminated in BMC were lysed with ammonium chloride solution and cells were seeded in RPMI-1640 (Sigma-aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO) supplemented with penicillin (100 U/ml, Sigma-aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO), streptmycin (100 ug/ml, Sigma-aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO), 10 vol% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS) (Hyclone laboratories, Inc., Utah, USA) and 200 U/ml recombinant mouse-derived granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (rmGM-CSF, 1 x 10^7 U/mg, Peprotech/Tebu, Frankfurt, Germany) on day 0. The medium was changed every 2 days thereafter. The cells cultured for 9-14 days were used for all experiments as mouse immature DC.

Conventional gene transfection

DC were seeded on each well of a 12 well multi-dish culture plate (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) at a density of 2.5×10^5 cells/well and cultured in 1 ml of RPMI-1640 medium with 10 vol% FCS and 50 U/ml rmGM-CSF for 24 hr. Immediately after the medium was exchanged by FCS and rmGM-CSF-free RPMI-1640 medium, 100 µl of PIC solution containing 2.5 µg of plasmid DNA at different N/P ratios was added, and transfection culture was performed for 3hr. After the medium was changed to RPMI-1640 with 10 vol% FCS and rmGM-CSF, cells were incubated further for 1, 4, and 7 days.

Reverse gene transfection

In vitro gene transfection by the reverse method was performed according to the method described previously ¹⁰. Briefly, succinic anhydride (90.1 mg) was added to 20 ml of 100 mg/ml gelatin solution in DMSO, followed by agitation at room temperature for 18 hr to allow to introduce the carboxyl groups to the amino groups of gelatin for anionization. When

determined as the extent of amino groups decreased by the trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid method ¹⁴, the molar amount of carboxylic groups introduced was 100 mole%. The aqueous solution of anionized gelatin (100 μ g/ml) and Pronectin (200 μ g/ml) was placed into each well of 12-well multi dish culture plate and left at 37 °C for 1 hr for coating. After PBS washing, the well was coated with the polyion complex solution containing 2.5 μ g of plasmid DNA at an N/P ratio of 3. After 30 min incubation, the wells were washed with PBS. Then, DC (2.5 x 10⁵ cells/well) were seeded on the complex-coated well, followed by cell culture in the RPMI-1640 medium with 10 vol% FCS and 50 U/ml rmGM-CSF for 2, 5, and 8 days.

Assay of gene expression

To assay the level of luciferase expression, cells transfected were washed with PBS once, lysed in 100 µl of cell culture lysis reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI), transferred into a micro reaction tube, and the cell debris was separated by centrifugation (14,000 rpm, 20 min). Then, 100 µl of luciferase assay reagent (Promega Corp., Madison, WI) was added to 20 µl of supernatant while the RLU of the sample was determined by a luminometer (MicroLumatPlus LB 96V, Berthold, Tokyo, Japan). The total protein of each well was determined by bicinchonic acid (BCA) Protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) according to the manufacturers' instructions. The relative light unit (RLU) was divided by the protein amount to normalize the influence of number variance of cells on the luciferase activity. Each experimental group was carried out three times independently.

To assay GFP expression efficacy, cells transfected were washed with PBS twice and detached by trypsinization. After centrifugation (1,000 rpm, 5 min), the cells were resuspended and washed with PBS twice. Cells (1×10^4) were measured by fluorescence activated cell sorter Calibur with Cell Quest Pro Software (FACSCalibur, Becton, Dickinson & Co. Biosciences, San Jose, CA). The percentage of positive cells was calculated by setting the background population as 98 % negative when analyzing control cells¹⁵.

After the reverse transfection culture with the spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complex for different time periods, the amount of mIL-12 produced were measured by the mIL-12 ELISA kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturers'

instructions.

Evaluation of plasmid DNA internalization into cells

Plasmid DNA was labeled with Cy5 by using Label IT® Cy5 Labeling Kit (Mirus Bio Co., Madison, WI). The Cy5-labeled plasmid DNA was complexed with spemine-dextran. The cells were treated in cold acetate buffer containing 0.3 vol% acetic acid, 0.085 M NaCl, and 5.0 mM KCl for 1 min, washed with cold PBS to remove the complexes bound to the cell surface. The cells were collected by the trypsinization, then ten thousand cells were measured by FACSCalibur flow cytometer. The percentage of Cy5-positive cells was calculated by setting the background population as 98% negative when analyzing control cells.

Microscopic observation of intracellular localization

After the conventional and reverse transfection cultures for 1 day with the complex of Cy5-labeled plasmid DNA and the spermine-dextran, cells were washed and fixed with 0.25 wt% glutaraldehyde solution in PBS, followed by staining nucleus with Hoechst 33342 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Imaging data of cells were collected on an Olympus Fluoview FV300 confocal laser scanning microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) and processed with Adobe Photoshop 6.0 software (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA).

Cell viability

Cytotoxicity after gene transfection was assayed using a cell counting kit (Nacalai tesque Inc., Kyoto, Japan). The medium was changed to RPMI-1640 with FCS and rmGM-CSF, and 10 μ l of 2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium (WST-8) solution was added and the cells incubated for another 4 hr. The absorbance of samples was measured at 450 nm using a VERSAmax microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale CA). The percentage cell viability was expressed as 100 % for non-transfected, control cells.

156

Evaluation of anti-tumor effect

B16 melanoma cells (1×10^5 cells/mouse) suspended in 200 µl of PBS were subcutaneously inoculated into the right flank of C57BL/6 mice on day 0. DC were genetically engineered by the reverse transfection with the complexes of spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA as described previously. On day 9, when the tumor size reached approximately 0.10–0.05 cm³, tumor therapy with DC genetically engineered was started. DC genetically engineered were taken off with a rubber policeman, washed twice, and resuspended in PBS. Then, 100 μ l of DC (1×10⁶ cells) suspended in PBS was intratumorally injected. At different time periods after intratumoral injection, the longest and widest diameter of tumor mass were measured with a caliper and the tumor volume was calculated by using the formula of (length) \times (width) $^{2}\times 1/2^{-16}$. As controls, PBS, non-transfected, original DC or those transfected with spermine-dextran-GFP plasmid DNA complex by the reverse method was injected similarly.

In vitro cytokine release assays

Splenocytes were obtained from the spleen harvested from tumor-bearing mice 7 days after intratumoral injection with PBS, original DC or those transfected with the complex of spermine-dextran and GFP or mIL-12 plasmid DNA by the reverse method. Briefly, the spleen taken was pressed through a sterile gauze, rinsed twice. These cells (1×10^6 cells) were co-cultured in 100 mm-dish (Corning, Inc., Corning, NY) with mytomycin C (Sigma)-treated B16 cells (1×10^6 cells) in culture medium containing 25 U/ml recombinant mouse IL-2 (2.5 x 10^6 U/mg; Prospec, Rehovot, Israel) for 6 days. Then, the culture medium was collected and measured the amount of interferon- γ (IFN- γ) by mouse IFN- γ (R & D Systems) ELISA kits according to the manufacturers' instructions.

Measurement of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) activity

Splenocytes harvested as described above (1 x 10^6 cells) were stimulated in 100 mm-dish with mytomycin C-treated B16 cells (1 x 10^6 cells) in culture medium containing 25 U/ml recombinant mouse IL-2 for 2 days. Then, the cells stimulated were used as effectors for

measurement of CTL activity. B16 (target) cells (5 x 10^4 cells each) were cultured in 96 well multi-dish culture plate (Corning Inc., Corning, NY) for 24h. After washing twice, various number of effector cells were added to the plate. After 4 hr co-culture, the supernatant (50 µl) was collected, and the LDH activity was measured by LDH-Cytotxic Test (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd., Osaka, Japan). The CTL activity was expressed as the number percentage of target cells injured by splenocytes to those completely injured by adding 0.2 vol% tween 20.

Evaluation of in vivo tumor immunity

B16 cells $(1\times10^5$ cells/mouse) suspended in 200 µl of PBS were subcutaneously inoculated into the both flanks of C57BL/6 mice on day 0. DC were genetically engineered by the reverse transfection with the complexes of spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA as described previously. On day 9, 100 µl of DC $(1\times10^6$ cells) suspended in PBS was injected into the tumor mass grown in the right flank of the mice. At 29 days after intratumoral injection, each tumor volume in the both flanks was calculated as described above. As controls, PBS, non-transfected, original DC or those transfected with spermine-dextran-GFP plasmid DNA complex by the reverse method was injected similarly

Statistical analysis

Numerical values were expressed as means \pm standard errors of the mean unless otherwise indicated. Comparisons of parameters between the 4 groups were made using one-way analysis of variance, followed by the Newman-Keul's multiple comparison test. P<0.05 was considered to be significant.

RESULTS

Gene expression by spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes

Figure 1 shows the level of luciferase expression for DC 1 day after transfection of luciferase plasmid DNA complexed with the spermine-dextran at different N/P ratios by the conventional and reverse method. In the conventional method, the level of gene expression by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes at an N/P ratio of 3.0 was significantly higher than those of free plasmid DNA and the plasmid DNA complexes of Lipofectamine 2000 or the spermine-dextrans at other N/P ratios (**Figure 1A**). On the other hand, the expression level by the reverse transfection method was significantly higher than that of the conventional one (**Figure 1B**).

Figure 2 shows the time course of percent internalized of GFP plasmid DNA and GFP expression for DC transfected with free plasmid DNA and spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. The plasmid DNA in the free form could be hardly internalized while little gene expression was observed. For the plasmid DNA in the complex form, there was no difference in the time course of plasmid DNA internalized into DC different between the conventional and reverse methods, while the percentage of plasmid DNA internalized was significantly higher for the reverse method than for the conventional one (**Figure 2A**). The level of GFP expressed by the conventional method decreased with culture time, whereas it was retained at a high value for the reverse method (**Figure 2B**).

Figure 3 shows the confocal laser microscopic images of DC 1 day after transfection with free plasmid DNA and spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. The plasmid DNA in the free form was hardly internalized into DC. The number of plasmid DNA internalized by DC for the reverse method tended to be larger than that of the conventional one.



Figure 1. (A) The level of luciferase expression for DC 1 day after transfection of luciferase plasmid DNA complexed with the spermine-dextran at different N/P ratios by the conventional method. As controls, free plasmid DNA and plasmid DNA complexes with Lipofectamine 2000 are used. The amount of plasmid DNA used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. (B) The level of luciferase expression for DC 1 day after transfection of luciferase plasmid DNA complexed with the spermine-dextran at a N/P ratio of 3.0 by the conventional (open column) and reverse methods (black columns). As control, free plasmid DNA is used. The amount of plasmid used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. *, p < 0.05; versus the expression level of DC transfected with the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex by the conventional method.



Figure 2. Time course of percent GFP plasmid DNA internalized (A) and GFP expression for DC (B) transfected with free plasmid DNA and spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. The cells were cultured for 1 (black columns), 4 (open columns), and 7 days (gray columns). The amount of plasmid DNA used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. The N/P ratio of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex is 3.0. *, p < 0.05; versus the percent GFP plasmid DNA internalized or GFP expression for DC transfected with free plasmid DNA at the corresponding time. **, p < 0.05; versus the percent GFP plasmid DNA complex is 5 plasmid DNA internalized or GFP expression for DC transfected with the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex by the conventional method at the corresponding time.



Figure 3. Confocal laser microscopic images of DC 1 day after transfection with free plasmid DNA (A) and spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional (B) and reverse methods (C). The plasmid DNA was labeled with Cy5. The amount of plasmid DNA used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. The N/P ratio of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex is 3.0. The red and blue points indicate the plasmid DNA and cell nucleus, respectively.

Viability of DC transfected by the conventional and reverse methods

Figure 4 shows the viability of DC 1 day after transfection with free plasmid DNA, plasmid DNA-Lipofectamine 2000 complexes, and spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. The cell viability decreased significantly by the conventional transfection method with the spermine-dextran and Lipofectamine 2000 complex with plasmid DNA. On the contrary, the viability after the reverse transfection culture was similar to that of non-transfected, original cells.



Figure 4. Viability of DC 1 day after transfection with free plasmid DNA, plasmid DNA-Lipofectamine 2000 complexes, and spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the conventional and reverse methods. The amount of plasmid DNA used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. The N/P ratio of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex is 3.0. *, p < 0.05; versus the viability of DC without transfection.

IL-12 expression of DC trasfected by spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complex

Figure 5 shows the time course of mIL-12 production of DC transfected with PBS, complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs by the reverse method. The amount of mIL-12 produced by DC transfected with the spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complexes was significantly higher than that of non-transfected, original DC until at least 14 days after transfection. The amount of mIL-12 produced by DC transfected with culture time.



Figure 5. Time course of mIL-12 production of DC transfected with PBS (closed bars), complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP (gray bars) or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs (open bars) by the reverse method. The amount of plasmid DNA used for transfection is 2.5 μ g. The N/P ratio of spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex is 3.0. *, p < 0.05; versus the amount of mIL-12 produced by DC transfected with PBS at the corresponding time. **, p < 0.05; versus the amount of IL-12 produced of DC transfected with spemine-dextran-GFP plasmid DNA complex at the corresponding time.

In vivo anti-tumor effect of DC genetically engineered with spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA by the reverse transfection method

Figure 6 shows the time course of tumor volume change after the intratumoral injection of PBS, non-transfected, original DC, and DC transfected with complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs by the reverse method. The intratumoral injection of DC transfected with the spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complexes by the reverse method tended to suppress the in vivo growth of tumor cells even at the early time period and exhibited significantly higher anti-tumor effect in vivo than that of PBS, original DC, and DC transfected with spermine-dextran-GFP-plasmid DNA complex.



Fugure 6. Time course of tumor volume change after intratumoral injection of PBS (\bigcirc), non-transfected, original DC (\blacktriangle), and DC transfected with complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP (\blacksquare) or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs (O) by the reverse method. *, p < 0.05; versus the tumor volume of other groups at the corresponding time.

IFN production and CTL activity of DC genetically engineered with spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA by the reverse transfection method

Figure 7 shows the IFN- γ secretion and CTL activity by the splenocytes of tumor-bearing mice 7 days after intratumoral injection of PBS, non-transfected, original DC, and DC transfected with complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs by the reverse method. Intratumoral injection of DC genetically engineered with the spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complex by the reverse method enhanced IFN- γ production of splenocytes to a significantly great extent compared with that of original DC or those genetically engineered with spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complex by the

reverse method (**Figure 7A**). For DC transfected with the spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complex, as the effector/target ratio increased, the CTL activity of splenocytes harvested became high to a significantly great extent compared with that of original DC or those genetically engineered with spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complex by the reverse method (**Figure 7B**).



Figure 7. (A) IFN- γ secretion by splenocytes of tumor-bearing mice 7 days after intratumoral injection of PBS, non-transfected, original DC (DC), and DC transfected with complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP (DC-GFP) or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs (DC-IL-12) by the reverse method. *, p < 0.05; versus the amount of IFN- γ secreted for the PBS group. **, p < 0.05; versus the amount of IFN- γ secreted for the DC group. †, p < 0.05; versus the amount of IFN- γ secreted for the DC group. †, p < 0.05; versus the amount of IFN- γ secreted for the DC-GFP group. (B) CTL activity as a function of effector/target ratio. CTL activity was expressed as the percentage of B16 (target) cells injured by co-culture with splenocytes (effector) harvested from tumor-bearing mice 7 days after the intratumoral injection of PBS (O), non-transfected, original DC (\bigstar), and DC transfected with complexes of spermine-dextran and GFP (\blacksquare) or mIL-12 plasmid DNAs (O) by the reverse method. *, p < 0.05; versus the percentage of B16 cells injured by other groups at the corresponding effector/target ratio.

Evaluation of in vivo tumor immunity

To confirm the induction of systemic and therapeutic immunity, the growth of contralateral non-treated tumor, which is distant from the tumor mass injected with DC genetically engineered by the spermine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid DNA complexes, was evaluated (**Table 1**). Intratumoral injection of DC genetically engineered significantly suppressed the growth of the tumor mass, irrespective of the direct injection.

injection of DC genetically engineered		
	Tumor volume ^a (cm ³)	
	Injected	Non-injected
PBS	9.9 +/- 1.4	9.6 +/- 1.9
DC	8.0 +/- 0.4	7.8 +/- 0.9
DC-GFP	7.3 +/- 0.0	8.5 +/- 0.0
DC-IL 12	5.6 +/- 0.9 *	5.9 +/- 0.1 *

Table 1. Tumor volume in both the flanks oftumor- bearing mice with or without intratumoralinjection of DC genetically engineered

^a The tumor volume was measured 29 days after tumor inoculation.

*, p < 0.05; versus the tumor volume of other groups.

DISCUSSION

The present study clearly demonstrates that DC genetically engineered by IL-12 plasmid DNA complexed with the spermine-dextran enhances the anti-tumor effect through the immune surveillance potential. The in vivo growth of tumor cells was significantly suppressed by injection of DC engineered (**Figure 6**). The splenocytes isolated from tumor-bearing mice following the injection of DC engineered showed the IFN production and CTL activity (**Figure 7**). The tumor growth suppression was observed for the tumor mass without the DC injection (**Table 1**). This is the first report to show the immuno-responsive anti-tumor effect of DC genetically engineered by a non-viral carrier.

In this study, the spermine-dextran was used for gene transfection. Complexation with the spermine-dextran of a non-viral vector enabled the plasmid DNA to decrease the apparent size of spermine-dextran plasmid DNA complexes small enough to allow their cellular internalization and to have a positive surface charge which can interact with the cell surface of negative charge. Moreover, it has been reported that many types of sugar-recognizable receptor are expressed on DC ¹⁷. Taken together, it is highly possible that the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes were internalized into the DC via the receptor-mediated endocytosis. It is highly conceivable that the features promoted the transfection of plasmid DNA for DC, enhancing the level of gene expression.

The level of gene expression of DC by the spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complex at an N/P ratio of 3.0 was significantly higher than that by Lipofectamine 2000 of a commercially available transfection reagent (**Figure 1A**). It has been previously reported that the N/P ratio affects not only the physicochemical properties of the complex, but also the gene transfection efficiency ^{18,19}. At low N/P ratios, the complexes formed are unstable and have too large molecular size to be internalized into cells, resulting in low gene transfection efficiency. On the other hand, at high N/P ratios, the complexes are too stable to dissociate and have high cytotoxicity due to the excessive amount of cationic spermine-dextran, resulting in low gene transfection efficiency. Therefore, it is possible that the complexes at an N/P ratio of 3.0 have a condition suitable for gene transfection of DC. Considering these points, the spermine-dextran is a promising non-viral vector to enhance the gene expression of DC through the enhanced receptor-mediated endocytosis.

Chapter 5 demonstrated that the reverse transfection method gives cells good culture conditions, resulting in enhanced and prolonged gene expression with less cytotoxicity. The efficacy of reverse transfection in gene expression was also confirmed in this study for the luciferase (**Figures 1B**), GFP (**Figure 2**) and mIL-12 plasmid DNAs (**Figure 5**). The higher efficiency of gene transfection can be explained in terms of the unique feature of reverse method. DC are always cultured on the complex of plasmid DNA and spermine-dextran of non-viral carrier. It is likely that the localization of plasmid DNA close to cells enhances the possibility of cellular internalization of plasmid DNA, resulting in increased efficiency of

gene transfection. In addition, the transfection culture can be performed in the presence of serum, which is a condition better for cell culture. It is apparent from **Figure 3** that the plasmid DNA was localized in the nucleus of cells at higher amounts. This may be also due to the efficient and continuous supply of plasmid DNA to cells (**Figure 2**). Different behaviors between the time course of percent internalized of GFP plasmid DNA (**Figure 2A**) and that of GFP expression (**Figure 2B**) for DC transfected with spermine-dextran-plasmid DNA complexes by the reverse method were observed. It will need some time to express protein after gene transfection. Thus, the time rag between the plasmid DNA internalization and gene expression would be observed. When cells internalize the complex too much, it is conceivable that their capacity to take up decreases. Therefore, the percent internalized would decrease at day 7.

Although less cytotoxicity was observed (Figure 4), transfection of the spermine-dextran-GFP plasmid DNA complex affects not only the amount of mIL-12 produced in DC (Figure 5), but also that of IFN-γ secreted by splenocytes (Figure 7A). It is well known that DC themselves tend to produce IL-12 by various stimuli ^{20,21}. Therefore it is possible that only the stimulus of plasmid DNA transfection allowed DC to produce IL-12. Enhancement of IFN production by spermine-dextran-GFP plasmid DNA complex may be explained in terms of interaction of DC and IL-12. It is reported that IFN production from DC is influenced by IL-12 action ^{22,23}. The roles of DC and T cells in the tumor immunity are as follows¹. DC phagocytoses a tumor antigen in the tumor tissue. Then, DC process these antigens into small peptides and move into the lymphoid organs, such as the spleen. During these steps, DC are biologically matured and obtain immunological responsibility, which express high levels of cell-surface major histocompatibility complex antigen complexes and costimulatory molecules. Receptors of helper CD4⁺ T cells (Th0) in the lymphoid organs interact with the MHC class II of the DC, followed by the differentiation into the T helper 1 (Th1) or 2 (Th2) cells and IFN production. On the other hand, it has been reported that IL-12 promotes the differentiation of Th0 cells into Th1 cells ²⁴⁻²⁶, enhances CTL activity by CD8⁺ T cells ²⁷, and infiltration of T cells into the tumor tissue ²⁸. In the present study, the intratumoral injection of DC genetically engineered with spemrine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid

complexes by the reverse method suppressed tumor growth (Figure 6) and induced a strong anti-tumor T-cell response (Figure 7). These results suggest that mIL-12 over-expression at the tumor site or, alternatively, in the secondary lymphoid sites could be important for the anti-tumor response. Chemokine production induced by mIL-12/IFN-y elaboration at the tumor site would be responsible for these effects, at least in part, through enhanced recruitment of cytolytic effector cells into tumors as well as possibly anti-angiogenic effects. It is apparent from Figure 6 that the tumor growth was gradually suppressed by the intratumoral injection of DC genetically engineered with spemrine-dextran-mIL-12 plasmid complexes by the reverse method (Figure 6). It may be due to that there are many steps in tumor immunity as described above, consequently it takes some time to express the tumor suppression. Systemic immune responses, as demonstrated by IFN-y production and CTL activity (Figure 7), were also significantly higher and tumor specific when injected DC genetically engineered. These findings well correspond to those of research where DC genetically engineered with IL-12 gene by retrovirus were intratumorally injected ⁹. These results indicate that high cytotoxic activity in association with a Th1-type response could indeed contribute to the profound in vivo anti-tumor effects. Experiments involving a subsequent re-challenge with additional tumors (Table 1) further confirmed systemic anti-tumor immunity after intratumoral injection of DC genetically engineered.
REFERENCES

- 1 Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* 1998; **392:** 245-252.
- 2 Austyn JM. New insights into the mobilization and phagocytic activity of dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 1996; **183**: 1287-1292.
- 3 Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Mantovani A. The role of chemokines in the regulation of dendritic cell trafficking. *J Leukoc Biol* 1999; **66:** 1-9.
- 4 Dieu-Nosjean MC, Vicari A, Lebecque S, Caux C. Regulation of dendritic cell trafficking: a process that involves the participation of selective chemokines. *J Leukoc Biol* 1999; **66**: 252-262.
- 5 Gilboa E. DC-based cancer vaccines. *J Clin Invest* 2007; **117**: 1195-1203.
- 6 Lamont AG, Adorini L. IL-12: a key cytokine in immune regulation. *Immunol Today* 1996; **17:** 214-217.
- 7 Ribas A, Butterfield LH, Glaspy JA, Economou JS. Cancer immunotherapy using gene-modified dendritic cells. *Curr Gene Ther* 2002; **2:** 57-78.
- 8 Hiscox S, Jiang WG. Interleukin-12, an emerging anti-tumour cytokine. *In Vivo* 1997;
 11: 125-132.
- 9 Nishioka Y, Hirao M, Robbins PD, Lotze MT, Tahara H. Induction of systemic and therapeutic antitumor immunity using intratumoral injection of dendritic cells genetically modified to express interleukin 12. *Cancer Res* 1999; **59**: 4035-4041.
- 10 Okazaki A, Jo J, Tabata Y. A reverse transfection technology to genetically engineer adult stem cells. *Tissue Eng* 2007; **13**: 245-251.
- 11 Hermanson GT. *Bioconjugate Techniques*. Academic Press, 1996.
- 12 Kishida T, Asada H, Satoh E, Tanaka S, Shinya M, Hirai H *et al.* In vivo electroporation-mediated transfer of interleukin-12 and interleukin-18 genes induces significant antitumor effects against melanoma in mice. *Gene Ther* 2001; **8**: 1234-1240.
- 13 Lutz MB, Kukutsch N, Ogilvie AL, Rossner S, Koch F, Romani N *et al.* An advanced culture method for generating large quantities of highly pure dendritic cells from

mouse bone marrow. J Immunol Methods 1999; 223: 77-92.

- Habeeb AF. Determination of free amino groups in proteins by trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid. *Anal Biochem* 1966; 14: 328-336.
- 15 Lampariello F. Evaluation of the number of positive cells from flow cytometric immunoassays by mathematical modeling of cellular autofluorescence. *Cytometry* 1994; **15**: 294-301.
- 16 Konishi M, Tabata Y, Kariya M, Hosseinkhani H, Suzuki A, Fukuhara K *et al.* In vivo anti-tumor effect of dual release of cisplatin and adriamycin from biodegradable gelatin hydrogel. *J Control Release* 2005; **103:** 7-19.
- Kanazawa N. Dendritic cell immunoreceptors: C-type lectin receptors for pattern-recognition and signaling on antigen-presenting cells. *J Dermatol Sci* 2007;
 45: 77-86.
- 18 Jo J, Ikai T, Okazaki A, Nagane K, Yamamoto M, Hirano Y *et al.* Expression profile of plasmid DNA obtained using spermine derivatives of pullulan with different molecular weights. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed* 2007; 18: 883-899.
- 19 Jo J, Ikai T, Okazaki A, Yamamoto M, Hirano Y, Tabata Y. Expression profile of plasmid DNA by spermine derivatives of pullulan with different extents of spermine introduced. *J Control Release* 2007; **118**: 389-398.
- 20 D'Andrea A, Rengaraju M, Valiante NM, Chehimi J, Kubin M, Aste M *et al.* Production of natural killer cell stimulatory factor (interleukin 12) by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J Exp Med* 1992; **176**: 1387-1398.
- 21 Shu U, Kiniwa M, Wu CY, Maliszewski C, Vezzio N, Hakimi J *et al.* Activated T cells induce interleukin-12 production by monocytes via CD40-CD40 ligand interaction. *Eur J Immunol* 1995; 25: 1125-1128.
- Grohmann U, Belladonna ML, Bianchi R, Orabona C, Ayroldi E, Fioretti MC *et al.* IL-12 acts directly on DC to promote nuclear localization of NF-kappaB and primes
 DC for IL-12 production. *Immunity* 1998; 9: 315-323.
- 23 Ohteki T, Fukao T, Suzue K, Maki C, Ito M, Nakamura M *et al.* Interleukin 12-dependent interferon gamma production by CD8alpha+ lymphoid dendritic cells. *J*

Exp Med 1999; **189:** 1981-1986.

- 24 Hsieh CS, Macatonia SE, Tripp CS, Wolf SF, O'Garra A, Murphy KM. Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by Listeria-induced macrophages. *Science* 1993; 260: 547-549.
- Seder RA, Gazzinelli R, Sher A, Paul WE. Interleukin 12 acts directly on CD4+ T cells to enhance priming for interferon gamma production and diminishes interleukin 4 inhibition of such priming. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993; **90:** 10188-10192.
- 26 Manetti R, Parronchi P, Giudizi MG, Piccinni MP, Maggi E, Trinchieri G *et al.* Natural killer cell stimulatory factor (interleukin 12 [IL-12]) induces T helper type 1 (Th1)-specific immune responses and inhibits the development of IL-4-producing Th cells. *J Exp Med* 1993; **177**: 1199-1204.
- 27 Kobayashi M, Fitz L, Ryan M, Hewick RM, Clark SC, Chan S *et al.* Identification and purification of natural killer cell stimulatory factor (NKSF), a cytokine with multiple biologic effects on human lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 1989; **170**: 827-845.
- Fujiwara H, Clark SC, Hamaoka T. Cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying
 IL-12-induced tumor regression. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1996; **795**: 294-309.

Chapter 8

SUMMARY

Chapter 1.

The objective of this chapter is to prepare the non-viral carrier of gene transfection from various polysaccharides and evaluate the feasibility in gene expression for various cells, such as HeLa cells, HepG2 cells, MSC, M ϕ , and DC. Various amounts of spermine were chemically introduced into pullulan, dextran, and mannan with a molecular weight of around 40,000 to prepare cationized polysaccharides (spermine-polysaccharide). Each cationized polysaccharide was complexed with a plasmid DNA at various ratios and the vitro gene transfection was investigated for HeLa cells, HepG2 cells, MSC, M ϕ , and DC. The level of gene expression depended on the type of cationized polysaccharides as well as the type of cells. These findings indicate that the cationized polysaccharide derivative is a promising non-viral carrier of plasmid DNA which is internalized in a receptor-mediated fashion.

Chapter 2.

The objective of this chapter is to prepare a non-viral carrier of gene expression from dextran of a polysaccharide and evaluate the effect of amine compounds introduced to dextran on the level of gene expression. Dextran with a molecular weight of 74,000 was cationized by the chemical introduction of different amine compounds. The cationized dextran was complexed with a plasmid DNA and the vitro gene transfection was investigated for HeLa cells. The level of gene expression depended on the amine compound introduced to dextran. The highest level was observed for the complex of spermine-introduced dextran and plasmid DNA. The highest cellular internalization and the best buffering effect were observed among every cationized dextran. Every complex did not show any cytotoxicity. It is concluded that the superior properties of spermine-introduced dextran enabled the plasmid DNA to enhance the expression level to a great extent compared with other cationized dextrans. The cationized dextran is a promising non-viral carrier of plasmid DNA.

Chapter 3.

The objective of this chapter is to prepare a novel gene carrier from pullulan, a polysaccharide with an inherent affinity for the liver, and evaluate the feasibility in gene transfection. Pullulan with different molecular weights was cationized by chemical introduction of spermine. The cationized pullulan derivative was complexed with a plasmid DNA and applied to HepG2 cells for in vitro gene transfection. The level of gene expression was depended on the molecular weight of cationized pullulan derivatives and the highest level was observed for the cationized pullulan derivative with a molecular weight of 47,300. Pre-treatment of cells with asialofetuin decreased the level of gene expression by the complexes. These findings indicate that the cationized pullulan derivative is a promising non-viral carrier of plasmid DNA which is internalized in a receptor-mediated fashion.

Chapter 4.

The objective of this chapter is to prepare a novel gene carrier from pullulan, a polysaccharide with an inherent affinity for the liver, and evaluate the feasibility in gene transfection. Various amounts of spermine were chemically introduced into pullulan with molecular weights of 22,800, 47,300, and 112,000 to prepare cationized pullulan derivatives with different percentages of spermine introduced. Each cationized pullulan derivative was complexed with a plasmid DNA at various ratios and applied to HepG2 cells for in vitro gene transfection. The level of gene expression depended on the percent spermine introduced of cationized pullulan derivatives and the molecular weight of pullulan. However, when compared at the complexation molar ratio of pullulan derivative to the plasmid DNA, the expression level became maximum around the ratio of 10², irrespective of the pullulan molecular weight. Pre-treatment of cells with asialofetuin of asialoglycoprotein receptor ligand decreased the level of gene expression by the complexes. The cationized pullulan derivative with an appropriate physicochemical character is a promising non-viral carrier which promotes the receptor-mediated internalization of plasmid DNA and consequently enhances the expression level.

Chapter 5.

A new non-viral method of gene transfection was designed to enhance the level of gene expression for rats mesenchymal stem cells (MSC). Pullulan was cationized by chemical introduction of spermine to prepare cationized pullulan of non-viral carrier (spermine-pullulan). The spermine-pullulan was complexed with a plasmid DNA of luciferase and coated on the surface of culture substrate together with Pronectin® of artificial cell adhesion protein. MSC were cultured and transfected on the complex-coated substrate (reverse transfection) and the level and duration of gene expression were compared with those of MSC transfected culturing in the medium containing by the plasmid DNA-spermine-pullulan complex (conventional method). The gene expression was significantly enhanced and prolonged by the reverse transfection method compared with that of the conventional method. The reverse method permitted the transfection culture of MSC in the presence of serum, in contrast to the conventional method, which gave cells a good culture condition to lower cytotoxicity. The reverse transfection was carried out for a non-woven fabic of polyethylene terephtalate (PET) coated with the complex and Pronectin by an agitated and stirring culture methods. The level and duration of gene expression for MSC was significantly enhanced by the two methods compared with that of the static method. It is possible that the medium circulation improves the culture conditions of cells in terms of oxygen and nutrition supply and wastes excretion, resulting in enhanced gene expression.

Chapter 6.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) are being expected as one cell source for cardiac reconstruction because of their differentiation potential and ability to supply growth factors. However, the therapeutic potential of MSC is often hindered by the poor viability at the transplanted site. Here, as one trial to overcome this issue, a non-viral carrier of cationized polysaccharide is introduced for genetic engineering of MSC. Spermine-introduced dextran of cationized polysaccharide (spermine-dextran) was internalized into MSC by way of a sugar-recognizable receptor to enhance the expression level of plasmid DNA. When genetically engineered by the spermine-dextran complex with plasmid DNA of

177

adrenomedullin (AM), MSC secreted a large amount of AM, an anti-apoptotic and angiogenic peptide. Transplantation of AM gene-engineered MSC significantly improved cardiac function after myocardial infarction compared with that of MSC alone. Thus, this genetic engineering technology by the non-viral spermine-dextran is a promising strategy of MSC therapy for ischemic heart disease.

Chapter 7.

The objective of this chapter is to genetically engineer macrophages $(M\phi)$ for biological activation and evaluate their anti-tumor activity in a tumor-bearing mouse model. Mouse peritoneal M
 were incubated on the surface of culture dish which had been coated with the complex of a cationized dextran and luciferase plasmid DNA complex plus a cell adhesion protein, Pronectin® for gene transfection (reverse transfection). When compared with the conventional transfection where $M\phi$ were transfected in the medium containing the complex, the level of gene expression by the reverse method was significantly high and the time period of gene expression was prolonged. Confocal microscopic observation revealed that the plasmid DNA was localized in the cell nucleus to a higher extent by the reverse hepatocyte growth factor antagonist (NK4) complexed with the cationized dextran, the NK4 protein was secreted at a higher amount for a longer time period in contrast to the inhibition activity for in vitro growth of Meth-A fibrosarcoma cells. When injected intravenously into mice carrying a mass of Meth-A tumor cells, the Mø engineered were accumulated in the tumor tissue and showed significant anti-tumor activity. It is concluded that Mø injected functioned as the natural carrier of tumor targeting for anti-tumor NK4 molecules, resulting in enhanced suppression of tumor growth at a high selectivity.

Chapter 8.

The objective of this chapter is to genetically engineer dendritic cells (DC) for biological activation and evaluate their anti-tumor activity in a tumor-bearing mouse model. Mouse DC were incubated on the surface of culture dish which had been coated with the complex of a cationized dextran and luciferase plasmid DNA complex plus a cell adhesion protein, Pronectin® for gene transfection (reverse transfection). When compared with the conventional transfection where DC were transfected in the medium containing the complex, the level of gene expression by the reverse method was significantly high and the time period of gene expression was prolonged. Following the reverse transfection of DC by a plasmid DNA of mouse interleukin-12 (mIL-12) complexed with the cationized dextran, the mIL-12 protein was secreted at higher amounts for a longer time period. When injected intratumorally into mice carrying a mass of B16 tumor cells, the DC genetically activated showed significant anti-tumor activity.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Chapter 1.

Jun-ichiro Jo, Arimichi Okazaki, Kentaro Nagane, Masaya Yamamoto, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Preparation of cationized polysaccharides as gene transfection carrier for bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells, submitted.

Chapter 2.

Jun-ichiro Jo, Kentaro Nagane, Masaya Yamamoto, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Effect of amine type on the expression of plasmid DNA by cationized dextran, submitted.

Chapter 3.

Jun-ichiro Jo, Tomonori Ikai, Arimichi Okazaki, Masaya Yamamoto, Yoshiaki Hirano, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Expression profile of plasmid DNA by spermine derivatives of pullulan with different molecular weights. Journal of Biomaterials Science Polymer Edition, 18(7), 883-99, 2007.

Chapter 4.

Jun-ichiro Jo, Tomonori Ikai, Arimichi Okazaki, Masaya Yamamoto, Yoshiaki Hirano, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Expression profile of plasmid DNA by spermine derivatives of pullulan with different extents of spermine introduced. Journal of Controlled Release, 118, 389-98, 2007.

Chapter 5.

Arimichi Okazaki, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, and Yasuhiko Tabata. A reverse transfection technology to genetically engineer adult stem cells. Tissue Engineering, 13 (2), 245-51, 2007.

Chapter 6.

Jun-ichiro Jo, Noritoshi Nagaya, Yoshinori Miyahara, Masaharu Kataoka, Mariko Shiba-Harada, Kenji Kangawa, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Transplantation of Genetically Engineered Mesenchymal Stem Cells Improves Cardiac Function in Rats With Myocardial Infarction: Benefit of a Novel Nonviral Vector, Cationized Dextran. Tissue Engineering, 13 (2), 313-22, 2007.

Chapter 7.

Takahiro Okasora, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Augmented anti-tumor therapy through natural targetability of macrophages genetically engineered by NK4 plasmid DNA. Gene Therapy, 15, 524-30, 2008.

Chapter 8.

Masataka Yoshida, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Augmented anti-tumor effect of dendritic cells genetically engineered by interleukin-12 plasmid DNA, submitted.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS

Jun-ichiro Jo, Masaya Yamamoto, Kunio Matsumoto, Toshikazu Nakamura, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Liver Targeting of Plasmid DNA with a Cationized Pullulan for Tumor Suppression. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 6 (9-10), 2853-9, 2006.

Isao Kanatani, Tomonori Ikai, Arimichi Okazaki, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, Masaya Yamamoto, Masaaki Imamura, Akihiro Kanematsu, Shingo Yamamoto, Noriyuki Ito, Osamu Ogawa, and Yasuhiko Tabata. Efficient gene transfer by pullulan-spermine occurs through both clathrinand raft/caveolae-dependent mechanisms. Journal of Controlled Release, 116, 75-82, 2006.

Jun-ichiro Jo and Yasuhiko Tabata. Non-viral gene transfection technologies for genetic engineering of stem cells. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmacetuics, 68(1) 90-104, 2008.

Masanobu Nakamura, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, Yasuhiko Tabata, and Osamu Ishikawa. Controlled delivery of T-box 21 siRNA ameliorates autoimmune alopecia (alopecia areata) in C3H/HeJ mouse model. Am J Pathol., 172(3):650-8, 2008

Naoki Nishishita, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, Masaya Yamamoto, Yasuhiko Tabata, and Yoshiaki Hirano. The gene transfection using cell attachment peptides for gene therapy. Peptide Science, 2007, 443-46, 2008

Jun-ichiro Jo and Yasuhiko Tabata. Gene delivery system based on cationized polysaccharide carriers. Chapter 10, Soft Nanomaterials Edited by Hari Singh Nalwa, in press.

Akinaga Sonoda, Norihisa Nitta, Shinichi Ohta, Ayumi Seko, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, Shigehiro Morikawa, Yasuhiko Tabata, Masashi Takahashi, Kiyoshi Murata. Development of a conjugated gadolinium and cisplatin–gelatin possessing properties as an intravascular contrast agent for MR imaging. European Journal of Radiology, in press.

Akinaga Sonoda, Norihisa Nitta, Ayumi Seko, Shinich Ohta, Shigeyuki Takamatsu, Yoshio Ikehata, Isamu Nagano, **Jun-ichiro Jo**, Yasuhiko Tabata, Masashi Takahashi, Osamu Matsui, and Kiyoshi Murata. Development of dextran magnetite complex-conjugated cisplatin having selective hyperthermic and magnet-controlled potential. Molecular Medicine Reports, in press.

List of publications

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was carried out under the guidance of Dr. Yasuhiko Tabata, Professor of Institute for Frontier Medical Sciences, Kyoto University, Japan. The author is deeply indebted to Professor Yasuhiko Tabata for his constant guidance, encouragement, valuable discussion, informative advice, and rational criticism on the manuscript as well as experiments. The completion of the present research has been an exciting project and one which would not have been realized without his guidance.

The author wishes to express his special thanks to Dr. Masaya Yamamoto, Assistant Professor of Institute for Frontier Medical Sciences, Kyoto University, for his thoughtful guidance, encouragement, cooperation, valuable advice and discussion, and his great help for preparation of this manuscript.

The author wishes to express his deeply thanks to Professor Yoshiaki Hirano, Department of Chemistry and Materials Engineering, Faculty of Chemistry, Materials and Bioengineering, Kansai University, Japan, for his cooperation and valuable advice in Chapters 4 and 5 of this manuscript.

The author wishes to express his deeply thanks to Dr. Noritoshi Nagaya, Dr. Yoshinori Miyahara, Dr. Masaharu Kataoka, Dr. Mariko Harada-Shiba, and Dr. Kenji Kangawa, National Cardiovascular Center Research Institute, Japan for their cooperation, advice, and discussion in Chapter 5 of this manuscript.

The author is much indebted to Mr. Tomonori Ikai, Mr. Arimichi Okazaki, Mr. Takahiro Okasora, Mr. Kentaro Nagane, and Mr. Masataka Yoshida for their contribution to the present studies.

The author wishes to express his thanks to Mrs. Miyuki Fukuma, Ms. Kyoko Bamba, and Ms. Hisako Yoshida, Secretary to Professor Yasuhiko Tabata and other members and collaborators of Professor Tabata's Labolatory for their help and kindness.

Finally, the author is deeply indebted to his parents, Kenso and Yasuko, and expresses special thanks to the late Mrs. Michiko Awamura.

January, 2009 Kyoto

Jun-ichiro Jo